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Dachan Food (Asia) Limited (the “Company”, “DaChan” or
“We") is a conglomerate with operations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC" or “China”). The Company’s
shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited since 2007. The Company (together with its subsidiaries
and its jointly-controlled entitles, the “Group”) is a leading fully
integrated animal protein product provider whose products range
from feeds, poultry, advanced nutritional formulae for animals, to

processed foods.

The Group follows a highly vertically integrated business
model which integrates feed production, chicken incubation
and slaughtering, chicken processing and food processing
into a unified operating platform, with nearly 30 factories in 13
provinces and cities including Liaoning, Tianjin and Anhui. Its
animal feeds are mainly sold under the brands “Dr Nupak” (f#
718 E), “Green Knight” (4%53 L) and “SOS", and chicken meat
and processed foods are mainly sold under the brand “Sisters’

Kitchen" ({BERETF).

The Group is a well-known supplier of processed chicken meat in
the PRC, and is one of the designated suppliers of chicken meat
to fast food chains such as “Dicos” (% 1+) and “Wallace” (¥
#). The Group is also the designated exporter of high-quality
chicken meat products in the PRC for “Ito Yokado"” and 7-Eleven
convenience store chains in Japan. Our products are exported to
Japan, Singapore and other countries as well as Hong Kong, the
PRC, with the market share increasing year by year, generating

enormous social and economic benefits.

In 2009, the Group officially began its “transparent source”
project, a food safety management system with full traceability
from farm to table, enabling consumers to trace product
information such as the locations and identities of the farms of
origin, the animal feeds consumed, and the factories where the
food products were processed. The Group places top priority to
food quality and its high standard of quality control haé earned

numerous industry awards and recognitions.

KREEm (32M) APFR2A 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Corporate Profile

The Group endeavours to develop new products with high added
value utilising the latest food technology. By promptly responding
to changes in market demand, the Group has greatly enhanced

the quality of its customer service.
Vision

With its continuous business growth driven by food products, the
Group will provide customers with safe, nutritious and healthy
products and services, and will implement a benefit-sharing
mechanism among all parties in the upstream, midstream and
downstream of the industrial chain, including shareholders,
employees, suppliers and farmers, so as to realize sustainable

development of the Group and promote the harmonious

development of the society at large.
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Corporate Profile

it T B 3 Competitive Advantages

e HANMIRMMISEREEBASREXN e Market leader in the chicken processing food market with
“E high brand profile

. E¥BEEES  EEBERBEREEE o Business tightly integrated with highly efficient mode of

= operation across the entire industrial chain
o EBRAEEXEBEEEE  URABRES e Strict and high quality control and traceability system

. H2ERERAMEEFERERREAH e  Stable and longstanding strategic partnerships with
AN

B 1ERE R nationally and internationally renowned customers
J BEELREERMENERAR o Experienced and dedicated management team

4 KRB (TM) BFR2 T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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HZE2023F12A31BHILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

ARBFIT —E-=F —EF 2%
RMB'000 2023 2022 Changes
KA Turnover 6,418,966 6,195,175 3.6%
NNV A Profit attributable to owners
ikl of the Company 47,024 91,852 -48.8%
BEHE Total assets 3,783,950 3,571,277 6.0%
AEFE Net assets 2,381,013 2,323,107 2.5%
BREREF (AR T Basic profit per share (RMB) 0.05 0.09 -48.8%
AERERITR%) Return on total assets (%) 1.99% 3.43% -41.9%
Tz B HR (%) Return on equity (%) 3.17% 5.27% -40.0%
BB *Gearing ratio 22.3% 16.2% 37.1%
BREEFEARET) Net assets per share (RMB) 2.34 2.29 2.5%
* BEERSLLR =T B EE FHEEFE 2 Gearing Ratio = Interest bearing debt/Average net assets
KREWARBHE fa Iy EviES
Turnover and Gross Profit Margin Net Profit and Net Profit Margin
ARBEER) seeens ARBEER) TR
(RMB million) (%) (RMB million) 3% (%)
12,000 —  12.2% 14 300 4.0
8,035 11.1% . 161&_/: 250 L 35
10,000 2 ’ bare |12 200 | 422
8,000 s 150 |- 150
-8 100 |- *1-3
6,000 -1
16 50 [ los
4,000 - 0 0
N 0 - oo
'l""2,000* 49 100 | :1:5
HtE et 0 0 150 L 2.0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Sl 4. 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
BEBA 0 EFIE(%) ‘! FERF O HFIE(%)
Turnover Gross Profit Margin (%) Profit for the year Net Profit Margin (%)
LTINS S YN
Turnover by Business Segment
36.2% 28.5% 34.7% 27.5%
° [ ] [ ] [ ]
2023 2022
L] °
36.3% 37.8%

WS Meat \\ AFEIH Feeds to External Customers \\ MI&® Processed Foods

— % = = £ £ %} Annual Report 2023 5
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Chairman’s Statement

ZRE X7
James Chun-Hsien Wei
Chairman
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Strengthening the Food Brand,
Driving Integration of Production and Sales

§) KREBE (M) APFR/2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,
Thank you for your relentless support towards Dachan Food!

During the past year, the international macro-environment
became more challenging with increasing complexity and
volatility. The Russian-Ukrainian conflict continued and the
resurgence of war in the Middle East region has aggravated the
already fragile global supply chain, increasing the risk of global
economic stagflation. The GDP of China grew by 5.2% year-on-
year, with the economy rebounding and improving, but at the
same time there were difficulties and challenges as effective
demand was inadequate and there was overcapacity in some
industries.

Through years of development, the market structure of the white
feather meat chicken industry in China has been shifted from
demand exceeding supply in the past to the current condition
of supply exceeding demand. To cope with market changes,
the Company took the initiative to restructure its business
model focusing on downstream food processing, increasing the
scale of food processing, downscaling the breeding operation,
diversifying the supply mode of feathered chicken, putting great
efforts in developing differentiated products and processed
products catering to value customers, and improving the value
of each chicken to gradually reduce the risk of fluctuation of the
white feather meat chicken market.

2023 was the third year for the Company to concentrate its
efforts in China and food processing transformation. From the
sale of its Southeast Asian business to the parent company
in 2021 to commencement of the Bengbu food processing
facilities for one-stop food production chain in the third quarter
of 2023, the Company has continued to focus its resources on
the strategic adjustments of food development. Benefiting from
this core strategy, when the domestic meat chicken market
took a sharp downturn in the fourth quarter, the Company was
able to avoid substantial losses as the negative impact of the
meat segment was mitigated by the performance of the foods
segment. In 2023, operating income of the foods segment
accounted for 36% of the Group’s total operating income and
72% of its gross profit, making it the Company’s most important
source of profitability and growth driver.

Z— &= = F 53§ Annual Report 2023
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KB (35M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

TAKING THE FOODS SEGMENT AS THE
LEAD AND DRIVING THE GROWTH OF THE
WHOLE CHAIN OF BUSINESS

The PRC market is enormous with intense competition, and
placing focused attention is the only way out for small and
medium enterprises. We have chosen the fast-growing food
processing industry for development, as the Company has an
excellent market base due to its long-established business in
food processing. Following the changes of living habit, further
demands on food safety, tastiness and convenience, and the
increase in market scenarios, numerous opportunities will be
brought to the Company.

1. SPECIALISING SALES CHANNELS WITH DIVERSIFIED RANGE OF

PRODUCT PRICES

With in depth development in domestic meat and food
product market over a decade, we believe that the
Company has a leading edge in the industry regarding
channel setup and team building. Of course, objectively
we are also aware that in order to cushion the impact of
cyclical fluctuations in the livestock and poultry market on
profitability, large-scale rearing and breeding enterprises
have increased their investment in food processing in
the downstream of the industrial chain, which has led
to increasingly fierce competition in the foods business.
We will strengthen our investment in research and
development of food sales channels, continue to promote
channel specialization, and design products with different
price ranges according to different consumption scenarios,
in order to cope with the growing trend of consumer

segmentation in the existing market.
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Chairman’s Statement

CONTINUING INVESTMENT IN FOOD PRODUCTION CAPACITY,
PRIORITISING RESOURCES TO EXPAND AND STRENGTHEN

PROCESSED FOOD

The Company's new meat and food one-stop production
line in Bengbu with total investment of RMB1 billion was
successfully commissioned in the fourth quarter of 2023,
marking the beginning of a new chapter in our strategic
presence in the Yangtze River Delta. With the capacity of
the new food workshop in Bengbu already in operation and
the second phase of the project which is expected to be
commissioned in May 2024, the new annual production
capacity will reach 46,000 tonnes. In addition, in the
third quarter of 2023, we have also commenced a food
processing plant expansion project in Dalian, which will be
carried out in two phases and completion is expected in
the fourth quarter of 2024, which will have an additional
annual production capacity of 9 thousand tonnes upon fully
operational. These two investment projects will provide a
temporary relief to the current capacity pressure brought

about by the rapid growth in food demand.

In the future, we will continue to expand our food
production capacity and increase our investment in
hardware and software in the food supply chain, research
and development, and digital operation, so as to further
strengthen our dominant position in the meat and food
product industry.

KEEPING SUFFICIENT CASH, ENHANCING RELATIVE

COMPETITIVENESS AND RIDING OUT ECONOMIC DOWNTURNS

In the face of the severe and complicated external
environment, we insisted that keeping sufficient cash is
crucial and strived to make progress while maintaining
stability, so as to survive the economic downturn and win

the increasingly fierce competition in the elimination race.

Z— &= = F 53§ Annual Report 2023
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KB (35M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

In the fourth quarter of 2023, due to poor macro-economic
environment and weakening market demand, the meat
chicken industry faced worsened situation of supply and
demand imbalance resulting in widespread losses among
the industry. Through business model transformation,
structural adjustment, inventory reduction, strengthened
management, as well as more robust financial operations,
the Company has achieved a steady increase in operating
cash flow in 2023 and a safe financial gearing ratio as of
the end of 2023, which provides a reliable capital guarantee
for the further expansion of processed food production

capacity in 2024.

PRACTICING ESG CONCEPTS AND PURSUING LONG-TERM

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

We have always attached great importance to
environmental, social and corporate governance, and
are committed to integrating ESG concepts with the
Company'’s strategies and business activities. Through the
authorisation, supervision and execution at all levels of the
Board, the Executive Committee and the management,
ESG, or corporate governance in particular, has become
an operating philosophy to be followed in all aspects of
the Company. The middle-office function supported by the
ESG system provides the front-end business departments
with a strong enabling support and a reliable risk control
barrier. We have always adhered to the corporate culture
of “integrity, modesty and foresight”, and are committed
to enhancing the efficiency and value of the enterprise,
providing consumers with safe, nutritious and healthy
products and services, and promoting the benefit-sharing
mechanism among all parties in the upstream, midstream
and downstream of the industrial chain, including
shareholders, employees, suppliers and farmers, so as
to realize the sustainable development of the Group and

promote the harmonious development of the society.
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2024, there may be more uncertainties in the
international political and economic environment and the
domestic economic situation. In the face of the unfavorable
external environment, the Company’s business strategy
remains focused on seeking progress while maintaining
stability and continuing in the building of long-term relative
competitiveness; focusing on the development of food
products and accelerating the pace of growth of food
products so as to drive the overall development of one-stop
food products; continuing to promote the diversification
of feeds products in order to counter the risk of the hog
cycle; and continuing to adjust the business model of meat
products, focusing on the differentiation and enhancement
of products and value to minimize the impact of market

fluctuation on the Company's operating results.

We are well aware that it takes time in adjusting our
meat business model and we will inevitably experience
transitional pains in the process. However, we are
confident and determined to overcome the challenges and
weather the economic downturn, to continue our efforts
in China’s food market, continue to uphold the concept of
honesty and integrity in our operations, provide consumers
with safe and healthy food products, further strengthen
our corporate governance system, proactively assume
our corporate social responsibility, and withstand the
uncertainties of the external environment with sustainable

and high-quality development.

EiE i EE s Thank you for all your support.
FE Chairman

2B James Chun-Hsien Wei

BA Hong Kong

—ET-HFE=H March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

—EC=F —ECCF HRAE DL
2023 2022 % change
BERA ARETT) Turnover (RMB’000) 6,418,966 6,195,175 3.6
EFARET T Gross profit (RMB’000) 662,690 680,906 2.7
FHE(%) Gross profit margin (%) 10.3 11.0
N EIAR R FE A = T Profit attributable to equity
(AR¥ETT) shareholders of the Company
(RMB'000) 47,024 91,852 -48.8
2% 5 BRI B SR W T I ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT AND STRATEGY

—Fo=F BRBUA & B e
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BINEEERERTR - BOTTXELBT -
& TR AR 55 IR Bk

—E-=F BAATAELHERLIER
10.5% ° HR = - — FRAEITIHER - 2B
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TERBISEBSREN - EERESKRMN
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BB NAf 218 @ BEZ RS IE hNA
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SE TR BERBEERE -

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

DIRECTION

In 2023, the international political, economic, technological,
cultural and security landscape has continued to undergo
profound changes with the Russian-Ukrainian conflict persisting,
while the Middle East region rekindled armed conflicts,
uncertainty in global economic policies and the overlapping
consequences of various factors such as the energy crisis,
inflation, population trends, climate change and carbon emissions
have further aggravated the global systemic risks. The Chinese
economy was at a critical stage of recovery, facing difficulties and
challenges such as inadequate effective demand, overcapacity
in certain industries, as well as weak social expectation, yet the
underlying trend of recovery remained intact.

In 2023, the domestic volume of white feather meat chicken
increased by 10.5% year-on-year. Due to the downturn in the
market for day-old chicks at the end of 2022, forced molting was
seen in some parent breeding farms, resulting in a decrease
in the supply of day-old chicks and feather chickens in the first
quarter, causing an increase in feather chicken’s prices. In the
second quarter, there was an increase in willingness to breed
chickens in farms, but breeding performance was poor due to
chicken diseases and high temperature resulted in a smaller
increase in the output of feather chickens. After August, with the
increase in day-old chicks supply and improved feather chickens
breeding performance, feather chickens’ volume surged to near
historical highs in recent years. Meanwhile, with limited growth
in market consumer demand, the oversupply of feather chickens
intensified, and the continuous slump in feather chickens and

chicken meat prices resulted in severe losses for the breeders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2023, domestic food and beverage revenue grew by 20.4%
year-on-year, with the impact of a lower base in the fourth
quarter of 2022 during the management and control measures
period of COVID-19. Compared with the period before the
outbreak of COVID-19 in 2019, domestic food and beverage
revenue grew by 13.2%, indicating that the food and beverage
industry is gradually showing signs of recovery in a market
environment where the overall demand is insufficient. The Group
has been cultivating in the food and beverage channels for
many years, in the face of the complicated and volatile external
environment and the industry pattern of oversupply, the Group
has insisted on food processing business as the leading sector
to drive the overall integrated development. Benefiting from
this core strategy, when the domestic meat chicken market
experienced a sharp downturn in the fourth quarter, the Group
was able to avoid further losses by hedging the risks between its

processed foods segment and meat segment.

The Group’s newly built food plant, electrical slaughterhouse and
feeds plant in Bengbu, Anhui Province had completed smoothly
and been put into operation in the fourth quarter of 2023. The
commencement of production of the items will help consolidate
and expand the Company’s market position in the Yangtze River
Delta region, and at the same time enable the Company to
implement its food strategy towards a higher level. The Group
will continue to actively expand its food production capacity and
accelerate the scale of food products to smooth out the risk of
abnormal fluctuations in the meat market with stable profits from
the food business.

— &= = F 53R Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Looking ahead to 2024, the Russian-Ukrainian war and the
situation in the Middle East region will be the major uncertainties
affecting the global economy and the structural overcapacity and
insufficient demand in the domestic economic operation have
not been basically resolved, further consolidation is needed for
building a solid foundation for economic recovery. At the same
time, competition in the agriculture, livestock and food industry is
to become more and more intense. The Company will continue
(i) taking the foods segment as the lead to drive its overall
development and keep looking for new sources of growth; (ii)
taking the feeds segment as the foundation to stabilize the sales
volume and at the same time diversify its market risks by product
diversification; and (iii) optimizing the operating business of meat
products, focusing on the development of valued customers,
increasing the output value of meat products and strengthening
the cash flow management. With the synergy of increasing
economy of scale of food production, diversification of feeds and
meat value-adding working in tandem, the Company has been
progressing steadily on digital transformation and supply chain
management optimization to improve operational efficiency and

enhance its overall industrial competitiveness and anti-cyclicality.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, turnover of the Group amounted to RMB6,418,966
thousand, representing an increase of 3.6% over the
corresponding period of last year. Profit attributable to
shareholders amounted to RMB47,024 thousand, representing
a decrease of 48.8% over the corresponding period of last year.
The main reason for the year-on-year decline in profit was the
oversupply in the feather chickens’ market in the fourth quarter,
leading to continued decline in chicken and poultry prices, hence
incurring relatively significant losses in the meat business.
However, the domestic food business maintained steady growth,
with operating income and gross profit increasing by 10.8% and

14.1% year-on-year, respectively.
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In 2023, the processed foods business, feeds business, and
meat business accounted for 36.2%, 35.3%, and 28.5% of the
Group's total operating income, and 72.1%, 23.2%, and 4.7% of
total gross profit of the Group, respectively. Food processing was
the Group's largest source of revenue and profit. Taking the food
processing segment as the lead to drive the continuous growth

of the Group had been effective.

For the fourth quarter of 2023, the Group’s operating income
was RMB1,584,745 thousand, a decrease of 5.8% over the
corresponding period of last year, and the profit attributable to
shareholders was a loss of RMB19,580 thousand, a decrease of

175.2% from the same period last year.
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A PROCESSED Foops
b gt 3 T CF ERBE DL
2023 2022 % change
WA (ARETFIT) Turnover (RMB'000)
— R E A — Mainland China 2,063,168 1,861,742 10.8
— A — Export 259,802 290,026 -10.4
&&t Total 2,322,970 2,151,768 8.0
EFM(ARETIT) Gross profit (RMB'000)
— R EA — Mainland China 423,389 371,158 14.1
-0 - Export 54,497 50,594 7.7
il Total 477,886 421,752 13.3
EFE (%) Gross profit margin (%)
— R E A — Mainland China 20.5 19.9
—4n — Export 21.0 17.4
BE Total 20.6 19.6

TECCFENMIRRBEXEWALREFRLL D
AIER8.0%M13.3% * FWNZEMIRME

In 2023, the operating income and gross profit of processed
foods increased by 8.0% and 13.3% respectively over the

HWANBEFREFRBHFIER2.1% H
10.0% ° &FEUAEEFAIE I1E ZRIRHA
SHR MEFFEEA R

corresponding period of last year. The operating income and
gross profit of processed foods in the fourth quarter increased
by 2.1% and 10.0% respectively compared to the corresponding
period of last year. The increase in operating income and gross
profit was driven by the steady growth in sales of domestic food
products.
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KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The domestic food sales team persistently invested more
resources in direct sales customers and worked closely with
strategic customers (such as large membership stores and
large restaurant chains) in product research and development
and supply chain to enhance the stickiness of major customers
to achieve win-win cooperation. At the same time, the Group
has also focused its resources on increasing the promotion
on e-commerce platforms, supermarket chains, community
convenience stores, farmers’ markets and other consumer retail
channels to increase customer stickiness through consumer-side
brand exposure. The Group has been increasing its investment
in research and development and keeping abreast of market
demand so as to explore new production technologies and
expand its product range, striving to create more hit products.
The Group also leveraged the steady progression of digital
transformation to improve supply chain efficiency and better

serve the needs of customers.

For the export business, despite the depreciation of Japanese
Yen and the impact of low-price competition from the domestic
exports to Japan which squeezed revenue from exported
processed food products by 10.4% year-on-year, gross profit
from exports increased by 7.7% year-on-year as a result of
benefiting from continuous research and development, product
mix optimization, production efficiency enhancement and the
depreciation of Renminbi. The export sales team will leverage the
advantages of new product development to continuously expand
into new product categories, new channels, and new customers
for further cultivation of the Japanese market. At the same time,
they will also increase efforts in developing export markets
outside of Japan to diversify the risks of over-concentration in

export markets.
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BEMR CGRANEES) Livestock FEEDS (FROM EXTERNAL CUSTOMERS)
—E-=F B B
2023 2022 % change
KEWAANRETFT) Turnover (RMB’000) 2,263,279 2,340,369 B3
EMARETIT) Gross profit (RMB’000) 153,597 147,817 3.9
EFE (%) Gross profit margin (%) 6.8 6.3
T ERAMEBEERARLELRD In 2023, the operating income of the feeds business decreased

3.3% ' EFIRLIER39% @ FOFERIKIE
BEEBAREFRARL14.9% - EFEE
FRAERIO% - EFIMEREZZHZNIR
FHRIEE RO ER AR - URAE - AR - F
BEZ Bt ETS SR PR AN 2 -
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18 IBm T EmEEREN -

by 3.3% year-on-year and gross profit increased by 3.9% vyear-
on-year. In the fourth quarter, the operating income of the feeds
business decreased by 14.9% over the corresponding period of
last year, while the gross profit increased by 9.9%. The growth
in gross profit was mainly attributed to timely adjustments in
raw material procurement strategies and cost reduction and
efficiency improvement brought by research and development,

quality assurance, and procurement.

Due to the historical high supply in the live pig market and slow
consumption recovery, market supply exceeded demand, small
and medium scale farms, like free-range farmers and family
farms suffered heavy losses due to the impact of African swine
fever and low live pig prices. Facing difficulties in cash flow,
they were forced to reduce their stocks or even cease to breed.
In the face of a shrinking target customer base, the feeds team
continued to increase efforts in the research and development
of ruminant feeds and small-category feeds products, as well as
channel development, actively expanded markets beyond pig
feeds for diversification of product categories to mitigate market
risks. On the other hand, the feeds team has strengthened co-
operation with medium and large scale farms to secure market
share through the OEM model. To address the rising raw material
prices, the research and development team actively developed
alternative raw material formulations, effectively controlled
cost inflation and improved the relative competitiveness of the

products.
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A MEAT PRODUCT
—EC=F —ECCF B D
2023 2022 % change
LEW A (ARETIT) Turnover (RMB'000) 1,832,717 1,703,038 7.6
EMARETFT) Gross profit (RMB'000) 31,207 111,337 -72.0
FEHZE(%) Gross profit margin (%) 1.7 6.5

ZTE=F AmEBEERARLER
7.6% @ EFFRLLFA72.0% o SABEEME
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FREF RIS BIFL2.8%F1214.3% ©
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KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

In 2023, the operating income of the meat segment increased
by 7.6% over the corresponding period of last year while gross
profit decreased by 72.0%. Due to oversupply in the broiler
industry, the operating income and the gross profit of the meat
segment in the fourth quarter decreased by 2.8% and 214.3%

respectively over the corresponding period of last year.

In the second half of 2023, the Group’s contract breeding
businesses incurred relatively large loss due to continuous
increase in the production of feather chickens, coupled with
sluggish market consumption, as well as the continuous decline
in the market for both feather chickens and chicken meat which
fell to a three-year low in the fourth quarter. In response to the
unfavourable market situation, the meat team accelerated the
pace of business model transformation and restructured its
supply chain with a customer-centric approach, in an effort to
enhance its relative competitiveness. In the upstream of the
industry chain, the Group improved the performance of contract
feeds to adjust its co-operation with the long-term contract
farmers, and to realize the benefit-sharing and risks-sharing
mechanism between the contract customers and the Group,
establishing a win-win ecosphere for both the Group and the
farmers. In the downstream of the industry, the Group focused
on the fine processing of differentiated products, extending the
added values of its products continuously; working together
with the foods business, actively developed customers such
as membership shops and supermarket chains which are
more concerned for product quality, eliminated price-sensitive
customers, and enhanced the brand value through optimizing its
sales channels.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW:

1)

2)

OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND OPERATING EXPENSES

In 2023, the Group recorded other operating income of
RMB25,192 thousand (2022: RMB46,463 thousand) which
mainly comprised of interest income and government
subsidies. The decrease in other operating income was

mainly due to the decrease in government subsidies.

In 2023, other net gains of the Group amounted to RMB317
thousand (2022: net loss of RMB5,921 thousand). Other
net gains mainly includes net loss on the disposal of assets

and impairment reverse of fixed assets.

Distribution costs accounted for 5.26% of total turnover
(2022: 4.97%).

Administrative expenses accounted for 3.88% of turnover
(2022: 4.27%).

LiQuipIiTY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's cash and bank
deposit balances amounted to RMB526,940 thousand,
representing a decrease of RMB5,334 thousand from 2022.
In 2023, the Group’s net cash generated from operations
amounted to RMB407,252 thousand, representing an
increase of RMB66,088 thousand from 2022. The Group's
interest-bearing borrowings increased by RMB152,839
thousand to RMB530,079 thousand (2022: RMB377,240
thousand). As at 31 December 2023, the interest-bearing
borrowings to equity ratio was 22.3% (2022: 16.2%).
Current ratio was maintained at a healthy level of 1.56
times (2022: 2.02 times).
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

In 2023, the Group's capital expenditure on the acquisition
of properties, machinery and equipment amounted to
RMB529,018 thousand which was primarily paid from

internal resources and bank borrowings.

EXCHANGE RATE

The Group's business transactions are mainly denominated
in RMB and USD. During the year under review, RMB
against USD depreciated by 1.67%.

INTEREST

In 2023, the Group's interest expense amounted to
RMB17,738 thousand (2022: RMB11,278 thousand),
representing an increase of 57.3% from 2022. The increase
in interest expenses was mainly due to the increase in the
average outstanding borrowings and the rising interest

rates on borrowings.

DI1VIDENDS

To reserve the resources for the Group's business
development, the Board decides not to distribute any
dividend for the year 2023 (2022: no distribution).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no security

against bank facilities.
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8) CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2023, the capital expenditure of the
Group contracted for but not provided in the financial
statements was RMB70,827 thousand (2022: RMB531,809
thousand) and the capital expenditure authorised but
not contracted for was RMB227,107 thousand (2022:
RMB98,555 thousand).

EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND
TRAINING

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 7,972
employees (31 December 2022: 7,936). The Group has paid
remuneration to its staff with reference to the industry practice,
the financial performance of the Group and the employee’s
work performance in order to form a team of professional
staff and management to fulfil the development needs of the
Company. The Group places great emphasis on the training and
development of employees and regards excellent employees
as the Group's core competitiveness. With a view to constantly
enhancing their job skills and industry knowledge, the Group has
offered various training programs to its members of management
and other employees. The Group implemented these programs
not only to enhance the quality of its staff, but also to give best
chances for development of their personal career. The Group
regularly reviews compensation and benefit policies according
to industry benchmarks, financial results as well as the individual
performance of employees so as to offer fair and competitive
compensation packages to the employees. Other fringe benefits
including insurance, medical benefits and provident fund are also
provided to retain loyal employees.
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DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (22 &), also known as Wei, Chun-
hsien, aged 66, has been appointed as an executive Director
of the Company, the chairman of the board of directors of the
Company, and a member and the chairman of the executive
committee of the Company with effect from 1 March 2021, and
has assumed an additional position of Chief Executive Officer of
the Company with effect from 1 September 2022. Mr. James
Chun-Hsien Wei is an independent director of Taiwan Ta Ya
Electric Wire & Cable Company Limited, a director of ShyaHsin
Packaging Co., Ltd., a director of KSF Beverage Holding Co.,
Ltd. and a director of Taixu & DaChan Foods Co., Limited, and
a senior advisor to Blackstone Private Equity Group. Mr. James
Chun- Hsien Wei served as the chief executive officer of the
Tingyi (Caymans Islands) Holding Corp (“Tingyi Holding”),
which shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, from 2015 to 2020 and the chief executive officer of
food business of Tingyi Holding from 2013 to 2014. Prior to
joining Tingyi Holding, Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei was a senior
advisor of CVC Capital Asia Pacific in 2012. From 2009 to 2011,
he was the executive board member and the president of the
Asian region of Beiersdorf Aktiengesellschaft Group. From 2003
to 2009, he served as the senior vice president of Asia Pacific
region of Avon Products Inc., where he was responsible for the
operations in 10 markets, including Japan, Taiwan, Australia,
Philippines and India. Before that, Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei
spent 19 years at Procter & Gamble, where he was promoted
to become the vice president and general manager of Greater
China region, overseeing the company’s health and beauty care

business in that region.

Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei holds a bachelor's degree in
Electrical Engineering from National Taiwan University and a
master's degree in Business Administration from the University
of Chicago Booth School of Business in the United States.
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Mr. Han Chia-Yin (33 &), aged 63, has been appointed as
an executive Director of the Company and a member of the
executive committee of the Company since 27 October 2011.
He was the Chief Executive Officer of the Company from 1
March 2012 to 1 April 2016. He also serves as a director of Great
Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. (“"GWE"), a company incorporated in
Taiwan, with its shares listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation (“Taiwan Exchange”), and it is the indirect controlling
shareholder of the Company. He was the general manager of the
Great Wall Group Food Service Division and held a number of
positions in several associations of the food industry in Taiwan.
He is also a director of Impreza Investments Limited, Great Wall
Dalian Investment Co., Ltd., Dongbei Agri Corporation, Great
Wall Kuang-Ming Investment (BVI) Co., Ltd., Miyasun Great Wall
(BVI) Co., Ltd., Great Wall Northeast Asia Corporation, Great Wall
Nutrition Technologies SDN. BHD, Asia Nutrition Technologies
(VN) Investment Co., Ltd., Taixu & DaChan Foods Co., Limited (&
BAKRmAR AR and Great Wall Food (Dalian) Co., Limited
(KRB (K3&) BR A A)).

Mr. Han Chia-Yin graduated from Feng Chia University in Taiwan
with a bachelor’s degree in Information Engineering & Computer
Science and obtained a master’'s degree in Computer Science
from the University of New Haven in USA. He is a younger
brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen and Mr. Han Jia-

Hwan and an uncle of Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin (# X £), aged 77, has been a non-executive
Director of the Company since 2007. He has served as a director
of GWE since 2007. He is also the chairman and a director of

CTS Investment Corporation and Zhi Fu Investment Corporation.

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin graduated from Tamkang University (T
K£8) with a bachelor’'s degree in irrigation engineering. He has
extensive business management experience in information
technology industry and traditional industries, such as food and

services.

Mr. Han Chia-Yau (¥3XF), aged 74, has been a non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company since 2007. Mr. Han Chia-Yau
joined GWE in 1991 and he was the vice chairman of the board
of directors of GWE from 1995 to 2001. Since 2001, he has
been the chairman of GWE. He is also a director of TTET Union

Corporation, which shares are listed on the Taiwan Exchange.

Mr. Han Chia-Yau obtained a bachelor’'s degree from Chung
Yuan Christian University (FR¥2 T2f7) and a master's degree
in Computer Science from the University of Connecticut in 1973
and 1978 respectively. He is an older brother of Mr. Harn Jia-
Chen, Mr. Han Jia-Hwan and Mr. Han Chia-Yin and an uncle of

Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han.
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Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (#%J%), aged 69, has been re-designated
as a non-executive Director of the Company with effect from
1 March 2020. He has been a member of the nomination
committee of the Company since 2007, and has been a member
of the remuneration committee of the Company with effect
from 1 January 2019. During the period from 1 January 2019
to 29 February 2020, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen was re-designated as
an executive Director of the Company, and was appointed as
the chairman of the board of directors of the Company and the
chairman of the executive committee of the Company. Since
1984, he has been the vice chairman of the board of directors
of GWE. Since 1995, he has been the chairman of the board
of directors of Great Wall Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (KEXRm K
) BFRAR]), a subsidiary of GWE engaged in flour production.
Since 1999, he has been the chairman of the board of directors
of DaChan Wanda (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (KA ESE (K2) IR A 7).
Since 2003, he has been the chairman of the board of directors
of DaChan Showa Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (KEXRBHAE G (K)E)
BIRAF]). From May 2006 to April 2015, he was the president
of Taiwan Asset Enterprise Association of Tianjin (K2 & &
FREERERE). Since May 2015, he has been the honorary
president of Taiwan Asset Enterprise Association of Tianjin. From
April 2007 to May 2010, he was elected as the vice-chairman
of the Association of Taiwan Investment Enterprises on the
Mainland (2B & /ERIMIEE D XBEES). From May 2010 to
April 2015, he was elected as the standing vice president of the
Association of Taiwan Investment Enterprises on the Mainland.
Since May 2015, he has been the consultant of the Association
of Taiwan Investment Enterprises on the Mainland. He is also
a director of DaChan Wanda (HK) Limited (KiK&E (F8) 5
PR A 7)), Hwabei Agri Corporation (¥4t 2% A 7)) and Union
Manufacturing Limited (B & 2iE G R A R)).

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen obtained his master’'s degree in business
administration from the University of New Haven in 1986. He
is an older brother of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr. Han Chia-Yin,
a younger brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau and an uncle of Mr.
Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han.
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Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (33X %E), aged 68, has been re-designated
as a non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 1
January 2019. He has also been a member of the nomination
committee of the Company since 2007. From 2007 to 2018, Mr.
Han Jia-Hwan had been an executive Director of the Company,
the chairman of the board of directors of the Company, a member
of the remuneration committee and nomination committee and
the chairman of the executive committee of the Company. He
is also the chairman of Taixu & DaChan Foods Co., Limited (&
BERKEMER AR and a director of Taixu & DaChan Foods
Holdings Co., Limited (& &AM B MIEIZ B R A E]), Asia Nutrition
Technologies (VN) Investment Co., Ltd. and Great Wall Agritech
(Liaoning) Company Limited (BVI). Mr. Han Jia-Hwan has over
30 years of experience in feeds and food production business in
the Asia Pacific region. In recognition of his contributions to the
agricultural industry, Mr. Han Jia-Hwan was elected as one of the
Taiwan Ten Outstanding Young Persons (&&+ K& H S E) in
1994.

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan received his bachelor's degree in business
administration from National Cheng-chi University (B3 BUA KR
2) and a master’s degree in business administration from the
University of Chicago in 1977 and 1983 respectively. He is a
younger brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, an older
brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yin and the father of Mr. Jonathan Fang-
Tsu Han.
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Mr. Wei Anning (Ff% ), aged 61, has been re-designated
as a non-executive Director of the Company since 1 March
2021. During the period from 31 October 2014 to 29 February
2020, Mr. Wei Anning was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company, and he served as a member
of the audit committee and the nomination committee of the
Company, and the chairman of the remuneration committee
of the Company, thereafter he remained to be a member of
the nomination committee and the remuneration committee
of the Company until 1 March 2020. Mr. Wei Anning was then
re-designated as an executive Director of the Company, and
was appointed as the chairman of the board of directors of
the Company, the chairman and a member of the executive
committee of the Company from 1 March 2020 to 28 February
2021. Mr. Wei Anning is an executive director and the general
manager of Shanghai Gueva Investment Management Limited (L&
BRI E BIEER A7) an independent director of Jiahe Foods
Industry Corporation Limited (fERR G T2 MDBR A A]) which
shares are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, Bondex Supply
Chain Management Co., Ltd. (B2 BEHERETIERMDERA
A]), Minsheng Securities Co., Ltd. (RAEZHFMD AR A7) and
Bestore Co., Ltd. (R B F MM BERAF]). He was an agricultural
economist of the Department of Agricultural and Natural
Resources of the World Bank, a manager of food & agribusiness
research of the Rabobank Group (Northeast Division), and the
chief executive officer (China Region) and president (Shanghai
Branch) of Fortis Bank S.A./N.V. He was also the executive vice
president of Sichuan New Hope Group (P8)I|¥1 % 2% E), the
president of Shandong Liuhe Group (LU 7<F4E &), the chairman
of the board of directors of Chinwhiz Agribusiness Co., Ltd. (L4
o KR ZEEFRAA) and an independent director of Ningbo
Tech-Bank Co., Ltd. (B XK BRAF]), which shares
are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and Orient Securities
Company Limited (BR7F:EFHKHBRAR]), which shares are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, and a director of Yantai Changyu Pioneer
Wine Company Limited (/&&= 8E & BB KD BBR2AF]), which
shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and JiangSu
Financial Leasing Corporation Limited (T# & B &M BR A

7)), which shares are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Wei Anning has in-depth understanding and rich experience
in the integration of finance and the agricultural and livestock
food industry, the development of agricultural and livestock
food industry, the operation and management of agricultural and

livestock food corporations.

Mr. Wei Anning obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Economics in
Nankai University in 1982, his master’'s degrees in Economics
in Peking University in 1986 and in Williams College in the
United States in 1991 and his doctorate degree in Agricultural
Economics in University of lllinois at Urbana-Champaign in the
United States in 1997.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan (7T L), aged 73, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company, the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of
the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company with effect from 2
March 2020. Mr. Ting Yu-Shan has been re-designated from the
chairman of the remuneration committee to the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company with effect from 30 June
2023. Mr. Ting Yu-Shan has served as an independent director
and the chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration
committee of GWE since 2016. Mr. Ting Yu-Shan qualified as a
certified public accountant in Taiwan in 1985. Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
has extensive experience in areas such as financial advisory and
accounting. He served as an accountant of Prosperity United
Firm, Certified Public Accountants in Taiwan (B/E&RE¥HMA S
STERSEASFT) from 1986 to 1998, and an accountant of KPMG
Taiwan (R /ERERENS 5TAIETEFT) from 1999 to 2008.

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan holds a bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Soochow University and a master’'s degree in accounting from
Soochow University.
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Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan (E3 ), also known as Andrew L.Y. Hsia, aged 73,
has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company and served as a member of the remuneration committee,
the audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company
since 1 March 2021. Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan has been appointed as the
chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company with
effect from 30 June 2023. Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan is a director of WALSIN
LIHWA CORPORATION (whose shares are listed on the Taiwan
Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1605) and the vice president and the
spokesperson of Phu My Hung Holdings Group.

Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan holds a bachelor’'s degree of law from Fu Jen
Catholic University, a master's degree of diplomacy from National
Chengchi University and a master’'s degree of law from the

University of Oxford in the United Kingdom.

Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling (8 %%), also known as Jaclyn Y.L.
Tsai, aged 68, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company and as a member of the audit
committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee and the chairlady of the nomination Committee of
the Company with effect from 30 June 2023. Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-
Ling is currently a director of JESS-LINK PRODUCTS CO., LTD.,
a director of CHENBRO MICOM CO., LTD., an independent
director of ASIA PACIFIC TELECOM CO., LTD., the Co-
Founder of Lee, Tsai & Partners Attorneys-at-Law, the Honorary
Chairwoman of Taiwan FinTech Association, the Honorary
Chairwoman of Taiwan Women on Boards Association, a
convenor of Taiwan Blockchain Alliance’s Regulatory Adaptation
Group and an executive supervisor of Monte Jade Science &
Technology Association. Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling served as the
general counsel of IBM's Greater China Group and a director of
Chlitina Holding Limited.

Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling graduated from National Taiwan University
with a degree in laws and was admitted as a lawyer in 1984.
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Mr. Kao Koong-Lian (§7L5), aged 79, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company and as
a member of the audit committee, the nomination committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company with effect
from 30 June 2023. Mr. Kao Koong-Lian is currently the chair
professor of business management at the Department of
Business Administration of Soochow University, the president
of Straits Economic & Cultural Interchange Association, an
independent director and a convenor of the audit committee
of Shane Global Holding Inc. (whose shares are listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 8482) and an independent
director of Swancor Advanced Materials Co., Ltd. (whose shares
are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 688585.SH).
Mr. Kao Koong-Lian was the vice chairman and general secretary
of the Straits Exchange Foundation, the chair professor of the
Department of Business Administration of Chung Yuan Christian
University, a professor of the Institute of Business Administration
of National Chengchi University and a professor and the head
of the Department of Business Administration of Soochow

University.

Mr. Kao Koong-Lian holds a bachelor’s degree in banking from
the National Chengchi University, a master’s degree in business
administration from the National Chengchi University, a master’s
degree in economics from the University of Connecticut and a

PhD in business administration from Louisiana State University.

Mr. Chen Chih (f&J8), aged 70, had been an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the nomination committee
of the Company and a member of the audit committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company since 2007. Mr. Chen
Chih has resigned as an independent non- executive Director, the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company and a
member of the audit committee, the nomination committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company with effect from
30 June 2023. Mr. Chen Chih had served as the president of GE
Healthcare China since 1996. He was promoted to vice president
of General Electric Company in 2001, and he retired from the
position in 2009. Mr. Chen Chih has also been the chairman of
SKR Healthcare Group Limited (@ EE LB HR A F]) since
2010.
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Mr. Chen Chih received his Ph.D. degree in mechanical
engineering from Lehigh University in 1984.

Mr. Way Yung-Do (%K &), aged 78, joined the Company in
2008 and is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman
of the audit committee and a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Way Yung-Do has resigned as an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the audit committee and a member
of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company with effect from 30
June 2023. Mr. Way Yung-Do has over 35 years of experience
in financial advisory, accounting and auditing and served as
managing partner and CEO of an international accounting firm
in Taiwan before retiring from the position in 2007. He was a
director of Synnex Technology International Corporation, which
shares are listed on the Taiwan Exchange, between 2015 and
2021. He was also a director of Chilisin Electronics Corporation,
which shares are listed on the Taiwan Exchange, between 2018
and 2020. Since 2012, Mr. Way Yung-Do served as the Chairman
of YCSY Co., LTD. CkEHEHER A F]). According to the
knowledge of the Company he is also a director of the following
companies which shares are listed on the Taiwan Exchange from
1 January 2023 to 29 June 2023:

- Far Eastern Department Stores Co., Ltd.

- MITAC Holdings Corporation

- Vanguard International Semiconductor Corporation
- Iron Force Industrial Co., Ltd.

- Cathay Financial Holding Co., Ltd.

- Taita Chemical Co., Ltd.

Mr. Way Yung-Do graduated from Soochow University (Taiwan)
with a bachelor’'s degree in accounting and obtained a master’s
degree in business administration from the University of Georgia.
Mr. Way Yung-Do has the public accountant qualifications in
Taiwan and Georgia, U.S.A. He is also a certified internal auditor
of the Institute of Internal Auditors.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Mr. Lan Yung Hsu (85 /B), aged 53, has been the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company with effect from 1 June
2022. Mr. Lan Yung Hsu served as the Planning Specialist and
Finance Specialist of GWE from August 1996 to May 2005,
the Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Human Resources
Department and Administration Department of Great Wall Food
(Dalian) Co., Ltd. (KX R M (K:&) BMRAF), a subsidiary of the
Company, from June 2000 to July 2003, the Head of Finance and
Information Department of the Company from August 2003 to
December 2003, and the Chief Financial Officer and the Head of
Human Resources and Administration of Great Wall Food (Tianjin)
Co., Ltd.(AKK B m (RE) AR A7)
in flour production, from January 2004 to March 2008. Mr. Lan

, a subsidiary of GWE engaged

Yung Hsu served as the Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Flour and Catering Service Business Group (the
“Business Group”) in Mainland China of GWE from April 2008
to April 2022, responsible for the overall financial management,
capital planning, investment planning and auditing of the
Business Group. Mr. Lan Yung Hsu has extensive experience in
the field of finance.

Mr. Lan Yung Hsu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Commerce
from Taiwan Ocean University(& /8% X&) and a master's
degree in Management from Da-Yeh University(KZEKE) in
1994 and 1996, respectively.
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Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han (¥3518), aged 41, joined the
Company in 2012 and was consecutively responsible for finance,
strategic planning of the Group, operation management of the
feeds business and the meat and food business. Mr. Jonathan
Fang-Tsu Han had been promoted to the vice president of
the Company since 1 April 2017. He had also served as the
deputy director of Finance Resources Group of the Company
since 8 August 2018. Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han had been re-
designated as Special Assistant to the Chairman of the Company
since 1 January 2019. He also had been the head of International
business group Il of the Company since 1 March 2020. Mr.
Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han had resigned as Special Assistant to the
Chairman of the Company and the head of International business
group Il of the Company and re-designated as Special Assistant
to the chairman of GWE since 1 July 2020. Mr. Jonathan
Fang-Tsu Han has been re-designated as Special Assistant to
the Chairman of the Company since 1 February 2023. He is
a member of the executive committee of the Company. Mr.
Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han has extensive experience in operation
analysis and strategic management.

Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han graduated from Simon Graduate
School of Business (ZFI72kt) at the University of Rochester
of the United States in 2012 and obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Computer Science from Northwestern University of the United
States in 2003. He is the son of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan and the
nephew of Mr. Han Chia- Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen and Mr. Han
Chia-Yin.
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ate Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present the corporate governance report for the year ended 31

December 2023 as follows.

The board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed
to enhancing the Group’s corporate governance standards by
improving corporate transparency through effective channels of
information disclosure. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is beneficial for maintaining close and trustful
relations with its employees, business partners, shareholders

and investors.

The Company has adopted a corporate governance code
prepared based on the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of
the latest corporate governance code (the “Code") as set out in
Appendix 14 (restructured as Appendix C1 as from 31 December
2023) to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as
the guidelines for corporate governance of the Company, and
has taken steps to comply with the Code wherever appropriate.

Terms used in this report shall have the same meaning as
those defined in the Listing Rules unless the context otherwise

requires.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
has complied with the Code Provisions with the following

exceptions:
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Under Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual.

In year 2023, Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei performs both of the
roles as the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The Board
considers that this structure would not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management
of the Company. The Board comprises two executive Directors
(including Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei), five non-executive
Directors and four independent non-executive Directors and
therefore has a fairly strong independence in its composition and
they meet regularly to discuss issues relating to the operation
of the Company in order to provide adequate safeguards and
protect the interests of the Company and its shareholders. In
addition, after taking into account the past experience of Mr.
James Chun-Hsien Wei, the Board is of the opinion that vesting
the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer in
Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei could facilitate the execution of the
Group’s business strategies and enhance the effectiveness of
its operation. Hence, the aforesaid deviation is appropriate and in
the best interest of the Company at the present stage.
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Under Code Provision C.6.1, the company secretary should
be an employee of the Company and have the day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs.

Ms. Cho Yi Ping (“Ms. Cho"), a partner of the Company’s
Hong Kong legal advisers, has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) with effect
from 8 August 2016.

The Company has assigned a member of the senior
management, Ms. Feng Yuxia, the head of legal department of
the Company as the contact person with Ms. Cho. Ms. Cho is
a practicing solicitor of Hong Kong with understanding of the
Listing Rules. Her qualifications meet the requirements of the
Listing Rules in terms of a company secretary of a listed issuer.
Further, whenever necessary, the contact person assigned will
promptly deliver information regarding the performance, financial
positions and other major development and affairs of the Group
to Ms. Cho. Having in place a mechanism that enables Ms.
Cho to get hold of the Group’s development promptly without
material delay and with her expertise and experience, the Board
is confident that having Ms. Cho as the Company Secretary is
beneficial to the Group’'s compliance with the relevant board

procedures, applicable laws, rules and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH DEED OF NON-
COMPETITION

The Company has received a confirmation (the “Confirmation”)
from Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd ("GWE") signed by it on
17 January 2024 confirming that for the period from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of signing the
Confirmation by the relevant covenantor, it has fully complied
with the deed of non-competition executed by GWE in favour
of the Company dated 14 September 2007 (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) (as varied by two deeds of variation executed by
GWE and the Company dated 25 June 2010 and 18 December
2012 respectively).
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Confirmation and all of them are satisfied that the Deed of Non-
Competition has been complied with during the period under

review.

DIRECTORS

THE BOARD

The Board, led by the Chairman, steers the Company’s business
direction. It is responsible for formulating the Company’s long-
term strategies, setting business development goals, assessing
results of management policies, monitoring the management'’s
performance, and ensuring effective implementation of risk

management measures on a regular basis.

The Directors meet regularly to review the Group's financial
and operational performance and to discuss and formulate
future development plans. Regular Board meetings are
attended by Directors in person or through electronic means of

communication.

BoARD COMPOSITION

During the period from 1 January 2023 and up to the date of
this report, there were 11 Directors, all being industry veterans,
responsible to the shareholders for formulating the overall
business development targets and long-term company strategies,
assessing results of management policies and monitoring

performance of the management.

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 29 June 2023, the
Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer)

Mr. Han Chia-Yin
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FHITES Non-executive Directors
BRFTE Mr. Han Chia-Yau
BRBLE Mr. Han Jia-Hwan
ERRELE Mr. Harn Jia-Chen
HRERAE Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

&%= A Mr. Wei Anning
BUFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BB LA Mr. Way Yung-Do
BRIATTA Mr. Chen Chih

TELEE Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
BEYEEE Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan

BT =FA=1THE BKELEER Effective from 30 June 2023, Mr. Way Yung-Do and Mr. Chen
REEBTEVIERTES  EERLZTRS Chih resigned from the position of independent non-executive

AREEEZERBUIFNTES — T = directors, and Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling and Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian
FARA=THREEEAREDNNE E59 were appointed as independent non-executive Directors. During
BRATESHEK the period from 30 June 2023 and up to the date of this report,

the Board comprised of the following Directors:

HITES Executive Directors

BEBEE (FEFKEEHTE) Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer)

BRETE Mr. Han Chia-Yin

FHITES Non-executive Directors

BRFEE Mr. Han Chia-Yau

BRELE Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

BRELE Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

HRELE Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

& B4 Mr. Wei Anning

BYEHITES Independent Non-executive Directors

TEWLEE Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

BEVELRE Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan

BRI T Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling

SILELE Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian

38  k®&S (M) BFRAT DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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An updated list of the Directors by category identifying their
role and function is at all times available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The list specifies whether a
Director is an independent non-executive Director and expresses
the respective membership of each Director in each board
committee.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationship(s)) among members of the
Board and between the Chairman and the chief executive, with
the exception that Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, Mr.
Han Jia-Hwan and Mr. Han Chia-Yin are brothers, and that the

Chairman is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

The Company identifies the independent non-executive Directors
in all corporate communications which disclose the names of

Directors.

Details of the biographies of the Directors are given under the
section headed “Director and Senior Management Profile” of

this annual report on page 22.

The independent non-executive Directors play an important role
on the Board. Accounting for more than one-third of the Board
members, they are experienced professionals in their respective
fields. They are responsible for ensuring that the Board maintains
high standards of financial and other mandatory reporting as well
as providing adequate checks and balances for safeguarding
the interest of shareholders of the Company and the Group as a
whole. Throughout the year of 2023, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors with
at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications on accounting or related financial management
expertise, and the number of independent non-executive
Directors has represented at least one-third of the Board.
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The Company has established proper mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. For
example, Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei, who chairs the Board,
has no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationship(s)) with other members
of the Board. The Nomination Committee will assess the
independence of candidates to be nominated as the Company’s
independent non-executive directors by considering their time
commitments to the Company as well as their professional
qualifications. In addition, sufficient number of independent
non-executive Directors are maintained so that views from
different perspectives are available to the Board. External
independent professional advice would be rendered from time
to time if the Board is in need of such advice. In particular, the
Company has appointed external professional as the Company’s
consultant to review its ESG policy and the effectiveness of its

implementation.

The Company’'s mechanisms have been reviewed and
considered as effective at present. The Board would review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an

annual basis.
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“RTEERE AR RS KB NUMBER OF MEETINGS ATTENDED/ELIGIBLE TO ATTEND IN 2023

TECFERN ERERTTHANEREE During the year of 2023, the Board held 4 regular meetings at

MR B - approximately quarterly intervals.
HBEAREMS - ARAFTRZZTZ=FA As regards to general meetings, the Company held the annual
T NBRITREBAFRE o general meeting on 29 June 2023.

MEZHESESSSE ESRELLEN A table of summary in regard to the Directors’ participation at the
RATIRRASHHESHTITE : various board meetings and board committee meetings and the

Company’s general meetings is set out below:

e ENZEE FHzES RAZEE HiTZE8 EUN-|

Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination Executive General
Meetings Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting(s)
HTES Executive Directors
ERBEE Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei 414 Taf TER TER 12112 N
N/A N/A N/A
BRERL Mr. Han Chia-Yin 444 TEm TEm TEf 1212 N
N/A N/A N/A
FHTES Non-executive Directors
BRREE Mr. Ham Jia-Chen 414 TER 22 22 TER 0N
N/A N/A
BRERE Mr. Han Jia-Hwan 24 TEH TER 012 TER 01
N/A N/A N/A
BXTFRE Mr. Han Chia-Yau 404 TER 202 TER TER 0N
N/A N/A N/A
BRERE Mr. Chao Tien-Shin 3/4 iR TER oyl iR on
N/A N/A N/A N/A
HRELE Mr. Wei Anning 44 il TER TER Gl 0/t
N/A N/A N/A N/A
BUFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
TEWLEE Mr. Ting Yu-Shan 444 44 22 202 TEm 17
N/A
BVERE Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan 44 34 22 11 TER i1
N/A

BERUT(EZEEAE  Ms. Lee Tsal, YuLing 202 22 0 /1 TER TEm
Z R-F-=%F7A (appointed as Director, N/A N/A
=+HEN) effective on 30 June 2023)

BABELEERTAE  Mr Kao, Koong-Lian 22 22 17 17 TEfA TER
£ WZZZZ%, A (appointed as Director, N/A N/A
=THEEWR effective on 30 June 2023)

FKELAE(TETES . Mr. Way YungDo (resigned 22 22 n Vi TER 0
WZZE-=F;A=1 asDirector, effective on N/A
BER) 30 June 2023)

ALAE(BEIES  Mr Chen Chih (resigned as 202 22 17 17 TER i
WZZ-=%7A=1 Director, effective on 30 N/A
BER June 2023)
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Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors
at least 14 days before the meeting, while reasonable notice is

generally given for other board meetings (if any).

Agenda and accompanying board papers together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all
Directors in a timely manner, and at least 3 days before the
intended date of each Board or board committee meeting, except
agreed otherwise among the members, to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the board papers and adequately
prepare for the meeting, to keep the Directors apprised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company and
to enable them to include any matter in the agenda and to make

informed decisions.

The Board and each Director, upon reasonable request, have
access to independent professional advice to assist them in
performing their duties to the Company, at the Company’s
expense. When needed and upon making request to the Board,
Directors may obtain independent professional advice at the

Company’s expense in carrying out their duties.

Minutes of all the meetings of the Board, the audit committee
of the Company (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”, together with the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and other committee(s) of the Board,
the “Board Committees”) of the Company are kept by the
appointed secretary. All of the above minutes record the matters
considered and the discussions and decisions reached by the
relevant members in sufficient detail, including any concerns
raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Any Director
may inspect the minutes at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice.
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Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors or members of
the relevant committee for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final versions thereof are sent to all
Directors or committee members for their record.

The Company has maintained appropriate insurance cover in

respect of legal action against its Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

In year 2023, Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (who has been an
executive Director and the Chairman) also holds the position of
Chief Executive Officer.

Despite Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei performs both of the roles
as the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, the Company
considers that such an arrangement does not impair the balance
of power and authority between the Board and the management
of the Company. As the Chairman, Mr. James Chun-Hsien
Wei leads the Board which collectively formulates the
Company’s long-term strategies and monitor the management’s
performance. As the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. James Chun-
Hsien Wei is responsible for the day-to-day management of
business, the important decisions of which are discussed among
and determined by the members of the Executive Committee
collectively. Further, more than 1/3 of the Board members are
independent non-executive Directors and the Board consists of
11 members, all of whom has no relationship with Mr. James
Chun-Hsien Wei. Therefore, it is the Company’s opinion that
such an arrangement does not compromise the overall interests

of the Company and its shareholders.
The core duties of the Chairman include (among others):

o overseeing the development of the long-term strategies,

objectives and policies for the Company;
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ensuring, with the assistance of the management, that the
Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear, complete and
reliable information in a timely manner and are appropriately

briefed on issues to be discussed at Board meetings;

providing leadership for the Board;

ensuring that the Board works effectively, performs its
responsibilities, and discusses all key and appropriate
issues in a timely manner, with good corporate governance

practices and procedures;

taking primary responsibility for ensuring that good
corporate governance practices and procedures are in

place;

ensuring, (where appropriate) with delegation to Company
Secretary or a designated Director, that the agenda for each
Board meeting is drawn up and approving the same, taking

into account matters proposed by other Directors;

encouraging all Directors to fully and actively contribute to
the Board's affairs and taking the lead to ensure that it acts

in the best interests of the Company;

encouraging Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allowing sufficient time for discussion of issues
and ensuring that Board's decisions fairly reflect Board's

consensus;

promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating
the effective contribution of Directors, in particular, non-
executive Directors, and ensuring the constructive relations

between executive and non-executive Directors;

holding meeting(s) at least annually with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors. The Board regarded such meeting(s) as opinion
exchange gathering whereby a broad range of strategic and

performance matters were openly discussed;
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o ensuring appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with shareholders and that views of

shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole;

o attending the annual general meeting of the Company
and arranging for the chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
(as appropriate) or in the absence of the chairmen of such
committees, another member of same committee or failing
this, his duly appointed delegate, to be available to answer
questions at the annual general meeting of the Company;
and

o deciding whether a resolution at a general meeting of the
Company relating purely to a procedural or administrative
matter should be excluded from the requirement for voting
by poll.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF MEMBERS OF THE

BoARD

The Company has entered into service contracts with or issued
letters of appointment to its Directors setting out the key terms
and conditions of their appointments.

Under article 108 of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation and every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years while those
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. Any Director
who has not been subject to retirement by rotation in the 3 years
preceding the annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at
such annual general meeting. Any further Directors so to retire
shall be those who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment and so that as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves)
be determined by lot.
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In accordance with the said provision of the Articles of Association
of the Company and the Code Provision B.2.2, one-third of the
Directors (namely Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei, Mr. Han Chia-
Yin, Mr. Ting Yu-Shan and Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan) retired from office
by rotation and were re-elected as Directors at the last annual
general meeting of the Company (“AGM") held on 29 June 2023.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has requested and received an annual written
confirmation from each independent non-executive Director of
his/her independence to the Company. There was no change
of circumstances and each of the independent non-executive
Directors could satisfy the independence requirements as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has assessed the
independence and considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent based on the independence criteria
in accordance with the requirements in the Listing Rules, their
non-involvement in the daily operation and management of the
Group and the absence of any relationships which will interfere

with the exercise of their independent judgment.

The Company confirms that as at the date of this annual report,
the years of service of all independent non-executive Directors

are less than 9.

With effect from 30 June 2023, Mr. Way Yung Do and Mr. Chen
Chi resigned as Directors and Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling and Mr. Kao,
Koong Lian were appointed as Directors. Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling
and Mr. Kao, Koong Lian had obtained legal advice in relation
to signing their respective Declarations and Undertakings with
regard to Directors (i.e. Form B) and both of them confirmed that

they understood their obligations as a director of the Company.
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Non-executive Directors

The current term of appointment for the non-executive Directors

(including independent non-executive Directors) are as follows:

Term of Appointment
£ 57

BRRELE
Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

BRFEAE
Mr. Han Chia-Yau

BRELAE
Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

HRENSE
Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

TEL%kE
Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

Bt
Mr. Wei Anning

BEVERE
Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan

BRI T
Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling

=fLEREE
Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian

From 29 June 2022 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2025

B —F A+t NBARBRE T -_AFRERFRELHE
From 29 June 2022 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2025

BE-E XAt NHEBE T _NFRFEBFRALLER
From 29 June 2021 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2024

B —FXRXA-tNBERE_T_AFREBFASLER
From 29 June 2022 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2025

B-E - =FXA-tNHRBE_ZE - FREAFTASLHE
From 29 June 2023 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2026

B —FRA-tNBEBEE_T_RAFREBFASLER
From 29 June 2022 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2025

BE-E - =FXRXAtNHBE_ZT - "FREBFRSLER
From 29 June 2023 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2026

B = AA=-THBRE-S_NFREAFASER
From 30 June 2023 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2024

B —FANA=tTHRE-_Z_NFREBFASLER
From 30 June 2023 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2024
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board has established the Nomination Committee to provide
a framework and set the standards for the appointment of high
quality Directors who should have the capacity and ability to lead
the Company towards achieving sustainable development. It
considers matters regarding the nomination and/or appointment

or re-appointment of director(s).

Details of the Nomination Committee are set out in the sub-

section headed “Nomination Committee” below.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The management of the Company works closely with the newly
appointed Director(s) (if any) both immediately before and after
his appointment to acquaint the newly appointed Director(s) with
the duties and responsibilities as a Director and the business

operation of the Company.

A package compiled and reviewed by the Company’'s legal
advisors setting out such duties and responsibilities under the
Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of Laws
of Hong Kong) and other related law and relevant regulatory
requirements of Hong Kong is provided to each newly appointed
Director. The Company also provides information relating
to the operations and business of the Group to each newly
appointed Director. The Directors are updated with the latest
developments in laws, rules and regulations relating to the duties
and responsibilities of directors from time to time. Guidelines for
directors issued by the Company Registry of Hong Kong have
been forwarded to each Director for his information and ready

reference.
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The Board views that the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are well-aware of their
functions and have been actively performing their functions
including but not limited to exercising their independent
judgment at the Board meetings, taking the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise, scrutinizing the Company’s
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives,
monitoring performance report and providing constructive and
informed advice on the business strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments, standards of
conduct and management of the Company. They regularly review
the financial information, monitor the operational performance of
the Company and serve on the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their
respective appointments, and in a timely manner for any change,
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments. They have
also informed the Company of the identity of any other public
companies or organisations they serve and the time involved in

these public companies or organisations.

All Directors have devoted their time and attention to the
affairs of the Company with their hands-on knowledge and
expertise in the areas and operation in which he is in charge
with. The contribution made by the Directors to the affairs of
the Company is measured in terms of time as well as quality
of the attention and the ability of the Directors with reference
to his necessary knowledge and expertise. The attendance
of Board meetings, general meeting(s) and Board Committee
meetings indicates the constant participation of all Directors,
including executive, independent non-executive and other non-
executive Directors and ensures the better understanding of the
views of shareholders by all Directors. The extent of participation
and contribution should be viewed both quantitatively and

qualitatively.
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To fulfil their duties properly, where they consider it as necessary
to obtain additional information other than that is provided by
the management, the Directors made inquiries during the Board
meetings and Board Committee meetings. The queries raised by

Directors have received a prompt and full response.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Directors are continually updated with legal and regulatory
developments, and the business and market changes to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities through various Board
meetings, resolutions, memos and Board papers. According to
the records maintained by the Company, the Directors received
training (arranged by the Company) in the following areas:
updates on rules and regulations relating to listed companies,
corporate governance, ethics and code of conduct, operation
and management of listed companies, finance and industry in
compliance with the requirement of the Code on continuous
professional development during the period from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2023. During the year, the trainings undertaken

by each Director are summarized as follows:

ET{t88/ E-learning/
e/ Attend seminars/
S MiEm R BN Directors Read materials briefings
HiTE=S Executive Directors
ZERBRE Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei v
BRERL Mr. Han Chia-Yin V
FHITES Non-executive Directors
BRELE v v Mr. Han Jia-Hwan v v
BEFELE v v Mr. Han Chia-Yau v v
BRELE v v Mr. Harn Jia-Chen v v
MRERE \ \ Mr. Chao Tien-Shin \ \
FRELE v v Mr. Wei Anning v v

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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ETt88/ E-learning/
LEmE/ Attend seminars/
S BEM A HNE Directors Read materials briefings
BUFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
TEL%EE Mr. Ting Yu-Shan \ v
BUEEAE Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan v v
BERUT (BRIEARE Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling (appointed as v v
£ RIZZZFR Director, effective from 30 June
A=THER 2023)
SIETE BRIAE v v Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian (appointed as v \
£ -RITZ=FR Director, effective from 30 June
A=+B4E% 2023)
BKELE(BRTEE v v Mr. Way Yung-Do (resigned as v v
EORIZZZFR Director, effective from 30 June
A=THER 2023)
BAaLE BEIES v v Mr. Chen Chih (resigned as Director, v v
RZEZ=FA effective from 30 June 2023)
=TR4R)
W R SR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS GUIDELINES

EEQCRMGER T L ETRAME (8=
T =F+-A=1+—HEEARMKKCI)
FE(EMBTAZEZTETRELRR S 2IFE
SR (MREST A AR ERER R ZIT AT
A MRBBEHEENIESFRS °

KmERERELARENE  BEER R
BHE-S-_=F+-A=1+—HIZEE@AF
B BREETRAFR SR D EFIRESTAIFER
RELEARARREAESETESFRHNTT
ASPA -

BEEN_Z_=F+_A=1+—BAFEEAR
B RO BN A F HRFIEI0H

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transaction on terms no less exacting than the required
standard as set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as set out in
Appendix 10 (restructured as Appendix C3 as from 31 December
2023) to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors and they
have confirmed that throughout the year ended 31 December
2023, they complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code and the Company's code of conduct regarding

directors’ securities transactions.

The Directors’ interests in shares of the Company as at 31
December 2023 are set out on pages 89 to 90 of this annual

report.
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The Board has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for the relevant employee,
including any employee or a director or employee of a subsidiary
or holding company of the Company who, because of his office
or employment, is likely to possess inside information in relation
to the Company or its securities, in respect of their dealings in

the Company’s securities.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Board delegates its powers and authorities from time to
time to the Board Committees in order to ensure the operational
efficiency and specific issues are being handled by relevant
expertise. All Board Committees are provided with accurate and
sufficient information in timely manner so as to enable the Board
Committees to make informed decisions for the benefit of the

Company and sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

The functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to the
management have been set out in the Director's Memorandum
In Discharging Director’s Duties (the “Director's Memorandum”)
adopted by the Board on 23 March 2012. The Board has
reviewed the said memorandum on periodically basis to ensure
that it remains appropriate. The policy for segregation of duties
and responsibilities between the Board and the permitted
delegates has been clearly defined and provided in the Director’s

Memorandum as internal guidelines of the Company.

The types of decisions which are to be taken by the Board

include those relating to (among others):

° corporate and capital structure;

o corporate strategy;

o significant policies affecting the Company as a whole;
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o material changes to policies adopted by the Board;

o business plan including major production and marketing

plans, budgets and publication of announcements;
o key financial matters;
o change to the structure, size and composition of the Board;

o appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members,

senior management and auditors;
o remuneration of Directors and senior management; and

o communication with key stakeholders, including shareholders

and regulatory bodies.

Each Director has a copy of the Director’'s Memorandum and
clearly understood the above delegation policy of the Company.

For aspects of management and administration functions
delegated to the management, the Board has given clear
directions as to the management’s power, particularly as
to where management should report back and obtain prior
Board approval before making decisions or entering into any

commitments on behalf of the Company.
BoARD COMMITTEES

In 2023, the Board had 4 Board Committees including the
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the Executive
Committee and the Nomination Committee, all with specific
terms of reference, to oversee particular aspects of the Group's
affairs.
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F EEZLESHEKERESZ Attendance of the relevant members of the Board Committee at
i

\—FE_=
EHEMNDFELREHINAT the meetings of the committees in 2023 is as follows:

\

YTREEER ENZEEeR FHZEESE REZEEER

Executive Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee Committee
Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
HTES Executive Directors
ZHRELAE(EER M. James Chun-Hsien Wei 12112 @R NA AR NA AR NA
BREHTE) {Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer)
BREEE Mr. Han Chia-Yin 1212 TERA NA T NA TR NA
FHTES Non-Executive Directors
BRRTE Mr. Harn Jia-Chen AR NA @R NA 212 202
BRERE Mr. Han Jia-Hwan TER NIA TERA N/A TERA NA 02
BRTRE Mr. Han Chia-Yau TR NIA TEA N/A 202 TR NA
HRERE Mr. Chao Tien-Shin TEA N/A ERA NA NERA NA TEA NA
HZBLE Mr. Wei Anning AR NA AR NA @R NA TEA NA
BUKHTES Independent Non-Executive
Directors
TELRE Mr. Ting Yu-Shan ER NA 4/4 2/2 2/2
bt Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan TR NA 3/4 202 112
BEIKLL (EZTA Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling (appointed as TER NIA 22 17 17

EZ RZZ-=F Director, effective from 30 June
NAZTRER) 2023)

SILELE(EZEA  Mr Kao, Koong-Lian (appointed as TEA NA 202 1n N
EZ RZZ-=F Director, effective from 30 June
NAZTRER 2023)

BOKELE(BETE  Mr. Way YungDo (resigned as TEA NA 202 7n 1N
£ RZEC-=F Director, effective from 30 June
NAZTRER) 2023)

SASE(BBHIZS + Mr. Chen Chih (resigned as TER N/A 202 171 171
RZBZ=F1A Director, effective from 30 June
=tHEER) 2023)
HBR Chief Financial Officer
EXBEE Mr. Lan Yung Hsu 1212 A NA @A NA TER NA
ek Vice President
ERARE Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han 1212 B NJA B NIA TEE NA

B4 K&& (M) AMR2A S DaChan Food (Asia) Limited



#iﬂﬁé%) Eﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ% BRERE
CERITES) BRRALECEHTES) - 3
KEREBYIFRTES) TELUERECE
VHRRTER) REYEAEBUIFNTE
%) KEOKEBREIFMTES -

RZBZ=FNA=THEBEARE A
il REZEGIRABRER LT (BN
TEE) - EMARKEBERRE L E G
TEF)  BRRELECGERITES) - TEWL
Fh OB IEMITESR) - EX 5 E B IE
BMITES) RelEEE BIERTES) -
AP ERBILIEMITESE -

REZEEXEBEEE(ERN_Z—=F
NARLBERMA) AR - EBESEHEAA
TGz RERNES - ERAR AR
shwww.dfa3999.com & & A R 5 Fr 48k
www.hkex.com.hkiga[ & ;] °

REZEENIZRE BHE(HPEHE)

. EOEFRVEFTSWER - ABRK
B %t - WHHEITTARBADERRE
mESIRH TSR ES

s VEABAEERAELEENAL
WESE R B EEEH A LSRR
EFEERHER

® 6 6
® 6 6

-~
i ® ®

EERR

Corporate Governance Report

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 14 September
2007. During the period from 1 January 2023 to 29 June 2023,
the Nomination Committee was chaired by Mr. Chen Chih (an
independent non-executive Director) with other 5 members,
including Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (a non-executive Director), Mr.
Harn Jia-Chen (a non-executive Director), Mr. Way Yung-Do
(an independent non-executive Director), Mr. Ting Yu-Shan (an
independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Hsia Li-Yan (an
independent non-executive Director), the majority of whom are

independent non-executive Directors.

During the period from 30 June 2023 and up to the date of this
report, the Nomination Committee was chaired by Ms. Lee Tsai,
Yu-Ling (an independent non-executive Director) with other 5
members, including Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (a non-executive Director),
Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (a non-executive Director), Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
(an independent non-executive Director), Mr. Hsia Li-Yan (an
independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian (an
independent non-executive Director), the majority of whom are

independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference
adopted on 9 August 2013, which are closely aligned with the
relevant Code Provisions requirements and are available at both
the Company’s website www.dfa3999.com and HKEx's website

www.hkex.com.hk.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the

following (among others):

° to review the structure, size and diversity of the Board
at least annually and to make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes to implement the

Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and to select or to make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for

directorships;
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° to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and succession planning for
Directors; and

° to review the Board Diversity Policy (details of the Board
Diversity Policy are set out in the sub-section headed

“Diversity” below).

Throughout the year ended 2023, 2 Nomination Committee
meetings were held on 28 April 2023 and 2 November 2023
respectively, to which the following tasks were performed by the

Nomination Committee:

o considered the changes in the composition of the board
and board committees of the company, including the
appointment and resignation of directors and board
committee and appointment of chairmen/ chairlady of board

committees;

° reviewed the current Board structure, diversity and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and

experience);

° assessed the independence of all independent non-
executive Directors;

o reviewed the diversity of the Board taking into account a

number of factors as set out in the Board Diversity Policy;

° reviewed the effectiveness of the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy; and

o reviewed the necessary time for the Directors to discharge

their duties and responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has been advised that it may seek
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company

wherever necessary.
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Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 13 December 2018 which sets out the principles
and procedures for selection and nomination of members to the
Board, to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of

the Company's business.

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates
to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to
shareholders for election as directors of the Company at general
meetings or appoint as directors to fill casual vacancies (as the

case maybe).

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

o Reputation for integrity;

o Accomplishment and experience in the principal business

of the Company;

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant

interest;

o Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,

knowledge and length of service; and

o Independence (in respect of independent non-executive

Directors).
These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be

exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the

discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

— &= = F 53R Annual Report 2023

57



58

O ® ® 0
O ® ® 0 0O
LHER

Corporate Governance Report

}E%i,\ag E ﬁ
& UHIERZEE

=
=

P
=]

2 WHERRALES
REERENER -

REZEEREFETNIRBBRARRE
B ABRT R, HEUE R B BUR AR o

HWERE

T =F—R—HE_ZE_=FAA=tAh
HERE - HriMEE g/ T Filsk4 GBI EH
TEF)ELERE  HDhEKEBREER
REECGEATES)  BRFRECEHRTE
F)  BAEEEBUIFNTES) KRAE
(B EMITES) RELE St 4 (B IR
TEE) KBHOKERBIIFNITES °

TEC=FRA=ZTRAEZE-_=F+=A
=+ HEEURBERRE RS - HHES
SHREVERE(BYIFNTER) BEERE
Hp ALK EREERRELECGERITESR)
BRERFAECGETES) T RUEECBL
FRITER)  BERLLTBULIFRTES)
NEflEEE BUIERNITES) - REBHKE
R IENITEE -

FMEEEXHBESE CER 2 —=F=
RZ+=H _ziﬂizﬂﬂa%m&@
AR - S E BB T AHE SR E B
T o AABESEERAFHELEwww,
dfa3999.com & & B R 5 A www.hkex.
com.hk&H] °

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Nomination Committee shall convene a meeting and invite the
candidate(s) to attend the meeting for consideration and enquiry

by members of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee will continually review the
Nomination Policy and reserves the right to update, amend,

modify and/or cancel the Nomination Policy.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 29 June 2023, the
Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr. Ting Yu-Shan (an
independent non-executive Director) with other 5 members,
including Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (a non-executive Director), Mr.
Han Chia Yau (a non-executive Director), Mr. Way Yung-Do
(an independent non-executive Director), Mr. Chen Chih (an
independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan (an
independent non-executive Director), the majority of whom are

independent non-executive Directors.

During the period from 30 June 2023 to 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
was chaired by Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan (an independent non-executive
Director) with other 5 members, including Mr. Harn Jia-Chen
(@ non-executive Director), Mr. Han Chia-Yau (a non-executive
Director), Mr. Ting Yu-Shan (an independent non-executive
Director), Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling (an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian (an independent non-executive
Director), the majority of whom are independent non-executive
Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference adopted and amended on 23 March 2012 and 8 March
2024 respectively, which are closely aligned with the relevant
Code Provisions requirements. The terms of reference are made
available on the Company’s website www.dfa3999.com and

HKEx's website www.hkex.com.hk.
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The Remuneration Committee was established on 14 September
2007 pursuant to Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. It meets from
time to time to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company'’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors
and senior management, and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee also reviews and
approves the performance-based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from
time to time, and determines, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and

senior ma nagement.

Throughout the year ended 2023, 2 Remuneration Committee
meetings were held on 28 April 2023 and 2 November 2023
respectively, to which the following tasks were performed by the

Remuneration Committee:

o reviewed a report prepared by the management regarding
the human resources and remuneration policy and
workforce optimization measures of the Company in 2023;
and

° considered and discussed the directors’ fees of Ms. Lee

Tsai, Yu-Ling and Mr. Kao Koong Lian.

The management provides administrative support and
implements the approved remuneration packages and
other human resources related decisions approved by the
Remuneration Committee.
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Emolument Policy and Long-Term Incentive Plan

To attract and retain talent and calibre, the Company provides
a competitive remuneration package to its executive Directors
and senior management. This comprises base monthly salary,
guaranteed cash benefits and allowances, special allowances,
bonuses, and is paid half-yearly or yearly relative to performance
delivered through plans and objectives which have pre-

determined criteria and standards.

The fees and any other reimbursement or emolument payable
to the Directors by band and senior management are set out in

notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.

It is the Company's policy to ensure that remuneration is
fair and appropriate and aligns with the goals, objectives and
performance of the Company and its subsidiaries. It is also the
Company’s policy to ensure that remuneration levels should be
fair and sufficient to attract and retain people of high caliber to

oversee the Company's business and development.
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AuDpIT COMMITTEE

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 29 June 2023, the
Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Way Yung-Do with other 3
members including Mr. Chen Chih, Mr. Ting Yu-Shan and Mr. Hsia

Li-Yan, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors.

Mr. Way Yung-Do was the chairman of the Audit Committee and
has accumulated substantial experience in financial advisory,
accounting and auditing. Details of Mr. Way's biography are set
out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management

Profile” in this annual report.

During the period from 30 June 2023 and up to the date of this
report, the Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
with other 3 members including Mr. Hsia Li-Yan, Ms. Lee Tsai,
Yu-Ling and Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian, all of whom are independent
non-executive Directors.

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan is the chairman of the Audit Committee and
was qualified as a certified public accountant in Taiwan in 1985.
He has extensive experience in areas such as financial advisory
and accounting. Details of Mr. Ting Yu-Shan's biography are set
out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management

Profile” in this annual report.
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The Audit Committee usually meets 4 times a year to review the
Company’s quarterly, interim and annual results and the integrity
of the Group’s financial statements. The Audit Committee is
accountable to the Board and assists the Board in meeting its
responsibilities in ensuring an effective and adequate system is
in place for internal controls and for meeting its external financial
reporting obligations and compliance with other legal and
regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee also reviews and
monitors the scope and effectiveness of the work of external
auditors.

The Audit Committee is governed by its terms of reference
adopted and amended on 23 March 2012 and 30 October 2015
respectively, which are closely aligned with the relevant Code
Provisions requirements. The terms of reference are made
available on the Company’s website www.dfa3999.com and

HKEx's website www.hkex.com.hk.

The Audit Committee meetings are normally attended by the
Company's Chief Financial Officer. When meetings concern
the routine finance control, the head of the internal control
department of the Company also attends the meeting to report
on the problems identified during the internal control audits and
recommendation of methods to alleviate and solve the problems
identified. The external auditor is often present on discussion of

the audit of financial results and audit planning.

Throughout the year ended 2023, the Audit Committee held 4
meetings on 10 March 2023, 28 April 2023, 7 August 2023 and 2
November 2023 respectively, during which the following matters

were reviewed and considered by the Audit Committee:

o the auditing work performed by external auditor;

o the internal control reports submitted by the internal audit
department of the Company and the effectiveness of the
systems of internal control and risk management of the
Group;
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the report on taxation related matters of the Company (if

any);

the completeness and accuracy of the 2022 annual and

2023 quarterly and interim financial statements;

the developments in accounting standards (if any) and the
effect on the Company;

review internal control measures and defects (if any);

the audit fees payable to external auditor, the scope and
timetable of the audit for year 2023;

the recommendations to the Board, for the approval by
shareholders, for the reappointment of Messrs. KPMG as

the external auditor, which the Board agreed and accepted;
the aggregate value, pricing policy and other terms of
the continuing connected transactions carried out by the

Company;

the facility arrangement(s) by the Company and its
subsidiary;

the connected transaction in respect of the acquisition of

intellectual property rights;

the renewal of the continuing connected transaction
between the Company and DLF-SH; and

the appointment of consultant for the ESG report of the

Company.
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The Audit Committee has been advised that it may seek
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company
wherever necessary. The Audit Committee is also supported
by the staff of the internal audit department and the external

auditor.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Board established the Executive Committee on 14
September 2007 with specific written terms of reference. The
Board has delegated responsibilities to the Executive Committee
for making certain decisions for the management of the

Company.

The Executive Committee is bound by its terms of reference,
which have been revised by the Board on 12 March 2010,16
December 2016 and 22 March 2019. The English version of the
terms of reference is available on the Company's website at

www.dfa3999.com.

In accordance with its terms of reference, members of the
Executive Committee shall be appointed by the Board from
amongst the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company only. The Executive Committee shall consist of no
more than 7 members, which include the executive Directors,
the chief operation officer or the chief financial officer of the

Company and other senior management of the Company.
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During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprised

the following members:

Executive Director

Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer)

Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Lan Yung Hsu

Vice President
Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han

The work completed by the Executive Committee during 2023
included consideration of the following matters:

o approving any routine matters or matters concerning day-

to-day operation of the Group;

o formulating for the Board's review the Group’s overall

corporate governance policy and investor relation policy;
o implementing the annual business plan, operating and
capital expenditure budgets of the Company as approved

by the Board; and

o implementing the strategic plans and long-term objectives
as approved by the Board.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had net assets of
approximately RMB2,381 million and the Company recorded a
profit attributable to equity holders of the parent of approximately
RMB47 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment in annual and interim reports, inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under

the Listing Rules and other statutory requirements.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for the
preparation of the accounts for each financial period which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the

results and cash flows for that period.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding
its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on page
105.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and hence decide that it is
appropriate to prepare the financial statements set out on pages
114 to 264 on a going concern basis. The Board is not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as

a going concern.
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The bases on which the Company generates or preserves value
over the longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives
are explained in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set

out in pages 12 to 21 in this annual report.

The management provides the Board with sufficient explanation
and information, such as the Group’s major business activities
and key financial information, to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial information and other

information of the Company put before the Board for approval.

The management also provides all Directors with monthly
updates giving them a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Company’s performance, position and prospects in
sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the
Listing Rules.

RiSK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and oversees the said
system and is responsible for reviewing their effectiveness. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and
corporate governance roles in the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance, risk management and internal controls, and the

resourcing of the finance and internal audit functions.

In addition to the Board's oversight responsibilities, the Company
has also developed a risk management process and internal
control systems to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks (including ESG risks) and to resolve material internal control

defects (if any).
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The management establishes a specified management system
for the risks of the Company. Members of the internal audit
department of the Company report to the management on a
regular basis to review and assess risks and discuss solutions to
address material internal control defects (if any), including any
improvement relevant to a given year. Results of such reports
and discussions are organized with ratings of each risk and
written response plans. The risk assessment is reviewed by
the management and presented to the Audit Committee or the
Board for their review.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and
established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against
improper use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations are
adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting
records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks
that may impact on the Group’s performance are appropriately
identified and managed. The systems and internal controls can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business

objectives.

The management is responsible for supervising enterprise risk
management works and reviewing significant aspects of risk
management of the Group. The operating units of the Group,
as risk bearer, identify, evaluate, mitigate and monitor their own
risks, and report such risk management activities to the risk
management and compliance department on a quarterly basis.
The risk management and compliance department assesses and
presents regular reports to the management at each regularly

scheduled meeting.
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The internal audit department of the Group reports to the
Audit Committee or the Board at the meeting(s) of the Audit
Committee or the Board, the results of their works during the
preceding period pertaining to the adequacy and effectiveness
of internal controls, including but not limited to, indicating any
failures in implementing any internal control systems or material
weaknesses in those systems. The Board has reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems and the effectiveness
of such systems for the year 2023 and considers such systems

effective and adequate.

For the procedures relating to the handling and publishment
of inside information, the management of the Company is
responsible for assessing the potential impact of any significant
urgent situations on the share price of the Company and its
transaction volume, and reports to the Board so that the Board
determines whether such information is considered as inside
information and is required to disclose as soon as practicable in

accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Company has employed its own internal auditors to perform
regular and systematic reviews of the Group’s internal control
system. The reviews provide reasonable assurance that the
internal control system continues to operate satisfactorily and
effectively within the Group and the Company.

Each year, the Audit Committee reviews the findings made
by the external auditor in respect of issues encountered by it
in preparation of the audit report, which often covers issues
relating to internal control. The Audit Committee also reviews
the risk management and internal control report submitted by
the Company's internal audit department. The Audit Committee
will then review the actions performed or the plans to be
carried out by the management in addressing the issues.
The issues identified and the corresponding remedial plans
and recommendations are then submitted to the Board for
consideration.
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For the year of 2023, no critical internal control issues have been
identified.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company is committed to ensuring compliance with
regulatory requirements under the Listing Rules, applicable
laws and regulations in handling connected transactions.
Accordingly, the Company implemented various internal control
mechanisms to identify and monitor connected transactions to
ensure that connected transactions are conducted under normal
commercial terms or on terms that are fair and reasonable
and properly disclosed and (if necessary) approved by the
independent shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The connected persons will be required to abstain from voting in
the general meetings. Details of the connected transactions of
the Company during the year are set out in the section headed

“Report of the Directors” of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year under review, the remuneration paid for services

AR KRBT provided by the Company’s external auditor is roughly as follows:
£58 Amount
(AR®F ) RMB’000
R 3,700 Audit services 3,700
FEZARTE Non-audit services
- ESGFAARTS 153 — ESG Consultation Service 153
- B ARTS 120 — Other services 120

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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DIVERSITY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) on 9 August 2013 which sets out its approach
to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With
a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Board Diversity Policy provides measurable objectives
for selection of Board candidates from diversity perspectives
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service).

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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At present, the Board consists of 10 male Directors and 1
female Director, the Nomination Committee considers that the
current composition of the Board is characterized by diversity
after taking into account the business model of the Group
and specific industrial characteristics, whether considered in
terms of educational and professional background and industry
experience. The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge
and skills, including knowledge and experience in the areas
of feeds production, food production, food and beverage
services, information technology, aviculture, medicine, financial
consultancy, auditing and accounting. They obtained degrees in
various majors including business administration, engineering,

computer science, accounting and economics.

As of 31 December 2023, approximately 48.9% of the
Company’s workforce (including senior management) is female.
The Company considers that the current composition of the
workforce is characterized by diversity taking into account
the business model of the Group and specific industrial
characteristics. The Company will continue to strive to enhance
female representation and achieve an appropriate balance of
gender diversity with reference to the shareholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices. At

present, the Board has not set any measurable objectives.

The Company recognizes the importance of female
representation in the Board and strives to achieve an appropriate
balance of gender diversity to meet the shareholders’ expectation
as well as the international recommended best practices. Gender
diversity has been achieved by having one female director on
the Board which meets the minimum requirement of the Listing
Rules. In striving to maintain gender diversity, the Board will
continue to have at least one female director on the Board. In
respect of succession planning, the Nomination Committee will
deploy multiple channels to identify suitable director candidates,
including referrals from Directors, shareholders, management,
advisors of the Company and external executive search firms as
and when appropriate.
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Except for the composition of the Board, the Company will
ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting employees
at management level as well as staff at mid-level. The Company
is committed to provide a promising career path for female
employees to reach the Company’s senior management level
even become potential candidates to the Board in near future.
All-rounded trainings to female employees will be provided in
near future so that they are adaptable to the Company’s different

position, being operation role or management role etc.

WHISTLE-BLOWING AND ANTI-
CORRUPTION POLICIES

The Company is committed to upholding the highest standards
of openness, integrity and accountability, and encourages a
“speak up” culture. A whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing
Policy”) and an Anti-fraud and Whistleblowing Mechanism
System (the “System”) have been implemented in 2022 for
employees of the Group at all levels and other stakeholders (such
as customers, suppliers and those who deal with the Company)
to voice concerns, in confidence with the audit committee and its
authorised persons about improprieties in matters related to the
Group. The Whistleblowing Policy and the System is available on

the Company's website.

The Company’s anti-fraud policies, procedures and relevant
measures were effectively communicated or trained within
the Company in various forms (through Employee Handbook,
release of company rules and regulations, publicity or local area
network etc.), so as to ensure that its employees receive training
in relevant laws, regulations and professional ethics to help
them understanding the concepts behind the code of conduct
and distinguishing legal from illegal, and honest from dishonest
behaviours.

The whistleblowing and anti-corruption practices and policies are

fundamental to good corporate governance.

— &= = F 53R Annual Report 2023

/3



74

0

® ®© 0 O
o000
XERHE

orporate Governance Report

S k>

2wl B

ARBABWERTENXRME TR LE
F o BERLAFARREE - RAIWEFEB
ARREERPIRER ER L LB ART] o
RAMERAEFEAE  WIKRATFER -
MAEESEAHHAERGARNENE RMR
% MRREFERFRMAEERNER X
RAR B ERET

ERARWE BRYXIER-_T_=FR
BRI/ EMRBEERE - BEF
BR - REEBTEREX -

SR S B i

ARBBANMRHRKFNEEBERAE - ARF
REERFEEGNTIZAR —ZF LR K
EE OB - RITRREAHMEERE T A
RABEEREE R EGEE

ARBHBERAG RES S ERR 2 MRHE R
HRBBHE - MRBAQREREZARE
BAANG - BIRBHEE S - ARRIDET TR
X AR - BAIROERATRE BRBRRA
SR EEAE o

SN RECRBFAS L - IBREXBLHE

RBEIRE B HPRESR ©

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of Company Secretary is held by Ms. Cho Yi Ping,
a practicing solicitor of Hong Kong who is not an employee of
the Company. The Company Secretary can contact the Company
through the head of legal department of the Company, Ms. Feng
Yuxia. The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board and
reports to the Chairman from time to time. All Directors have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to
ensure that board procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and

regulations are followed.

Being the Company Secretary, Ms. Cho Yi Ping has to take no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year 2023. She has fulfilled the requirement during the year
under review.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company endeavors to uphold a high level of corporate
transparency. Keeping shareholders, investors, analysts, bankers
and other stakeholders informed of our corporate strategies and
business operations has been one of the key objectives of our

investor relations team.

The general meetings of the Company provide the best
opportunity for communication between the Board and the
shareholders, where under article 64A of the Articles of
Association of the Company, shareholders have the right to
speak. The Company complied with the required notice periods
for general meetings under the Code Provisions, the applicable

laws, rules and regulations.

Also, separate resolutions for each substantially separate issue
were proposed at the AGM.
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The chairpersons of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and the Audit Committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees and, where applicable,
the independent Board committee, are available to answer

questions at the general meetings of the Company.

The representatives of the external auditor of the Company,
Messrs. KPMG also attended the AGM held on 29 June 2023 to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the auditor's report, the accounting policies and

auditor independence.
VorinG BY PoLL

The Company expresses in each relevant corporate
communication that the shareholders shall vote by poll so as
to allow the shareholders to have one vote for every share of
the Company held. The chairman of the meeting would explain
the voting procedure and answer any questions from the
shareholders regarding voting by poll in the general meetings.
The poll voting results of the general meetings were published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively on the same day after the general meetings were
held.

— &= = F 53R Annual Report 2023

75



/6

O ® ® 0
O ® ® 0 0O
LHER

Corporate Governance Report

Jie S A B P SR L O RE A

BEADRABERMRNECAE - RERFR
AREER—ZHXZERRERKER - %%
BEEERZERZ BAZE AR RRAH
10% A ERyRoRE (RER—FHHE) - B
BEAREZASHRERIEINRE - RFRA
ERENEAFAAEETF LR AWEEL -
NEXEZERRRREIAGEREGFEER

FrEIBREV I =15 - ARARRITRIAE AN R
H st E SRR RRE A A ERAT o iR R &SR

B=—t—BR EFeRBEFEHBREREG
Rg - AIBKARLAERS = B 178 B R
ARE - MARRERZSEFRABMNEEH
ExeREERACMELEN —AEBAX -

TP T S b LT S 0 I P R DR R AR )T

REBETARE  BRBBRRER_T——F

ZA-+=BHFIERARERN T —F

=ZA=t+=B{&R] - ARERICRAIBERS - &

BB LR T SRR R AR R BIAERE

B BEERCRIEE SRABRRREWE
B o REUBBBURIA T IRERBEN BRI H
E=g8FEH-

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY

GENERAL MEETING

Under article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, 10% or more
of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, in the share
capital of the Company, and that they shall be entitled to add
resolutions to such meeting’'s agenda. Shareholder’ requisition
shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. The relevant extraordinary general
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND PROCEDURES FOR

PUuTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

Based on the requirement of the Code, a Shareholders’
Communication Policy was formulated and adopted on 23 March
2012 and thereafter amended on 23 March 2022 in order to
ensure the shareholders are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about
the Company. The Board has taken appropriate steps to provide
effective communication with shareholders. The effectiveness
of shareholders’ communication under the Shareholders’
Communication Policy will be reviewed by the Board on an
annual basis.
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All published information, including all the statutory
announcements, press releases and event calendars, is promptly
posted on the Group's website www.dfa3999.com. Investors
can also make enquiries to the Board or senior management by
contacting the Company either through the Company Investor
Relations Department on telephone number (86)-10-59047569
or by email at investors@dachan.com.cn or directly by raising
questions or proposals at general meetings of the Company. The
Company'’s team dedicated to investor relations takes a proactive
approach to communicate with existing and potential investors
in a timely manner by making regular face-to-face meetings and
conference calls with investors.

The Company considers the latest Shareholders Communication
Policy to be effective and has been implemented smoothly
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. Shareholders’
voices were heard either from general meetings or from the
Company Investor Relations Department; where concerns have
been addressed and resolved satisfactorily in time. As a channel
to further promote effective communication, dedicated officers
from Company Investor Relations were assigned to handle

inquiries and feedback from shareholders.
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DiviDEND PoLICY

On 13 December 2018, the Company has adopted its dividend
policy (“Dividend Policy”). The Dividend Policy is as follows:

The general policy for distribution of dividend is that the Company
shall enable the shareholders to enjoy the profits of the Company
whilst ensure adequate reserve for future development of the

Company.

The following factors will be taken into account by the Board
when declaring dividend or recommending distribution of
dividend:

the Company's actual and expected financial performance;

o retained earnings and distributable reserves of the

Company and each of the members of the Group;

o the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital

expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

° the Group's cash flow situation, the Group's debts to equity
ratio and any restrictions on financial ratios that may be

imposed by the loan agreements with financial institutions;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance

and position of the Company; and
o any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.
Declaration and distribution of dividend by the Company will be

subject to Articles of Association of the Company and all laws

and regulations applicable to the Company.
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The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy and
reserve the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend Policy, and the
Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at

any time or from time to time.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, no amendment to the
Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association of the
Company has been made.

CONCLUSION

Going forward, the Company will continue to work diligently to
maintain the highest level of corporate transparency possible.
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The Board submits the annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding and operation of a highly vertically integrated business
encompassing feeds production, chicken meat processing and
supply of processed foods through its subsidiaries.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

REVIEW OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND PERFORMANCE

Details of the fair review (including an analysis using key financial
performance indicators) and the possible future development
trend of the Group’s business are set out in the sections
headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Food safety is the most significant risk faced by the Group’'s
business. In this regard, the Group has always been focusing on
building and perfecting a traceable platform, and adhering to the
principle of 100-1=0. The Group lists food safety as one of the
key tasks of the ESG team and establishes a three-level defense
line for quality control so as to minimize the potential adverse
impact of food safety incidents that may occur in the operation of
the Group.

Exchange rate fluctuation is also a market risk which the Group
seeks to actively handle. The Group has adjusted the currency of
borrowings as and when appropriate to minimise unnecessary

loss arising from change of currency.

The market risk brought about by the cyclical fluctuations of the
white feather meat chicken industry has had a certain impact on the
profit stability of the Group. In this regard, the Group will continue
to increase the pace of expansion of its food products businesses
in order to offset the adverse impact of fluctuations in the market
conditions for meat products through stable growth in profits of food

products.
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Report of the Directors

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group was not aware of any violation of the
relevant laws and regulations which may have significant impact
on it.

DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Since 31 December 2023, the Board was not aware of any

significant event affecting the Group.
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

Promoting the sustainable development is a social responsibility
incumbent upon the Group. The Group has always been
committed to the resources conservation and emission reduction
and has replaced coal-fired boilers with clean energy boilers by
batches since 2015.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

“Integrity, Modesty and Foresight” are the core values of the
Group. The Group maintains a good cooperation relationship and
establishes a prospective cooperation model with its suppliers
and customers by persistently acting with integrity and with a
humble attitude.

The employees of the Group are principally engaged in feed
and animal nutrition segment, poultry and value meat segment,
global food segment and various supporting segments and
are responsible for relevant duties respectively in sales and
marketing management, product manufacturing, product
planning and marketing, administrative and human resources,
financial and operation analysis, audit and legal risk management
and control, material procurement and logistics management,
information technology technical support, product research and

development, quality and safety management and so on.
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The Group has been upholding the following principles when

selecting, training, employing and retaining talents:

1. recruiting and selecting individuals who are suitable for
the Company's corporate culture and job position based
on working plans and key performance indicators of the

position;

2. designing specific training courses and launching
corresponding training plans according to different
positions and ranks of employees to continuously enhance
employee’'s management and professional skills and to
provide a reservoir of outstanding talents for the Group;

3. designing and implementing different performance
appraisal systems and conducting suitable post adjustment
and job rotation based on different job natures to place
talents in suitable positions and optimise their performance;

4. determining employees’ remuneration levels based on their
experience and performance as well as the market salaries
and implementing performance bonus incentive programs
for employees in different positions and also selecting
important talents every year for appropriate reward.

There is no significant dispute between the Group and its
employees. The Group commits to build an effective and
efficient team and enable its employees to share the results of
its operation.

SUBSIDIARIES

A list of subsidiaries together with their places of operations
and incorporation and particulars of their issued share capital/
registered capital are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.
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Report of the Directors

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 114 to
264.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB47,024 thousand (2022: profit of approximately RMB91,852
thousand) have been transferred to reserves. Other movements
in reserves of the Group and of the Company are set out on
page 234 of the annual report and note 26(d) to the financial
statements.

To reserve the resources for the Group's business development,

the Board decides not to distribute any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: no dividend).

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 118
to 119.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the

year are set out in note 26(c) to the financial statements.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to the existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB70,000.
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FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set out
in note 13 to the financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFT

Particulars of bank loans and overdrafts of the Group as at
31 December 2023 are set out in note 23 to the financial

statements.

LISTING OF SHARES

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 4 October 2007.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company (the “Directors” and each a
“Director”) for the period from 1 January 2023 to 29 June 2023

(inclusive) were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Wei Anning

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Way Yung-Do

(Resigned as Director with effect from 30 June 2023)
Mr. Chen Chih

(Resigned as Director with effect from 30 June 2023)
Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan
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Report of the Directors

g

From 30 June 2023 and up to the date of this report, the

Directors are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. James Chun-Hsien Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Wei Anning

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

Mr. Hsia, Li-Yan

Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling

Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, whereas each of the non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company.

The term of appointment of each Director is subject to the
Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) and/or
the Listing Rules and/or the laws of the Cayman Islands and may
be terminated by the Company or the Director pursuant to the
service contract or the letter of appointment (as the case may
be).
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In accordance with article 108 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or, if their number is not 3 or a multiple of 3, then the number
nearest to but not less than one third, shall retire from office
by rotation and, under the corporate governance code of the
Company, every Director, including those appointed for a specific
term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every 3 years. All retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, Mr. Chao
Tien-Shin, Mr. Han Chia-Yau shall retire from office by rotation at
the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.

Further, pursuant to article 112 of the Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible for re-election at the meeting.

Accordingly, Ms. Lee Tsai, Yu-Ling and Mr. Kao, Koong-Lian,
each being an Director appointed by the Board on 30 June 2023,
will hold office until the forthcoming AGM of the Company, and
will be eligible for re-election at the AGM.

All of the abovenamed Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

As requested by the Company, each of the independent non-
executive Directors has confirmed his independence to the
Company. Each of the independent non-executive Director could
satisfy the independence requirements as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Company considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management

of the Group are set out in pages 22 to 33 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE HIGHEST-
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emoluments of Directors, senior management and the
five highest-paid individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the

financial statements.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as those disclosed in “Connected Transactions” of this
section and "Related Party Transactions” in note 28 to the
financial statement, none of the Directors or their connected
entity or their associates had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
SUBSIDIARIES AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as those disclosed in “Connected Transactions” of this
section and "Related Party Transactions” in note 28 to the
financial statement, there was not any contract of significance
between the Company, or one of its subsidiary companies, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year.
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DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 8.10(2)

As confirmed by each of the Directors, during the year ended
31 December 2023, none of them was engaged in or had any
interest in any business that competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business as
required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company
during 2023 or subsisted at the end of 2023.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no
effective restricted share award scheme of the Company and
there were no shares granted but remained unvested under any

previous restricted share award scheme of the Company.
SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no
effective share option scheme of the Company and no share
options of the Company were granted, exercised, expired,
lapsed, cancelled or outstanding.
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R RSB B RG ~ FHEA DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

JBe oy B i 5 RO R i B 8 BT INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

E-_ZT-_=ZF+_A=+—8  ARAEE As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
EERITBRABRARA RS EBE AE (F&E Directors and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares
RBELFREBE G ([FHKAAEEG]) EXV and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
) MRy - BEERG RESFTFEEERR (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
KB IRAREIRIEE S KR & 535215 Ordinance (the “SFQ")) as recorded in the register required to
w2 ERME - SRR _ Em AR AIMIERC3 be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or

&l E BT AESEITER X HRIEESTR as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
(MEEFAD BREARR T R R TR & pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
KRBT Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing

Rules (“Model Code”), were as follows:

(A) ARV ZHELR — I (A) INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY — LONG POSITIONS:
RERE UG
fAARR HitlEm (TETAREZ BRTRA
B2 /BETHABHS P EREE HERHEE @t ZBREA
Number of Approximate
Personal Other underlying % of issued
interest interest shares held share capital
Name of Directors/ Number of ordinary under equity of the
Chief Executive shares held derivatives Total Company
HITEE :
Executive Directors:
ZEE 128,000 - - 128,000 0.013%
James Chun-Hsien Wei
BRE W1 382,000 200,000 - 582,000 0.057%
Han Chia-Yin (Note 1)
HHITEE :
Non-executive Directors:
BRR 344,000 - - 344,000 0.034%
Han Jia-Hwan
HAE (Wi22) 3,534,000 300,000 - 3,834,000 0.377%

Chao Tien-Shin (Note 2)

=% = = £ £ %} Annual Report 2023 89



B eE - Notes:
1. BREAEHERBEEHERBIEN 1. Mr. Han Chia-Yin is deemed to be interested in 200,000 shares held
200,000 A% ) #Ez= © by his spouse.
2. HREXEWRREGHMEEERER 2. Mr. Chao Tien-Shin is deemed to be interested in 300,000 shares
1B £ [R5 A #9300,0008% A (D #ES © jointly held by Mr. Chao and his spouse.
(B)  JAASL wIRH R 2 R4S — AT (B) INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS OF THE COMPANY

— LONG PoOSITIONS:

BE2 el RE]
HENT EER BREITRAK
EEHAF #8 BRtE R LR
Approximate % of
Interests in  the relevant associated
Name of Name of associated Nature ordinary corporation’s issued
Directors corporations of interest shares held share capital
BRT AREREERDERAR (Hit1) EREBA 67,433 0.008%
Han Chia-Yau Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. (Note 1) Beneficial owner
BRE (Hizt2) RERHEERHERAF iz e 12,444,845 1.391%
Chao Tien-Shin Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. Interest of spouse
(Note 2)
BiRE Notes:
1. AR ERBEEKBERA R ([RKEEH 1. Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. (“Great Wall Enterprise”), a company
) REBEMIILREEES incorporated in Taiwan and listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange
RS EMHRR - BARAKREE Corporation, is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.
A&ARER ©
2. HREEAEGRAEEBERBIES 2. Mr. Chao Tien-Shin was deemed to be interested in the 12,444,845
MNERERERNBERABMFEN shares held by CTS Investment Corporation controlled by his spouse.

12,444,845 fh #E 2

REXHIERBEEN  RZT_=F+=A Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
=+—HB EFERERTBEAERESZOE the Directors and chief executive and their associates had any
E INIVANCIERER RS E)PNE b s S SR RE) interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
RIEES RS A 3626 BR AR RIET debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
HE A M ErEt SR IR <P BIIE A A R A5k that was recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Bt FTRIRR (D - AERARR (D Sk (B M B MR R S Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
© notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

m)

90  AME&S (M) AR~ DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 was the
Company or any of its parent companies, subsidiary undertakings
or its parent companies’ subsidiary undertakings a party to any
arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is,
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions held
by the persons, other than a director or chief executive of the

Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

AR ARG RABRAI (D P B MR = SOA B as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

LU pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
KRR ITE Long positions in shares of the Company:
18 EmitE RGSE BARD
Nature of Number of Approximate
Name interests shares %
Waverley Star Limited Enikn 375,899,946 36.99%
Beneficial interests
TMNERRITAR ExnfEs 152,924,906 15.05%
Asia Nutrition Technologies Beneficial interests
Corporation
RREIRR () AR A SR NP 559,773,852 565.09%
Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. Interests of controlled corporation (Frzt1)
(Note 1)
ABREHEERINERRA bR [N 559,773,852 55.09%
Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. Interests of controlled corporation (Hiat1)
(Note 1)

— %= = %4 %R Annual Report 2023 91



92

£ BRMtE RIDEE BABEA
Nature of Number of Approximate

Name interests shares %

Hansen, Inc. ey S 67,424,954 6.63%
Beneficial interests

HEZR EnEs 50,978,000 5.02%

Sun Hui Ying Beneficial interests

FfiisE1 © B&19 LAWaverley Star Limited * Great Wall
FeedTech (Holdings) Ltd. 5 28 /M| & & =7 A &)
#F &R0 Waverley Star Limited, Great Wall
FeedTech (Holdings) Ltd. 5 28N & & T A
A& B AAKBIR (ER) AR A RN 2 AN B
AE] - TARK B (2AR) B R A Al A KB R
TERNDERARNZERBAT - RIEFS
REAERG] - RABIFR (GERR) B R A 8] R AR
EHEERMDERDFAIHEBR Waverley
Star Limited ~ Great Wall FeedTech (Holdings)
Ltd. R oM & B EAMT A R R A R PT A IR 2 1
mP AR o

BREXHEEEN RZT_=F+=-A
=+—H BRAQRAEERESTHRAS
EaEN EX[EERESTHRABRR
17~ HHERG REFES AR —&0) b -
BELMALTMEART] - FEREARRRG
BB ) R HE B IR F A R EIE 1KPIZE336

AR S A -

ATNEFRARAA RIS M ABREI D BB AR
BEE RBEEFIEXVEFE 2R3N T AR
ERSSAB ZARINESE EE

1. BEREEEABRUENCEZES

2. BERFEERARERECEZEEZNE
EEIF:

3. BRRELEBAKEMEEZEZNRE
BEER

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Note 1: The shares were registered in the name of Waverley Star Limited, Great
Wall FeedTech (Holdings) Ltd. and Asia Nutrition Technologies Corporation,
each of which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Great Wall International
(Holdings) Ltd., which, in turn, was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Great
Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. Under the SFO, both Great Wall International
(Holdings) Ltd. and Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. were deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Waverley Star Limited, Great Wall
FeedTech (Holdings) Ltd. and Asia Nutrition Technologies Corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person,
other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above, had notified the Company of an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

The following Directors are directors/employees of a company
which had an interest or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

1. Mr. Han Chia-Yin is a director of Great Wall Enterprise;

2. Mr. Han Chia-Yau is a director and the chairman of the

board of the directors of Great Wall Enterprise;

3. Mr. Harn Jia-Chen is a director and the vice chairman of
Great Wall Enterprise;
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Report of the Directors

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin is a director of Great Wall Enterprise;
and

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan is an independent director and the
chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration
committee of Great Wall Enterprise.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group carried out a number of connected

transactions with the following connected persons (as defined in

the Listing Rules), namely:

(1)

Great Wall Enterprise (being the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company) and its subsidiaries (being
associates of Great Wall Enterprise) excluding the Group
(the “Excluded Group”);

Marubeni Corporation (“Marubeni”, being a substantial
shareholder of a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) and JLAT (R B)HBRZAF] (“Marubeni PRC”, being
a subsidiary of Marubeni) and subsidiaries of Marubeni PRC
(all being associates of Marubeni);

Better Me Precision Nutrition Limited (“Better Me (BVI)"),
being a 30%-controlled company (within the meaning of
the Listing Rules) held by Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (a director
of the Company), and hence an associate of Mr. Han Jia-
Hwan and a connected person of the Company;

DLF-SH (being a 30%-controlled company (within the
meaning of the Listing Rules) held by a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Great Wall Enterprise); and

ERERRABHEERAA (“Beijing Better Me Food
Technology”), being a 30%-controlled company (within the
meaning of the Listing Rules) held by Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (a
director of the Company), and hence an associate of Mr.
Han Jia-Hwan and a connected person of the Company.
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The Group conducted the following connected transactions and

continuing connected transactions (other than those exempted

from the annual reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of

the Listing Rules) during the year ended 31 December 2023:

(a)

On 24 April 2020, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and DLF-SH (for itself and
on behalf of other members of DLF-SH and its subsidiaries
from time to time, the “"DLF Group”) entered into the
master purchase agreement (the “DLF Master Purchase
Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 3 years starting from
1 May 2020. The DLF Master Purchase Agreement
stipulates, in summary terms, that (among others) (i) the
Group agrees to purchase and DLF-SH Group agrees to
supply products (such as flour and wheat bran) on a non-
exclusive basis in accordance with contracts of purchase
to be entered into between the relevant members of the
Group (as the buyer) and the relevant members of the DLF
Group (as the supplier) from time to time during the said
duration under the DLF Master Purchase Agreement; (ii)
prices of the products shall be agreed on an arm'’s length
basis and on normal commercial terms and within the
range of fair price prevailing on the market of the same
or similar products in the PRC for the time being; and (iii)
prices for the products shall be paid by relevant members
of the Group after the delivery of the products by the
relevant members of the DLF Group in accordance with
the relevant contract of purchase made in respect of such
purchases. In addition to the pricing terms provided in the
DLF Master Purchase Agreement, the Group also adopted
a set of internal policies to determine the prices and terms
of the purchases contemplated thereunder, the details of
which, together with other information regarding the DLF
Master Purchase Agreement, are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 April 2020.
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On 30 March 2023, the Company and DLF-SH entered
into a renewal agreement in respect of the DLF Master
Purchase Agreement (“DLF Master Purchase (Renewal)
Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 2 years and 8 months
starting from 1 May 2023. The major terms of the DLF
Mater Purchase (Renewal) Agreement are substantially the
same as those of the DLF Master Purchase Agreement.
The details of which, together with pricing policies and
internal control measures regarding price determination
and other information regarding the DLF Master Purchase
(Renewal) Agreement, are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 30 March 2023.

During the year under review, the total value of products
purchased by the Group from the DLF Group under the
DLF Master Purchase Agreement and the DLF Master
Purchase (Renewal) Agreement amounts to approximately
RMB16,420 thousand. The Directors confirm that the
Group has followed the said pricing terms and policies

when determining the price and terms of those purchases.
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On 26 April 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of PRC members of the Group) and Marubeni PRC (for
itself and on behalf of members of the Marubeni PRC
Group) entered into the master purchase (renewal 2021)
agreement (“Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal 2021)
Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 3 years starting from
1 January 2022. The Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal
2021) Agreement stipulates, in summary terms, that
(among others) (i) the Group agrees to purchase and the
Marubeni PRC Group agrees to sell coated flour for food
processing on a non-exclusive basis pursuant to sales
contracts to be entered into between the relevant PRC
members of the Group (as the buyer) and the relevant
members of the Marubeni PRC Group (as the supplier)
from time to time under the said duration under the
Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement; (ii)
prices of the products shall be agreed on an arm'’s length
basis and shall be on normal commercial terms and within
the range of fair price of the same or similar products
provided by the member of the Marubeni PRC Group to
independent third parties in the PRC; and (iii) prices for
the products shall be paid by the relevant PRC member of
the Group in accordance with the relevant sales contract
made in respect of such purchase. In addition to the pricing
terms provided in the Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal
2021) Agreement, the Group also adopted a set of internal
policies to determine the prices and terms of the purchases
contemplated thereunder, the details of which, together
with other information regarding the Marubeni Master
Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement, are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 26 April 2021.
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Report of the Directors

During the year under review, the total value of products
purchased by the Group from Marubeni PRC under the
Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement
amounts to approximately RMB2,114 thousand. The
Directors confirm that the Group has followed the said
pricing terms and policies when determining the price and
terms of those purchases.

On 26 April 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and Marubeni entered into
the master supply (renewal 2021) agreement (“Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement”) for a fixed
duration of 3 years starting from 1 January 2022. The
Marubeni Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement
stipulates, in summary terms, that (among others) (i)
Marubeni agrees to purchase and the Group agrees to sell
meat related products as set out in the written purchase
order placed by Marubeni in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Marubeni Master Supply (Renewal
2021) Agreement; (ii) prices of the products shall be agreed
by reference to the cost of production for the products
involved and using the same price determination basis as
that adopted by the relevant member of the Group from
time to time for sale of the same or similar products to
its other customers who are independent third parties;
and (iii) prices for the products shall be paid by Marubeni,
upon acceptance of the products tendered in conformity
with the purchase order placed by Marubeni, within the
period and manner as laid down in the said purchase order.
In addition to the pricing terms provided in the Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement, the Group also
adopted a set of internal policies to determine the prices
and terms of the purchases contemplated thereunder, the
details of which, together with other information regarding
the Marubeni Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement,
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 26 April
2021.
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During the year under review, the total value of products
sold by the Group to Marubeni under the Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal 2021) Agreement amounts to
approximately RMB75,298 thousand. The Directors confirm
that the Group has followed the said pricing terms and
policies when determining the price and terms of those
sales.

On 12 August 2022, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other member companies of the Group) and Better Me
(BVI) (for itself and on behalf of its member companies
from time to time, the “Better Me Group”) entered into the
master supply (2022 renewal) agreement (the “BM Master
Supply (2022 Renewal) Agreement”) for a fixed duration
of 2 years and 4 months starting from 1 September
2022. The BM Master Supply (2022 Renewal) Agreement
stipulates, in summary terms, that (among others) (i)
relevant member companies of the Group shall supply and
the relevant member companies of Better Me Group shall
purchase processed chicken meat products processed,
manufactured, produced, sold or wholesaled by the
relevant member companies of the Group and the relevant
member companies of the Group and the relevant member
companies of Better Me Group shall undergo transactions
from time to time during the said duration in accordance
with the supply contracts entered into under the terms
of the BM Master Supply (2022 Renewal) Agreement; (ii)
prices of the products shall be determined on arms’ length
basis which will be in accordance with the production costs
of the products involved, with a pricing benchmark that
allows a certain level of profit margin, and shall comply with
normal commercial terms; and (iii) upon receipt of products
supplied in accordance with the supply contracts issued by
the relevant member companies of Better Me Group, the
relevant member companies of Better Me Group shall pay
the purchase price of those products in the manner listed
in the above-mentioned supply contracts within the period
specified therein. In addition to the pricing terms provided
in the BM Master Supply (2022 Renewal) Agreement, the
Group also adopted a set of internal policies to determine
the prices and terms of the sales contemplated thereunder,
the details of which, together with other information
regarding the BM Master Supply (2022 Renewal)
Agreement, are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 12 August 2022.
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Report of the Directors

During the year under review, the total value of products
sold by the Group to Better Me Group under the BM
Master Supply Agreement and BM Master Supply
(2022 Renewal) Agreement amounts to approximately
RMBG6,505 thousand. The Directors confirm that the Group
has followed the said pricing terms and policies when

determining the price and terms of those sales.

On 9 August 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other members of the Group) and Great Wall Enterprise
(for itself and on behalf of other members of the Excluded
Group) entered into the master (renewal) purchase
agreement (“GWE Master Purchase (Renewal 2021)
Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 3 years starting from 1
January 2022. The GWE Master Purchase (Renewal 2021)
Agreement stipulates, in summary terms, that (among
others) (i) the Group shall purchase and the Excluded
Group shall sell products (namely (i) coated flour and (ii)
fermented soybean products) on a non-exclusive basis
in accordance with contracts for sale and purchase of
products to be entered into between the relevant members
of the Group (as the buyer) and the relevant members of
the Excluded Group (as the supplier) from time to time
during the said duration; (i) prices of the products shall be
agreed on an arm’s length basis and shall be on normal
commercial terms and shall be within the range of fair price
prevailing on the market of the same or similar products
in the PRC; and (iii) prices for the products shall be paid
by the relevant member of the Group within 60 days after
receiving the relevant invoice(s). In addition to the pricing
terms provided in the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal
2021) Agreement, the Group also adopted a set of internal
policies to determine the prices and terms of the purchases
contemplated thereunder, the details of which, together
with other information regarding the GWE Master Purchase
(Renewal 2021) Agreement, are set out in the Company’s
announcement and circular dated 9 August 2021 and 24
September 2021 respectively.
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During the year under review, the total value of products
purchased by the Group from Great Wall Enterprise under
the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal 2021) Agreement
amounts to approximately RMB20,431 thousand. The
Directors confirm that the Group has followed the said
pricing terms and policies when determining the price and

terms of those purchases.

On 16 November 2023, Beijing Better Me Food Technology
and BB KK EHAER AT (“Bengbu Dachan Food”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the acquisition agreement (the “Acquisition
Agreement”), pursuant to which Beijing Better Me Food
Technology agreed to sell and Bengbu Dachan Food agreed
to purchase the target assets, namely the “better me”
brand series trademarks, patents, copyright and proprietary
technologies and associated interests held by Beijing
Better Me Food Technology (the “Target Assets”), at a
consideration of RMB10 million. The Target Assets include
patents/technologies for producing healthy chicken products
such as water-fried chicken cutlets and low-calorie instant
noodles. These products cater to the growing demand for
healthy light meals in the prevailing market and align with
the Group’s development strategy in developing its food
processing business to be the leading sector in its vertically
integrated business. The Acquisition Agreement stipulates,
in summary terms, that (1) when Beijing Better Me Food
Technology sells the Target Assets to Bengbu Dachan
Food, it should also deliver the relevant sales channels and
customer relations of the business operations relating to the
Target Assets, (2) payment shall be made by cash after the
fulfilment of the conditions precedent, and (3) in the event
that Beijing Better Me Food Technology fails to perform its
obligations to complete, deliver and register the change of
ownership of the Target Assets and the relevant business
sales channels and customer relations in accordance
with the provisions of the Acquisition Agreement, the
Acquisition Agreement shall be immediately terminated and
Beijing Better Me Food Technology shall forthwith refund to
Bengbu Dachan all consideration received and compensate

Bengbu Dachan Food for its losses.
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Report of the Directors

Save as disclosed above, there are no other connected
transactions which require disclosure in the annual report in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules during the year.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
confirmed that the above-mentioned continuing connected
transactions were entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of the Group's business; (i) either on normal commercial
terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than
those available to or from independent third parties; and (iii)
in accordance with the terms of the respective agreements
governing such transactions on terms that were fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the

Company as a whole.
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The auditor of the Company has reviewed the above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions pursuant to rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules and advised the Board in writing that nothing has
come to its attention that causes it to believe that such transactions:
(i) have not been approved by the Board; (i) were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing polices of the Group
where the transactions involve the provisions of goods or services
by the Group; (iii) were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such

transactions; and (iv) have exceeded the cap set by the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year of 2023, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's
listed securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers in 2023 and 2022 accounted for less than 30% of the
total sales of the Group. The aggregate purchases attributable to
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30%
of total purchases for both years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued shares) had any interest in the five largest
customers or suppliers.
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Report of the Directors

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set up by its human
resources department and seeks to provide remuneration
packages on the basis of the merit, qualifications and
competence of the employees.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of
the Company will be reviewed by the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to factors including the Group’s operating results,
responsibilities required of the Directors and senior management
and comparable market information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company as at the latest practicable date prior to the publication
of this annual report (i.e. 19 April 2024), the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than service contracts with the Directors
or full-time employees of the Company, by which a person
undertakes the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of any business of the Company was entered
into or in force during 2023.

— &= = F 53§ Annual Report 2023

103



104

Report of the Directors

G o 8 A S

REARBEEMAY  FEF - AREFNI
HE BB TERESEEREEL - [
R SRR ERIER - MBUEKREHE S
E— AE AR B R B —ERTT
B AR E - BK BERAX  9RYKY
ARAREETESHENRTE2RE  ERER
B ARGNBMFRTBETAMBRREEE
(nB) RIBHISN » ZIEXR—F_=FREK
NRA R E BERDAE -

A AR

AEBNBAREYREEEENEELEAR
REHNAFRE268E -

3

EBEETRELAT - AFRANREZEE - #
RENEETZ BRBAF ARG DIRES S ERE
BT - ARRHRESRITZERBEX
BLRERER  BNRIESHISHES
Pt B 75 R BIAZ2RAD -

RRESE
ES:

RERE

BB ZZE-WF=A)\H

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, every Director
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or
may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty
in their respective offices except such (if any) as they shall incur
or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty. Such provisions
were in force during 2023 and remained in force as of the date of
this report.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in page 268 of the
annual report.

AUDITORS

KPMG as the Company’s auditors, will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
James Chun-Hsien Wei

Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 114 to 264, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, comprising material accounting policy information

and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs"”) issued by International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code"”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment,

land use rights and investment property

Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies in note 3(b).

The Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2023,
the Group held property,
plant and equipment, land
use rights and investment
property with a carrying
value of RMB1,810,395,000
which was used in the
Group's chicken meat,
processed food and feed
production operations.

The Group's property,
plant and equipment, land
use rights and investment
property is allocated to
relevant cash generating
units (“CGUs") for the
purpose of assessing if
there is any impairment at
the end of the reporting
period.

Management considered
that there were indicators
of impairment of property,
plant and equipment, land
use rights and investment
property at 31 December
2023 because certain CGUs
have sustained losses and,
therefore, management
assessed the recoverable
amounts of these CGUS at
the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and
its value in use.

How the matter was addressed in

our audit
Our audit procedures to assess
impairment of property, plant and
equipment, land use rights and
investment property included the
following:

e evaluating management’s
processes and procedures for
the identification of indicators
of impairment of property, plant
and equipment, land use rights
and investment property;

e evaluating management’s
identification of CGUs and
the allocation of assets to
each CGU and management’'s
methodology adopted in the
preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts with
reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting
standards;

e evaluating the key assumptions
adopted by management in their
preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts, including
revenue growth rates and profit
margin ratios, by comparing
with the financial budgets which
were approved by the directors,
our understanding, experience
and knowledge of the Group's
businesses and future business
plans;
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The Key Audit Matter

Value in use calculations
are based on discounted

cash flow forecasts.

The preparation of
discounted cash flow
forecasts involves the
exercise of significant
management judgement,
in particular in forecasting
revenue growth rates and
profit margin ratios and in
determining appropriate

discount rates.

We identified assessing
impairment of property,
plant and equipment, land
use rights and investment
property as a key audit
matter because of the
inherent uncertainty
involved in forecasting
future cash flows, in
particular in respect of
revenue growth rates,
profit margin ratios, and
the discount rates applied,
which could be subject to

potential management bias.

How the matter was addressed in

our audit

comparing revenue, cost of
sales and other operating
expenses included in discounted
cash flow forecasts prepared
in the prior year with the
current year's performance to
assess the accuracy of the prior
year's forecasts and making
enquiries of management as to
the reasons for any significant
variations identified and whether
these had been considered in

current year's forecasts;

engaging our internal valuation
specialists to evaluate the
discount rates applied in the
discounted cash flow forecasts
by comparison with other

companies in the same industry;

performing sensitivity analyses
of the key assumptions adopted
in the discounted cash flow
forecasts, including the revenue
growth rates, profit margin
ratios, and the discount rates
and assessing the impact of
changes in the key assumptions
to the conclusions reached and
whether there are any indicators

of management bias; and
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The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in

our audit

e considering the disclosures
in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the
impairment assessment,
including key sensitivities, with
reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting

standards.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this

regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Yeung Ka Chun.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

8 March 2024
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Consolidated Income Statement

HE-T-_=F+-A=+—HItFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(BB UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

,"éﬂl-éﬂ

14

k=3 —EC=F —T-F
Note 2023 2022
ARET T AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
A Turnover 4 6,418,966 6,195,175
THEKAR Cost of sales (5,756,276) (5,514,269)
EF Gross profit 662,690 680,906
HAbsg B A Other operating income 25,192 46,463
HAin RS (E518) Other net gain/(loss) 317 (5,921)
DI Distribution costs (337,792) (307,598)
1THAX Administrative expenses (248,739) (264,290)
RERF Profit from operations 101,668 149,560
W5 RIS Finance costs 6(a) (17,738) (11,278)
FEhES AR AR] Share of profits/(losses) of
wmH (E518) equity-accounted investees 2,120 (1,010)
RRBE AR Profit before taxation 6 86,050 137,272
FTiS#i Income tax 7 (10,670) (14,792)
FREHN Profit for the year 75,380 122,480
THIA RS : Attributable to:
ZN/NG IS Equity shareholders of the
Company 47,024 91,852
JEPE AR FE 2 Non-controlling interests 28,356 30,628
FREH Profit for the year 75,380 122,480
FRER Earnings per share
—ERREE - Basic and diluted 11 RMB 0.0463 RMB 0.0904
AR#¥0.04637c ARE0.00047T
£121HE264 8 MM 3 AR &R E 4K The notes on pages 121 to 264 form part of these financial

DH

"h e

statements.

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HE-T-_=f+-_A=+—BILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
(BS=EEBH - AARETFTZS)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

BT —E-=F —TF
Note 2023 2022
ARMTT AREETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
F A=A Profit for the year 75,380 122,480
FREMEEKE Other comprehensive income
for the year
HignEHmoBEaEan AR ¢ ltem that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
HEE S =58 Exchange differences on translation 10 (2,869) (17,026)
FRAHMEEmBE Other comprehensive income
S - = L L (2.869) (17,026
FRAZHEKNEEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 72,511 105,454
THIA L FEL : Attributable to:
/NG 3z Equity shareholders of the Company 43,918 73,781
FEPERR Non-controlling interests 28,593 31,673
FARHEKREEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 72,511 105,454

121 B E264 B KM R AR 75 3R 2k A 4H A The notes on pages 121 to 264 form part of these financial

B o statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

WZZE-_=F+=-A=+—H
At 31 December 2023
(BRBEIEHRIN - UARBFITZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

FitaE —EC=HF B
Note 2023 2022
ARET T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
L EI =Y S Property, plant and equipment 13 1,636,588 1,240,947
T Hb (R Land use rights 13 119,451 125,499
WEEEHE Investment property 13 54,356 53,889
BEEE Intangible assets 9,917 =
RIES AR A R R Interests in equity-accounted investees 15 70,906 68,786
HEe & E Other financial assets 1,948 1,948
IREFIBE E Deferred tax assets 25(c) 5,608 6,071
AT el = BRFR IE Long-term tax recoverable 19 88,149 112,497
HiEmE&E Other non-current assets 58,616 59,598
2,045,539 1,669,235
RBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 16 526,849 671,019
EYEE Biological assets 17 129,957 149,077
FEUE 5 8RR Trade receivables 18 275,569 239,110
H b FE UG IE R TR RUE Other receivables and prepayments 19 276,647 310,562
He MREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 20 526,940 532,274
R TF R Restricted deposits 20 2,449 =
1,738,411 1,902,042
nEBEE Current liabilities
B E SRR Trade payables 21 506,995 472,025
HAb e FRIE Other payables 22 308,744 328,568
EHEE Contract liabilities 10,285 20,756
FFEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 23 276,269 107,448
HEAE Lease liabilities 24 1,687 2,001
FE PSR Income tax payable 25(a) 7,319 9,928
________________________________________________________________________________________ 1111,299 940,726
n@BEEFE 0000 Net current assets 627,112 961,316
EEABERABEE Total assets less current liabilities 2,672,651 2,630,551

F121BEE264 B MM AR HIRFKAHE

The notes on pages 121 to 264 form part of these financial
statements.

116
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZTE-_=%+—-HA=+—H

At 31 December 2023

(B BEHBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

BT —E-=F —TF
Note 2023 2022
AR®F T AREETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREERE Non-current liabilities
FATEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 23 253,810 269,792
HEAE Lease liabilities 24 29,338 29,716
EEFIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 25(c) 8,490 7,936
291,638 307,444
EEFE Net assets 2,381,013 2,323,107
B Capital and reserves
&N Share capital 26(c) 97,920 97,920
G Reserves 26(d) 947,254 944,706
IR s A Retained profits 1,070,140 1,028,770
RARRRELEREE Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 2,115,314 2,071,396
FEERR R A Non-controlling interests 265,699 251,711
ERAE Total equity 2,381,013 2,323,107

KREFSN T -NF= AN\ BHERR#E Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 8

FJEE o March 2024.
2RE BXRE
James Chun-Hsien Wei Han Chia-Yin
FE HITEE
Chairman Executive director

121 B E264 B KM R AR 75 3R 2k A 4H A The notes on pages 121 to 264 form part of these financial

B o statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-T-_=F+-A=1+—BLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
(B=EEBH - UARKETFTZS)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

ROFRRERL
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

R&  BOEE  AREE  fREE  EXBE  8REA At FEREE  BREE

Non-
Share Share Merger ~ Statutory  Translation Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserves reserve profits Total interests equity
Mt (Mfakoelel)  (Wvskoe(d)i) (HiEE26lo)) (HvsEae(alil) —(Fvteld)liv)
Note  (note26(c)) (note 26(d)(i)) (note 26(d)iil} (note 26{d)(ii)) (note 26(d)(iv))
RZF-"%t-F  Balanceat 31 December 2022
=t-Bfis 97,920 583,596 396,064 w19 (177,0m3) 1,028,770 2,071,396 21,11 2323107
Eiah Profit for the year - - - - - 47,004 47,04 28,356 75,380
Efp 2@k Other comprehensive income 10 - - - - (3,106) - (3,106) 31 (2,869)
ERE2ARELE  Tota comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 3,106) 47,024 43918 28593 1251
HHBRALERE  Proftdistrbutions to minorty
{ELRHENR shareholders of subsidiaries 26b) - - - - - - - (14591) (14591)
Vv Statutory reserves - - - 5,654 - (5,654) - - -
HEkARER Disposal of non-controling nterests - - - - - - - (14) (14)
RZZZ=ZFF2F  Balanceat31 December 2023
—T-BHER 97,920 583,596 396,064 141,113 (180,179) 1,070,140 2,115,314 265,699 2,381,013

5
N
o
i

264 B HI T 51 AN B IS 3k AR K The notes on pages 121 to 264 form part of these financial

7B o statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HE_T_=F+_A=1+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

® O
® @
&

ARARRES
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

R BOER  eFERE  ARBE  EiBR EREW A FEREE  BREE

Non-
Share Share Merger Statutory ~ Translation Retained controlling Total
capital premium eserve 1EServes Teserve profits Total nterests equity
iz (Fskoslc)  (Hsbaeiali)  (izzaealii) — (hisk2elaltin) — (PHEE26(liv)
Note (note 26(cl)  (note 26(c)fi)  (note 26(a)il)  (note 261clfii)  (note 26(c)(iv)
RZZ-—FF-F  Balanceat 31 December 2021
=Bk 97920 583,59 396,064 128,966 (159,002) 950,071 1,997,615 21,932 2,269,547
EREH Profit for the year - = = = - 91,852 91852 30,628 122,480
Ho2Ehs Other comprehensive income 10 - - - - (18,071) = (18,071) 1,045 17,026)
FRRENGEE  Total comprehensive income
for the year - - = = (18,071) 91,852 73,781 31673 105,454
FrRERTE Capital contribution from non-
controling interests - - - - - - - (5,032) (5,032)
HHBRALERE  Proftdistributions to minoity
fELRAENR shareholders of subsidiaries 26(0) - - - - - - - (46,862) (46,862
iy 1] Statutory reserves - - - 13,153 = 13153 = = =
RIZZFF2F  Balanceat 31 December 2022
= it 97,920 583,596 396,064 wne 07 10870 207139 BT 2303107

121 B E264 B KM R AR 75 3R 2k A 4H A The notes on pages 121 to 264 form part of these financial

B o statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HE-T-_=F+-A=1+—BLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
(B=EEBH - UARKETFTZS)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

—N

i —BCDZ=F T —F
Note 2023 2022
ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BT Operating activities
KETHMEES Cash generated from operations 20(b) 419,514 353,201
BATSH Income tax paid 25(a) (12,262) (12,037)
RETEMBRSTRE Net cash generated from operating
activities 407,252 341,164
RETH Investing activities
BT & Interest received 10,709 13,723
BEWE - BERRERNK Payment for purchases of property,
plant and equipment (546,279) (375,213)
HeEME - BENRESHKE  Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 6,569 13,762
PR 1) 14 75 SR A 0 Increase in restricted deposits (2,449) °
RETEMARS TR Net cash used in investing activities (531,450) (347,728)
BEEE Financing activities
B e 2 ERID Capital element of lease rentals paid (2,765) (3,901)
2fRHEE 2 FEF D Interest element of lease rentals paid 13 (1,504) (1,562)
BRFLE Interest paid (15,375) (9,716)
EENENEES S Profit distributions paid to minority
YEH BRI 2R shareholders of subsidiaries (14,591) (46,862)
FGIRTE RIS HIR Proceeds from new bank loans 1,431,788 698,776
EREE Repayment of borrowings (1,278,949) (719,423)
S FH B A B SEERR Capital payment to non-controlling
A AREE equity owners of subsidiaries - (5,032)
RUESEEI TS, (FTA)IREF4E  Net cash generated from/(used in)
S 1t RO 118604 | (87,7200
RERBEEBYWRFE Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (5,594) (94,284)
REYNZEERRSZEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 532,274 625,059
EREFBNTE Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 260 1,499
RERZEERBESEZEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year 20 526,940 532,274
F121BEE264 B MM AR HIRFKAHE The notes on pages 121 to 264 form part of these financial

DH

A statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(RSB  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

GENERAL INFORMATION

DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 May 2007 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group” and
individually as the “Group entity”) primarily is involved in
the manufacturing and trading of livestock feeds, poultry

and chilled meat and processed food.

The Company publicly offered its shares on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 4 October
2007.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs"”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). A summary of the material
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out

below.
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2 WA S S () 2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (continued)

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group and
the Company. Note 2(e) provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial

statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries and the Group's interest in

associates and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies

set out below:

- derivative financial instruments are measured at

fair value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

I[tems included in the financial statements of each
entity in the Group are measured using the currency
that best reflects the economic substance of the
underlying events and circumstances relevant to
that entity (“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") (“presentation currency”), which is different
from the functional currency of the Company. The
Company’s functional currency is United Stated
dollars (“USD"). The functional currency of those
subsidiaries in People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
is RMB. As its principal subsidiaries are located
in PRC, the directors of the Company consider
that it is appropriate to present the consolidated
financial statements in RMB. All financial information
presented in RMB has been rounded to the nearest

thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(d)

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of accounting policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimates are revised and in any future

periods affected.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are disclosed in note 30.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs to these financial statements for the current

accounting period:

° IFRS 17, Insurance contracts

o Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:

Definition of accounting estimates

° Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2,
Making materiality judgements: Disclosure of

accounting policies

° Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes. Deferred
tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a

single transaction

° Amendments to |AS 12, /ncome taxes:

International tax reform — Pillar Two model rules

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been

prepared or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or

interpretation that is not yet effective for the current

accounting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of consolidation

@

(ii)

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations
using the acquisition method when control is
transferred to the Group (see note 3(a)(ii)). The
consideration transferred in the acquisition is
generally measured at fair value, as are the
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill
that arises is tested annually for impairment.
Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised
in income statement immediately. Transaction
costs are expensed as incurred, except if related
to the issue of debt or equity securities.

The consideration transferred does not include
amounts related to the settlement of pre-
existing relationships. Such amounts are
generally recognised in income statement.

Any contingent consideration payable is
measured at fair value at the acquisition date.
If the contingent consideration is classified as
equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement
is accounted for within equity. Otherwise,
subsequent changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration are recognised in
income statement.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held
by the Group and other parties) are considered.
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3 HEREFFEUR (%) 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HREHEYE ) (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

i) MR L AR IR i ()

(ii)  Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
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An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-Group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-Group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of

impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in a subsidiary not attributable directly or
indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional

R BUSE AR B R ER terms with the holders of those interests which
ZENEEMABEERIE would result in the Group as a whole having
R =./:|\,’JEE MEFEH a contractual obligation in respect of those
aftms @ REBEREER interests that meets the definition of a financial
’&jﬂﬁfﬁiﬁz#? A& ER A liability. For each business combination, the

M AR AIBAIFEE L
It B FEER RS -

Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the

subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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3 HEREFFEUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HREHEEYE () (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(i) BB A R FE A ()

(ii)  Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

128
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Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated income statement and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company. Loans
from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these
holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with notes 3(l) or (m) depending

on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made

to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 3(a)(iv)) or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an

associate or joint venture (see note 3(a)(iii)).

In the Company's statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment losses (see note 3(f)
(i), unless the investment is classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal Group that is
classified as held for sale).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group
or Company has significant influence, but not
control or joint control, over its management,
including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.
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3 HEREFFEUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HREHEEYE () (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iii) FE L ALK G E LA () (iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)
SENBIR—EBTHE B A joint venture is an arrangement whereby
It - ANEEE AR B EE A the Group or Company and other parties
FEEAEHESZIIBE contractually agree to share control of the
HREIEHIRE - WA A arrangement, and have rights to the net assets
FEEE o of the arrangement.

REEEARIHEERE 2R An investment in an associate or a joint venture
BRI AN RSV BHRE is accounted for in the consolidated financial
AR - BRIEZIE DR statements under the equity method, unless
EHE (EF A D B RIFIE it is classified as held for sale (or included in
HE 2 HEHT) o REE a disposal Group that is classified as held for
mE o REFRE AR sale). Under the equity method, the investment
iR - WIEASEREG2KRA is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
AU S R EAR B R B excess of the Group's share of the acquisition-
ZARBEBHEREKAE date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
ZERMNE) EL AR - & assets over the cost of the investment (if any).
1% WEDBASEEGS Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
RATWER 2 FEEZS post acquisition change in the Group's share of
MEKERB 2 EARE the investee's net assets and any impairment
518 (R EE3(f) (i) 1EH 33 loss relating to the investment (see note 3(f)
B o REENERE BT (ii). At each reporting date, the Group assesses
HELARBERETIRE whether there is any objective evidence that
IR RE o WUEE B BRRR A the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-
A2 EAZERE - NEEEG date excess over cost, the Group's share of
2R A RRUEEER RRTE the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
EEARFREMREESE investees and any impairment losses for the
ThRbrE BRI IER - A year are recognised in the consolidated income
EEREZRABIRIEER statement, whereas the Group's share of the
EEBiEEMmEEREEE post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
DR E 2 ER=E R AR other comprehensive income is recognised in
R o the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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3 HEREFFEUR (%) 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HREHEYE ) (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iii) A LNAIR G E L A (FE) (iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)
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N

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose,
the Group's interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates and joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa,
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 EAGFHEOR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HREHEEYE () (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)
(iii) FE L ALK G E LA () (iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)
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In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate or
joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date

when significant influence or joint control is lost

132
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is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
of a financial asset (see note 3(a)(iv)).

In the Company's statement of financial
position, investments in associates and joint
venture are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 3(f)(ii)), unless classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal Group
that is classified as held for sale).
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3 HEREFFEUR (%) 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HREHEYE ) (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(v) BIRAZBFIIAMLEE

(iv)  Other investments in equity securities

REERANTYRAES
1RF 0B S TR (A A
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EREEBRIBATIHAA
IR ERRTFESEME °

The Group's and the Company’s policies for
investments in equity securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint

ventures, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are recognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase the
investment. The investments are initially stated
at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 29(g). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iv)  Other investments in equity securities (continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only
be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’'s perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised
in profit or loss as other income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses (see note 3(f)(ii)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over
freehold or leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the

property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying

plant and equipment (see note 3(c)).
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-

constructed assets includes the following:

the cost of materials and direct labour;

- any other costs directly attributable to bringing
the assets to a working condition for their

intended use;

- when the Group has an obligation to remove
the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located;

and capitalised borrowing costs (see note 3(v)).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment (calculated as the difference
between the net proceeds from disposal and the
carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit

and loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is
probable that the future economic benefits associated

with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as

follows:

- Land use rights are depreciated over the unexpired term of lease.

- 2F
- Buildings

- HERF

- Leasehold building

- NG

- Plant and machinery

- Bt - HBERRE

- Furniture, fittings and equipment
- e

— Motor vehicles

- Hib b AEEE

- Other right-of-use assets

% BELRERE B
E’Uﬂ@iﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂxﬂ - RIRZIAE &Y
RAREBEERZR D 2E5
B BHO0RANE - BENA
ERAFHEERNGBERWAE)E
FEH -

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

2-254F

2 — 25 years
1-16%F
1-15 years
10-124F

10 - 12 years
5-64F

5 -6 years
4-55

4 -5 years
1-3%F

1 -3 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,

are reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress represents office buildings,
various infrastructure projects under construction and
equipment pending installation, and is measured at
cost less impairment losses (see note 3(f)(ii)). Cost
comprises direct costs of construction and the initial
estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on which
it is located during the periods of construction and
installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and
the construction in progress is transferred to property,
plant and equipment when the asset is substantially
ready for its intended use, notwithstanding any delays
in the issue of the relevant commissioning certificates

by the relevant authorities.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction
in progress until it is completed and ready for its
intended use.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.
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3 HEREFFEUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(c) MEEE () (c) Leased assets (continued)
@ TEAAERA (i)  As alessee

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

3!55@‘ R 5 B
ia?ﬁ$ A 3E M & 47 B ED
7 WHtFTARE ﬂcﬁ =
HERE D KRB E

Where the contract contains lease components
and non-lease components, the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single

HREH T ERE—HER lease component for all leases.
BEB S o
REERBBE - AEERE At the lease commencement date, the Group

RERBREEREERE
(ERERA12E BT

recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease

liability, except for short-term leases that have

WEEERSAEEMS a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
FEAEWARANKEEE of low-value assets which, for the Group are
EHRERIN) - REBEFE primarily office furniture. When the Group

BEBEEVHER - A%
EgHEEERERDRK
ZHEEAAE - EREARE
B SRR A E N R
HIA RS RERR/FAX -

enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense
on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(¢) Leased assets (continued)

@)

As a lessee (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment

losses (see note 3(b)).
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Leased assets (continued)

@)

As a lessee (continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits
is accounted for separately from the right-of-use
assets in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in debt securities
carried at amortised cost (see notes 3(s)(ii) and
3(f)(i)). Any difference between the initial fair
value and the nominal value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments
made and is included in the cost of right-of-use

assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from
the reassessment of whether the Group will
be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to

Zero.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(¢) Leased assets (continued)

@)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
("lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term lease
liabilities is determined as the present value of
contractual payments that are due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting period.
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3 HEREFFEUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(c) MEEE () (c) Leased assets (continued)

i) TEZMHAIA

(i)  As a lessor

142

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines
at lease inception whether each lease is a
finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is

classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is
recognised in accordance with note 3(s)(iv).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or as
an operating lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in note
3(c)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as

an operating lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d) Land use rights

The purchase costs of land use rights are amortised
on a straight-line basis over the period of land
use rights. Land use rights are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see
note 3(f)(ii).

(e) Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or

developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initially
recognition, investment properties are at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets

@

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on trade and
other receivables. Equity securities measured at
FVPL are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the

effect of discounting is material:

- trade and other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition or an approximation
thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate;

- discount rate used in the measurement of

the lease receivable;
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

@)

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future

economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the

items to which the ECL model applies.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

@

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables is always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

@)

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; and

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment

that have an adverse effect on the debtor.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on a
collective basis. The financial instruments
are Grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

@

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a

loss allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of trade and other
receivables is written off (either partially or
in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the

period in which the recovery occurs.
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3 HEREFFEUR (%) 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
O R E R () (f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) HAYEE (ii)  Impairment of other assets
REEREREAREFHA Internal and external sources of information
EHRINBERAR + LARETE are reviewed at the end of each reporting
AT B E =S 7 ERE T period to identify indications that the following
xR KERIERNREEE assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
R TNEFESATREE AR previously recognised no longer exists or may
A have decreased:

- BE - BEISRE - property, plant and equipment, including
PREEAREE (K right-of-use assets (other than property
EHEEIROYE carried at revalued amounts);

BRAN)

— AR —  land use rights;

- EMEE - biological assets;

—  RIBARINKE - investments in subsidiaries; and
54

- REERARREER - interest in associates and joint ventures.
AR ©

WFE A Lains - BIE If any such indication exists, the asset’s

ER P E S S TEE o recoverable amount is estimated.
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3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)  Impairment of other assets (continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest Group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit). A portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (for
example, head office building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if the
allocation can be done on a reasonable and
consistent basis, or to the smallest Group
of cash-generating units if otherwise.
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3 HEREFFEUR (%) 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

() 5B IR R A A ()

(f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) HAh & e ()

(ii)  Impairment of other assets (continued)

— HRREERE Recognition of impairment losses
MEEXEMBR® An impairment loss is recognised in
EABAMREER income statement if the carrying amount
i@ E AT Bl & R - of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to

AIME 2 R RERORL
BFE - -RREEL
B ERHBEESRE
BT UADE - REH
MR B (HZE
4R AE M E E
MAREE @ HERXEE

which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or Group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that

the carrying value of an asset will not be

FEREENERER reduced below its individual fair value less
REE R A 7 EER costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
EHEKAR (InEEE in use (if determinable).
=) EAEA (e
BE) -

— RBEREERE Reversals of impairment losses
MR EEE E AT U B An impairment loss is reversed if there has
EMEE LR EEA been a favourable change in the estimates
21 BlggERE used to determine the recoverable
&8 - amount.
B 1B M) (B S 18 (2 A reversal of an impairment loss is
RABEATFEL limited to the asset’s carrying amount
R R B B R R R that would have been determined had no
EEETNEEERE impairment loss been recognised in prior
B - PR RIEE years. Reversals of impairment losses
BEERBRNEE are credited to profit or loss in the year in

s AfBE -

which the reversals are recognised.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 HEREFFEUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
O R E R () (f)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)
(i) TR ES IR A5 R s (e (iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment
BE ETRA] - REEAR Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
BRI 5HERIE 345 prepare an interim financial report in compliance
B S SRE SR ERE E N with IAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in
& A R rp BB IS s o 1 respect of the first six months of the financial
FPHEATEAER - ANEEERAR year. At the end of the interim period, the
M S SRR R ER A 2 [ Group applies the same impairment testing,
—REAIE - R R recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
4 (R RES() ) B (i) © the end of the financial year (see notes 3(f)(i)
and (ii)).
(e &R (g) Biological assets
EYEEBERNE  ARERE Biological assets include broilers, broiler breeder
B BRARR 2R EEEI eggs, breeder poultry, and are stated at cost less
BEEBR TR EER R HT any accumulated impairment losses and where
AR - B ER PO A R R AR AR AR R appropriate, less any accumulated depreciation,
HEARBEEEEAEE - which the costs are not materially different from the
fair value due to short production cycle.
EMBENRABIEEBEER The cost of biological assets comprises its purchase
REEEMEEMEENTME price and any costs attributable in raising the
A e biological assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(€9)

(h)

Biological assets (continued)

For biological assets stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses,
the depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
method to write off the cost of these biological assets
over their estimated productive period of 9 months.
The expected productive period of these biological
assets is reviewed regularly, and adjusted when
appropriate. The carrying values of these biological
assets are reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in the circumstances indicate that the

carrying values may not be fully recoverable.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs

necessary to make the sale.
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3 EAEEHBOR ()

(h)

@
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

)

Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as

an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 3(s)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL)
in accordance with the policy set out in note 3(f)(i) and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see note
30).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 3(s)). A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 3(j)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

@

(k)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract

asset (see note 3(i)).

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant financing component and other receivables
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method,
and including an allowance for credit losses (see note
3(f)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’'s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in
accordance with the policy set out in note 3(f)(i).
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3 HEREFFEUR () 3
o EHEEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

)

(m)

(n)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in income
statement over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective

interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and
other payables are stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in

which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Financial instruments

(i) Non-derivative financial assets and financial

liabilities — recognition and derecognition

The Group initially recognises loans and
receivables and debt securities issued on the
date when they are originated. All other financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially

recognised on the trade date.



3 EAEEHBOR ()

(n) S TH (8)

@

T T4 < B K < A
17— TERH R AS AL A3 ()

AEEeREERFRRER
REeEEY  BRESER
Ko EL At FEWURRIE A K% FE UL 28
BT EOR o B A EERER
ERENENERRERE
EREEERAREEHER
BEMNMBENEBARI R
BREHER - MSREE
RIEFER - MR IEFER SR
BER  BEREERMK
BeRERAMENZEIN
BERTHER

AEETRAERRETEE
B ENESERARELE
IR - LA R FE AN BRI 77 3K
o eRBEREGREAHN
R B EEERRR - BUHSKE
TR AR L ERERR o AR I RERRAY
TREERIEREDNRE
e Z R IE R

7
o

® 060
® 060
FARE SRR M

Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n) Financial instruments (continued)

@

Non-derivative financial assets and tinancial liabilities

— recognition and derecognition (continued)

The Group's financial assets include cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
and amounts due from related parties. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or,
the financial assets are transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received is
recognised in income statement.

Financial liabilities of the Group include interest-
bearing borrowings, trade and other payables,
and amounts due to related parties. Financial
liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in income statement.

— &= = F 53R Annual Report 2023

® 60
® 060

157



158

o 0 00O
00 00
B S R M

Notes to the Financial Statements
(B BHEHEIBIN - IARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 EAEEHBOR ()

()

(0)

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

&b TR (%)

(i) AR T A

TEERMTARR S ARA
REENIHER  TREH
SHRREHEEAAEE -
BNEEAAEBEMELN
B MERRAER o

JeAR

BT ERR Y BB R E R
AR HIR IR E B
) -

i [] R AT A

EROERAEE ZRA - A
RESE (BREREBGEKA)N
BB ERER S AR
HBR R - BRRO WD B R E
EEROE2FINEE FEE o B
B EREMETEFRMDE -
PR & SR HERR R 48 0 - Bt
HEENR 5B HRNEAR DR

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

(0)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i1)  Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised
initially at fair value on trade date. At the
end of each reporting period the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement
to fair value is recognised immediately in

income statement.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares, net of any tax effects, are recognised

as a deduction from equity.

Redemption and reissue of ordinary shares

When shares recognised as equity are repurchased,
the amount of the consideration paid, which includes
directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is
recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased
shares are classified as treasury shares and are
presented in the redemption reserve. \WWhen treasury
shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount
received is recognised as an increase in equity, and
the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is
presented within share premium.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p) Employee benefits

@)

(i)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are

stated at their present values.

Contributions to appropriate local defined
contribution retirement schemes pursuant to
the relevant labour rules and regulations are

recognised as an expense when they are due.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in share-
based payment reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using the
binomial lattice model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.
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(i)

(iii)

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(111)

Share-based payments (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the profit or loss for the year of the review,
unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payment reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payment reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the Company’s
shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
share-based payment reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option expires

(when it is released directly to retained profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
it recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(q)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that it relates to a business combination,

or items recognised directly in equity, in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current
tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the
tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is
measured, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is
not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences;
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3 HEREFHEIEUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(@) Prfest () (q) Income tax (continued)
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- temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture
to the extent that the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined
based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted
for reversals of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are
reversed when the probability of future taxable profits

improves.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(q)

(r)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if

certain criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of

the provision.
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(B BHEHEIBIN - IARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 EAGFHEOR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(s) WA (s) Revenue recognition
WA T IRE WK ERARER AR Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
BEE - RELENZE 8 consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
MAREE - A RS (2A3E probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
FA)RERI SERTEE - WA BT Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can
P AEERRER be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the

income statement as follows:

i HEESE (i)  Sale of goods
W ATE 22 o sk AR 7S 04 il e Revenue is recognised when control over
R ER B TR AR A R ER Y a product or service is transferred to the
ERESHE(TRERERSE customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
=HRBHNER BBER asset, at the amount of promised consideration
P SR AN EREREE to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
iR o AT B IEIGER excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
SAEMSHER - WAMRE third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax
A& S - or other sales taxes and is after deduction of

any trade discounts.

i) FLEILA (ii)  Interest income
FIBMWARGRFFIRAER Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
R ERER the effective interest method.

164  xme® (T#M) BFR2 T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)  Government grants

(i)

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in the income
statement on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and consequently are
effectively recognised in the income statement
over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in the income statement in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in
income statement as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 EAEEHBOR (8) 3
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v) EHHE

BB WA R HARF b5 A

7
2

B

t A
i)  SMELS

SNERZ HIR3X 5 A H 2 [E R
BEAASEERRNEE
HE o

WiE BHRINETHEZ &
KEERABRERERXS
MIMERNEEER - ROA
EEENIINEHENIFE
BEENABRZAAEE
EEMEXBRE/YESR
% o SNEER—MRNBER
FERR o LASNE FIME SRR 2K
At EMIFEIRE TEE

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (continued)

(v)  Management fees

Management fees income is recognised when

the related services are rendered.

(t) Foreign currencies

@

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
to the respective functional currencies of Group
entities at exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated to the
functional currency at the exchange rate at
the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair
value was determined. Foreign currency
differences are generally recognised in income
statement. Non-monetary items that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign

currency are not translated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(t)  Foreign currencies (continued)

@)

(i)

Foreign currency transactions (continued)

However, foreign currency differences arising
from the translation of the following items are

recognised in other comprehensive income:

available-for-sale equity investments
(except on impairment, in which case
foreign currency differences that have
been recognised in other comprehensive

income are reclassified to profit or loss);

- a financial liability designated as a
hedge of the net investment in a foreign
operation to the extent that the hedge is

effective; or

- qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent

that the hedges are effective.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisition, are translated into RMB
at exchange rates at the reporting date. The
income and expenses of foreign operations,
excluding foreign operations in hyperinflationary
economies, are translated into RMB at the

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
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(B BHEHEIBIN - IARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 HEREFHEIEUR () 3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
t) AW (F) (t) Foreign currencies (continued)

(i) FHPETE (48)

(ii) ~ Foreign operations (continued)

168
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SN =R A 2 D e e
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s 5 RY B35 2R 5t B IR
RAJREAE B RUUBINETS 2
EHIRE - ZEWFIREAR
RE BN EIFRIREFE
ZABELMINEZERE
b2 ERSER BB
Bl o

Foreign currency differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income, and accumulated
in the translation reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to

non-controlling interests.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its
entirety or partially such that control, significant
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the translation reserve related to
that foreign operation is reclassified to profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
If the Group disposes of part of its interest
in a subsidiary that retains control, then the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reattributed to non-controlling interests. When
the Group disposes of only part of an associate
or joint venture while retaining significant
influence or joint control, the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit
or loss.

If the settlement of a monetary item receivable
from a foreign operation is neither planned nor
likely to occur in the foreseeable future, such
receivables is deemed as a net investment
in that foreign operation. Foreign currency
differences arising from such item are
recognised as “translation reserve” in other

comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(v)

Research and development costs

Research and development costs comprise all
costs that are directly attributable to research and
development activities or that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis to such activities. Because of the
nature of the Company's or the Group's research
and development activities, no development costs
satisfy the criteria for the recognition of such costs
as an asset. Both research and development costs
are therefore recognised as expenses in the period in
which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.

— &= = F 53R Annual Report 2023

® ¢
e

169



170

® 060 00
00 00
B S R M

Notes to the Financial Statements
(B BHEHEIBIN - IARETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w) Related parties

(i)

(ii)

A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

- has control or joint control over the Group;

- has significant influence over the Group;
or

- is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's

parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

- The entity and the Group are members of
the same Group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others);

- One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which

the other entity is a member);

- Both entities are joint ventures of the

same third party;
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w) Related parties (continued)

(ii)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

- One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

- The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

- The entity is controlled or jointly controlled

by a person identified in (i).

- A person identified in (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the

entity (or of a parent of the entity).

- The entity, or any member of a Group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the

Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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3 EAEEHBOR ()

x)

y)

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(x)

(y)

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per
share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings
per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares
held. Diluted earnings per share is determined by
adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares
held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares, which comprise share options granted to

employees.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated

if they share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

TURNOVER

The principal activities of the Group include manufacturing
and trading of livestock feeds, poultry and chilled meats
and processed food. Further details regarding the Group's
principal activities are disclosed in note 12 to these financial

statements.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

by major product lines is as follows:

—E-=F —E-F

2023 2022

ARET T ARETTT

RMB’'000 RMB'000

HEBR Sales of chicken meats 1,832,717 1,703,038
HEBE MR Sales of livestock feeds 2,263,279 2,340,369
HENTRM Sales of processed food 2,322,970 2,151,768
6,418,966 6,195,175

AEBNEFERZ T EPY T
HER ZBAAEBLERA10%HF
F - ARBEFEANFEERRETZ
FHEE N E29(a) ©

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes
no customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10
percent of the Group's turnover. Details of concentrations
of credit risk arising from the Group’s customers are set
out in note 29(a).
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

5 HibREBARH bR, S OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND

(E518) OTHER NET GAIN/(LOSS)
—EB-=F T —F
2023 2022
AR¥ETT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
Hobsez g A Other operating income
FMEMA Interest income 10,709 13,723
ERAT 5D Government grants 8,074 25,139
e A Rental income 6,409 7,601
25,192 46,463
HeibFuss (&i8) Other net gain/(loss)
SNEU S (B518) FE Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 242 (2,156)
HEME - BEMEEF Net loss on disposal of property,
&8 plant and equipment (6,577) (5,996)
Y%~ BB REERERD Impairment reversed of property,
(PF3£E13) plant and equipment (note 13) 3,308 6,831
Hth Others 3,344 (4,600)
317 (5,921)

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

R e Al i A1) 6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

BREADE A TR A N S IR EE

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

—E-=F —E-F

2023 2022
ARETT AREBTIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
(a) BIEBE (a) Finance costs
ERAFRNEHEE Interest on bank borrowings wholly
MERITIE EFIE repayable within five years 16,234 9,716
HESEFE Interest on lease liabilities 1,504 1,562
17,738 11,278
(b) BIFAK (b) Staff costs
Fe I8 %5 Salaries, wages, bonuses and other
NEMEF benefits 666,861 637,853
RIREFIFT B3R Contributions to retirement schemes 34,763 34,017
701,624 671,870

REBMEREBREARLME ([F The Group is required to participate in pension schemes

B ERmBUT &M eRRE5E - B
REBREBFEANENE R KR
EERETEREER  £16% (=F
ZZF 1 16%) WP AT EREE S
FREBRSHRK o B Ll FE -
SR B P B B BRI R AR E
EREL

organised by the respective municipal governments of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") whereby the Group
is required to pay annual contributions for PRC based
employees at a rate of 16 percent (2022: 16 percent) of the
standard wages determined by the relevant authorities in
the PRC during the year. The Group has no other material
obligation for payment of retirement benefits to the
PRC based employees beyond the annual contributions
described above.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group is
required to make contributions to the scheme at 6 percent
(2022: 6 percent) of the employees’ relevant income and
its employees are required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5 percent (2022: 5 percent) of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest

immediately.

Save for the above schemes, the Group has no other
material obligation for payment of retirement benefits
beyond the contributions.
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6 o 5t v e A (4) 6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
(¢ HiwEH (¢) Other items
—E-=F =T —F
2023 2022
AR®F T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
ZEEN BN & Auditors’ remuneration
— FEZERG — annual audit services 3,700 3,700
— H b fR7% — other services 120 700
3,820 4,400
weEX N Depreciation charge
—BEVE  BEREHE — owned property, plant and equipment 121,635 123,413
—(EREEE — right-of-use assets 5,877 8,688
— B EEHE — investment property 2,748 2,722
130,260 134,823
EYEENE Depreciation of biological assets 8,192 12,312
BHEREWE SR CREE (Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment
BEE) RIERE losses of trade receivables recognised (1,252) 2,638
FEEMUR, MURBELIFE)  Write-down/(net reversal of write-down)
of inventory 8,057 (4,838)
SRR Research and development costs 798 721
FEKA* Cost of inventories* 5,743,386 5,446,132
* FERABREBEBEEINA - i & Cost of inventories includes RMB535,004,000 (2022:
B R E Y A R#535,004,000 RMB524,507,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and
T(ZZTZZF : ARK amortization expenses, which amount is also included in the
524,507,0007T) * BREEEIN respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in note 6(b)
AR £ M6 (b) BB iR R for each of these types of expenses.
MNZESHEIRAINSIRREE
m °
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7 HEBEENZ IR 7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT
(a) #HREBmERAZHIERE : (a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement
represents:

—E-=F T F

2023 2022
ARMTT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EHRiE Current tax
FNEE Provision for the year 9,912 11,623
BEEFHEME (B%), /TR (Over)/under-provision in respect
of prior years (259) 227
9,653 11,750
EETIE Deferred tax
TR EENEERED Origination and reversal of temporary
_EE2eb) . differencesnote25() ... .07 3042
TIEE H Tax expense 10,670 14,792
() BERSHSIEBRELE (i)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
S(RBEZHS])RHA Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands
BRI - REBHARFE (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income
BHENEBEZHSHME tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.
RIFTISHL ©

178  Akm®A&S (TM) HHRA DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(@) Taxation in the consolidated income statement

represents: (continued)

(ii)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for
2023 is calculated at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) of
the estimated assessable profits for the year,
except for one subsidiary of the Group which
is qualifying corporation under the two-tiered
Profits Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax
for this subsidiary was calculated at the same
basis in 2022.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for
2023 takes into account a reduction granted
by the Hong Kong SAR Government of 100%
of the tax payable for the year of assessment
2022/23 subject to a maximum reduction of
HK$6,000 for each business (2022: a maximum
reduction of HK$10,000 was granted for the
year of assessment 2021/22 and was taken into
account in calculating the provision for 2022).
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7 HHBERNZIEB(E) 7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(a) HZEBERAZHIEIE : (B) (a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement

represents: (continued)

(i) WEPECEMETEER (i) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations
VAR REA - AKEET of the PRC, the Group entities incorporated in
NG ENEAE I AVAE IR N the PRC are liable to PRC Corporate Income Tax
AIAIE25% (ZE =4 : at a rate of 25 percent during the year (2022: 25
25%) Bl AP B 1 2 percent), except for Dongbei Agri (Changchun)
s RILRB(ER) A Co., Ltd. (“DBC-CC"). DBC-CC is subject to a
RAEN(MRIEERH(ER) D) preferential tax rate of 15% (2022: 25%), as
BIBRSN - RIL B (KFH) 5 it has obtained the new high-tech enterprise
HRERZZE - —FHS= qualification since 2022.

IR EER - WHEAR
15% (=B = =4 : 25%)
BB RAMATIE -

180  xme® (M) B2 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting

profit at applicable tax rates:

—BC-=F =T —F
2023 2022
ARET T AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
B 75 A A Profit before taxation 86,050 137,272
LR MEMSHFIE25%  Income tax calculated at PRC's Corporate
ST ER AT Income Tax rate of 25%* 21,513 34,318
RIS e [ A Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
WEARMTERENEZE  operating in different tax jurisdictions 1,021 2,357
AR H S 2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1,213 537
BERBRANR G E Tax effect of non-taxable income (25,832) (25,172)
RUERFR TS B8 S RS I 2= & Tax effect of the movement of tax losses
FEHBETE and temporary difference not recognised 13,014 2,625
BEBFENBEGBZ), /T2 (Over)/under-provision in respect of
prior years (259) 227
EEBIEMY Actual tax expense 10,670 14,792
* 26% (ZF =% : 26%) {8 Hi * The income tax rate of 25 percent (2022: 25 percent)

BEEARE T BEEMERE
R EHBIE o

represents the domestic tax rate in the jurisdiction where the
operations of the Group are substantially based.
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8§ HHME 8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
BEEB R LN 383G R AR (# Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
BESMmAER) BB 23045 E TR of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
ZEEMENT Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

—®-=
2023
e 28
REWEF 3N
Salaries, BEE
EZH4E  allowances BfEf4  Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme @zt
fees in kind bonuses  contribution Total

ARBTR  AREWTRT ARBTR ARBTR  AR®TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

IE Chairmans

EHRE James Chun-Hsien Wei - 2,039 790 28 2,857
HITES Executive director

BEXE Han Chia-Yin - 240 - - 240
BUFHTES Independent

Non-executive directors
BOAEHT - R=Z =% Chen Chih (Resigned,

NAZTRER with effect from 30 June 2023) 90 - - - 20
BAE B RN=F== Way Yung-Do (Resigned,

FRAZTEER) with effect from 30 June 2023) 20 - - - 20
HT¥ (EZE W-F  LeeTsai, Yu-Ling (Appointed,

“ZEANAZTREN  with effect from 30 June 2023) 90 - - - 20
SHEEZRE R=Z  Kao, Koong-Lian (Appointed,

“ZFEAAZTREN  with effect from 30 June 2023) 20 - - - 20
TEW Ting Yu-Shan 180 - - - 180
BVE Hsia Li-Yan 180 - - - 180
FHITES Non-executive directors
B5% Han Jia-Hwan 135 - - - 135
BRT Han Chia-Yau 135 - - - 135
EXE Chao Tien-Shin 135 - - - 135
EXR Harn Jia-Chen 135 - - - 135
RHZE Wei Anning 136 - - - 136

1,396 2,279 790 28 4,493
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8 HHME (M) 8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
"
2022
e 2
REYEN N
Salaries, HEGE
E=1%  allowances HIETEAL Retirement
Directors'’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme @5t
fees in kind bonuses  contribution Total

ARBETL  ARBTR ARETL ARETE ARETR
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000

£ Chairmans
2B James Chun-Hsien Wei - 2,068 872 27 2,967
HTES Executive director
8RR Han Chia-Yin - 216 - - 216
BUFHTES Independent

Non-executive directors
A Chen Chih 172 - - - 172
BKE Way Yung-Do 172 = = = 172
TEW Ting Yu-Shan 172 - = = 172
BUE Hsia Li-Yan 172 - - - 172

i
i
=)
Hk
et

Non-executive directors

BRE Han Jia-Hwan 129 = = = 129
BXT Han Chia-Yau 129 = = = 129
HAE Chao Tien-Shin 129 = = = 129
BRR Harn Jia-Chen 129 = = = 129
RRE Wei Anning 129 = = = 129

1,333 2,284 872 27 4516
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9 mmHMAL 9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS
AfimmFMALTH  —f (2= Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one
F:—f)REF  HMEERMES (2022: one) is director whose emoluments are disclosed in
EH SR - REBESRNA(ZT_Z note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
F O &REHMA T ZEHMFEBD other four (2022: four) individuals are as follows:
B
—E-=F —E-—F
2023 2022
ARBETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
e RE AN Salaries and other emoluments 4,491 4,322
BIBIEAL Discretionary bonuses 647 1,127
IRIRETBIHEFR Retirement scheme contributions 72 62
5,210 5511
WAL (ZE=—=F : ) &=aHMAL The emoluments of the four (2022: four) individuals with
BN T 58 R - the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

2023 2022
AE AEL
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
0/87021,000,00078 7T HKDO to HKD1,000,000 1 -
1,000,00187C£ 1,500,000/ 7T HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1 1
1,500,001/8 7C 22,000,000/ 7T HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 2 &
FR - AEEBERZZEALTIMAR No emoluments have been paid to these individuals as
I8 - ARSI E N AKREESEAINAK an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
SERIEE) - KEAPMERM 2 /HE - compensation for loss of office during the year.
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10 Al 4 i Wi 4 10 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

B T
2023 2022
BEASE  HEYE KREESE REAeE  BBYE  RikeH
Before-tax Net-of-tax ~ Before-tax Net-of-tax
amount  Tax effect amount amount  Tax effect amount
ARETT ARETR AR®TR ARETT ARETT ARET:
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BENTREMELZ%E:  Exchange differences on
translation of:
— BN E BT ER — financial statements of
overseas entities 7,583 - 7,583 35,092 - 36,092
~AEARPERBE LR ~ intra-Group loans
REFENEEALNT classified as net
B investment in PRC
subsidiaries (i) (10,452) - (10,452) (52,118) - (52,118)
E2EEE Other comprehensive income (2,869) - (2,869) (17,026) = (17,026)

(i) BE-Z-ZFi  ARBREETRH
BARSZMERR ((HEMBARDE
HEBRARBRMER - REARRRE
FUERT([ETDFE - BTFE - &
B E R R EE AR AR ERIRERE
H IR R R A TR E AR -

R-ZZE-—HAF+A=1TH FARAE
SHESERNRRREREKARRQA
RPBEMBARNKRERE  MEE
AR AR EREEERERET ST
TENAI AR -

RZZE=Z=F+=A=+—10 " £H
NAFIRERNIEEFEASNAA
R#626,819,0007T - fHRIE X =58
AR#63,5610,0000 (=T ==
AR¥EB3,058,0007T) E AR E I FE3(1)
FrEt st BUR N A K B iR & RN
Rask AR ERE] -

(i) The Company lent intra-Group loans to certain of the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC (the “PRC subsidiaries”) since
2010. The intra-Group loans were denominated in U.S. dollar (“USD")
and non-interest bearing. The PRC subsidiaries translated the intra-
Group loans to their functional currencies of RMB at the exchange

rate at the reporting date.

On 30 October 2015, the directors of the Company
approved the intra-Group loans form a part of the
Company’s net investment in the PRC subsidiaries, and the
settlement of the intra-Group loans is neither planned nor
likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

The principal amount of the net investment intra-
Group loans was approximately RMB626,819,000 as
at 31 December 2023. Related exchange difference of
RMB63,510,000 (2022: RMB53,058,000) was recorded as
“translation reserve” in the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position, in accordance with the accounting
policy in note 3(t).
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11 F B R A % 8 8 2 11

FRAAREFRFRRBATHBR
BB 32 T R AT S R M58
1R B R AR MET 8
e

(a) 2 B e S A vk

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER
SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted EPS has been based on
the following profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and
weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding
after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential

ordinary shares.

(a) Profit attribute to ordinary shareholders

—EB-=F k=St =
2023 2022

NATEBARAR R FE(E % F  Profit attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company 47,024,000 91,852,000

(b) 38 B IR~ 35 fie B

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares

AR T RR SR Weighted average number of ordinary shares
—EBEC=F - —F
2023 2022
—A—HBEZETHEMAR  Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 1,016,189,000 1,016,189,000
ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂﬂxfﬁﬁﬁbd‘imﬁ%ﬁ Effect of restricted share award scheme - =
R+ A=Z+—HME@®EK  Weighted average number of
DR P IS BB ordinary shares at 31 December 1,016,189,000 1,016,189,000

HEZZ-_=FfK=-ZT=-=
+ZA=+—BLEFE  A%HE
WABTE S LB AT ©
Bt - SREAR RS AT W&
EE o

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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The Group has no dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
Therefore, there was no difference between basic

and diluted earnings per share.
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12  SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are

organised by a mixture of both business lines (products

and services) and geography. In a manner consistent with

the way in which information is reported internally to the

Company's CEO for the purposes of resource allocation

and performance assessment, the Group has presented

the following three reportable segments. No operating

segments have been aggregated to form the following

reportable segments.

Processed food:

Livestock feeds:

Chicken Meat:

The processed food segment produces
and distributes pickled, pre-fried, and
instant food.

The livestock feeds segment
manufactures and distributes complete
feed, base mix and pre-mix for swine,
layer, broiler, duck, and breeder poultry
under the brands of “Dr. Nupak” ([##i72
E=+]), “DaChan” ([ Xf])and “Green
Knight” ([#%8s2=1).

The chicken meat segment carries on
business of broiler farming, hatching of
broiler breeder eggs, contract farming,
processing and marketing of chilled and
frozen chicken meat marketed under the
brand of “DaChan” ([XfX])and “Sisters’
Kitchen” (MEEE ).
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12 AHP R ()

(a)

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

SrEBEAE - ER KA

D BEE RS D HENE
B E 'éfiﬂf BRI
EEERZ 2RO MEEZE
e é%&ﬁ%&

NHEEBRMEBNEERR

BEE  MWEEHREEREM
RABERIN - DHREBRRES
BN HR R RS I G B RIS RS
HENIRR - BT ER KBRS
DEERMIRITEER ©

REWARFAXZTI2EE D BT

EEMHER  ARED AR
BORXKEBRD HEEEE
T EREHEmMELENRAS D
EREATEHRDH -

WE D RN AIERERN
o

BRERERBENND BEMIN -
BREHITE MER M A RAE W
A(BRERIHHEFEER  TER
BHNORER - DEFEHER
T2ZHNBAL BT EEL
HERMAETERE °

12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources among segments, the CEO
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable
to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and
current assets with the exception of deferred tax
assets and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include trade creditors, accruals attributable to the
manufacturing and sales activities of the individual
segments and bank borrowings managed directly by
the segments.

Turnover and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to

those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
gross profit.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning gross profit, the CEO is provided with
segment information concerning turnover (including
inter-segment sales), depreciation and amortisation.
Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to
prices charged to external parties for similar orders.
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12 7 #B 2 4 (48) 12  SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a) ArEBEAR - BB R A () (a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
REE—_T_=FR=-ZT - Information regarding the Group's reportable
T A=+ —HRLEFENERS segments as provided to the CEO for the purposes
RS BRBRAEENTE of resource allocation and assessment of segment
RUEEAAEERE DL 2ER performance for the years ended 31 December 2023

25T and 2022 is set out below:
nIsR EEEH e &if
Processed food Livestock feeds Chicken meat Total

CETcE C§E 0 TSt C§ocE Bt CEooE CECTE CEoE
023 0 03 0 023 0 ik} M
NRRTR ARETT ARRTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETT ARMTR ARETR
RMB000  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOND

RENTEPHERIA Turmoverfom extemalcustomers 23090 Q5768 2283218 2300369 1877 173088 6418%6 61917
AN Ifersegmen tumover - N 13 T = 1 A 3. Y1
GEl Tod 23090 568 3500 360 2%4M 2004 G4 80060
A5E Seqment esu mee TR s 181 10 N T 71 1]
FATEDARR Unallocated operting income and expenses - - - - - - b B
| Proftfrom operations - S - S - - g 14950
I Finance costs - 5 - 5 - = (17739) (11,278)
ERESASARATEN/(BR)  Shareof profislosses) of

equity-accounted investogs - - - - - - 210 (1,010)
it Income tax - - - - - - (10,670) (14790)
L] Proftfor theyear - - - - - - 75,380 12480
EfEREY Depreciaton and amoriaton for the year 48904 51,781 19,258 206% 62,098 038 18080 18
§epdaE Reportale segmen assets 10038 08T 1A TAAE 15 128919 3083954 278415
EuREATEATLE Additionsto oncurent segment

assets during the year 225,864 158016 B3% 21,964 280,900 1137 530,158 RNl
E = Reportable seqment ebtes 77 1 S SN N /SR 11 AT N A 1.1
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190

12 AHP R () 12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(b) HESERBUWA - B A (b) Reconciliations of reportable segment turnover, profit
E=LiE -] or loss, assets and liabilities
BasE —E-=F —E-—fF
Note 2023 2022
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
SN Turnover
e Db & U A4EE Total turnover for reportable segments 8,154,471 8,020,629
DEBMEALEU AIKE  Elimination of inter-segment turnover (1,735,505) (1,825,454)
FEERA Consolidated turnover 6,418,966 6,195,175
BREL AR Profit before tax
SREDEBMRFIRTF]  Total profit before tax for reportable
wiE segment 86,050 137,272
ERABRTEATR T Consolidated profit before tax 86,050 137,272
&= Assets
MEDHEE Reportable segment assets 3,053,954 2,784,151
RETIAEE Deferred tax assets 5,608 6,071
HERBESEED Cash and cash equivalents 529,389 532,274
KoBL4asi R A7) Unallocated head office and
BE corporate assets 194,999 248,781
IRAEEERE Consolidated total assets 3,783,950 3,671,277
afE Liabilities
WESHERE Reportable segment liabilities 960,262 873,847
FERTFTEHE Income tax payable 7,319 9,928
LTI 8 E Deferred tax liabilities 8,490 7,936
ATEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 240,308 352,440
AOEMEYIER N /A7) Unallocated head office and
=4 corporate liabilities 186,558 4,019
meBBEE Consolidated total liabilities 1,402,937 1,248,170

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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12  SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(c)

REIEBEFHLERA

external customers

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group's turnover
from external customers and (ii) the Group's tangible
assets and interests in equity-accounted investees
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical
location of customers is based on the location at
which the services were provided or the goods
delivered. The geographical location of the specified
non-current assets is based on the physical location
of the asset, in the case of property, plant and
equipment and the location of operations, in the case

of interests in equity-accounted investees.

ERFRBEE
Turnover from Specified

non-current assets

—EC-=F T —E-=F —E-F

2023 2022 2023 2022

ARETTT AREFT ARET T AREFT

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

Fh The PRC 6,157,786 5,883,960 1,885,561 1,494,830
=[N Japan 217,388 248,082 - =
H g K= Rest of Asia Pacific 43,792 63,133 - =
6,418,966 6,195,175 1,885,561 1,494,830
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13 P& - Wl Besttts - LHbpEA 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,

RE DL B $& 1k J vl LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY
(a) MR (A ¥R (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
i %2
R i fEt
fRIR HREREZ  Fumiture, bt [RE BHE
Construction 8%  Plantand fittingsand Motor It Land  Investment it
inprogress  Buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles  Subtotal  use rights property Total

ARRTR  ARRTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR
RVBOO)  RMBOOO  RMBON  RMBON  RMBON  RMBON  RMBON  RWBON  RMBON

i Cost:
WZEZ=E-A-B At January 2023 298,816 104,786 2135522 159,346 8428 2121898 178,336 105413 3,005,647
RE Additions 416,244 2,157 92520 11,635 1540 530,09 62 - 530,158
&\ Tnsfers (59712 ) % W ous  ps -
he Disposds - I IR TY 1Y R T~/ N VR - -
EizE Exchange differences - 3 - (83) - (60) - - (80)
2 At31 December 2023

tZA=1-A 117,148 106,483 2,786,716 160,889 28967 3,200,203 175,851 112,540 3488594
Z31TE  BERHEE " Accumulated depreciation,

amortisation and
impairment;

RE-ZE-A-B A1 Janvary 2023 - 71,654 1,281,024 108,599 13,674 1,480,951 52837 51524 1,585,312
ERik Charge for the year - 5,924 105,110 9,463 258 13,079 443 278 130,260
g7 Transfers - - (3,082 - - (3,042 (870) 3912 -
REEERD Impaitment loss reversed - (1814) (117 (321) - (3308) - - (3308)
he Disposds - M) s BE 0 (3% - - [
ERZE Exchange diferences - 3 - (8) - (80) - - (80)
e At31 December 2023
R R M VWS WS NI % w1
FEE: Canying values:
e At31 December 2023

TZR=1-1 117,148 2,831 1429308 51,384 139 1,636,588 119451 54,356 1,810,395

192  xme® (TM) BFR2 T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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13 P& - s Besttts - LHpEA 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,

RE DL B2 436 1k s b e (4 LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)
(a) Ve IR (%) (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)
22

ikl v &t
FETE FEREE  Funitue, Wt i FHE

Construction BF  Plntand  fitingsand Wotor It Land  nvestment g

In progress Buldings ~ machinery ~ equipment vehicles Sub-total Use rights property Total

ARRTR  ARRTn  ARRTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARRTR ARETR
RVBOM  RVBOID  RMBOD  RMBOID  RMBON  RMBOND  AMBOD  RMBOD  RMBON

A Cost:
WZEZZE-A-R At January 2022 2309 101460 2,116,662 165,007 2107 2417545 188,066 105,183 2710,794
HE Additions 264540 2767 51,776 10303 2232 31618 269 20 KAl
EIN Transfers (8033 1,566 6378 8 - - - - -
it Disposals - (1,020 39.294) (6,168) (911) (47,393 9.999) = (5739
EizE Exchange differences - 13 - 115 - 128 - - 128
e At31 December 2022

tZA=1-A 29816 104,786 2136522 159,346 2428 2721898 178336 105,413 3,006,647
Z311TE  BHRHEE Accumulated depreciation,

amortisation and
impairment:

RE2E-A-8 A1 Janvary 2022 - 74,608 1207481 104,921 10917 1397927 48225 48802 1494 954
i Chageforte e S sm M 9 3% W 5 M
g Transfers S - = = . - - . _
REEERD Impeiment loss reversed S g (3861) (23) (1 (6,831 - 5 16,831)
it Disposals = (171) (30,886) (5.416) 81) 37.284) (478 - (37.762)
EiZE Exchange differences - 13 - 115 S 128 - - 128
e At 31 December 202
= R L N O )
BEE: Carrying values:
A At 31 December 2022

t2A=1-8 298816 2132 85449 50747 9754 1240947 126,499 53889 142033
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

13 W3~ Wi Kkl ~ LIAER
HEVL B 3 % 1 57 b s (50)

(a)

iR i 6 38 M (459)

BB R EER A R ITE
REMRKEEBEIER - R=F
Z=Ff+ZA=+—H EEE
B AEEREEREHEND L
BELH A AREE112,465,0007T °

RIE_=FR T - —F+—
R=+—0  #i&88FRktmE
FAEEA T RITURMER T AE
ErRITEER -

ARE B AP AT B 2 £ 38 A

13

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Investment properties are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
As at 31 December 2023, the management estimated
fair value of the Group’s investment properties
amounted to approximately RMB112,465,000.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, no buildings
and land use rights are pledged to banks for banking

facilities granted to the Group.

The carrying amounts of the Group's land use rights

are situated in the following locations:

RESCERBREENT
—E-=F T F
2023 2022
ARETT ARBETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FR The PRC 119,451 125,499
TR Impairment loss

HRETEBELRNBERFR
BEEBERETHE EEERRRE
EBBEUREME  BEERE
FEEBEREFREN T _=
FrA=1T—HETHENURE
EABEYE - BE &R EN TR
El&HR °

R EEENR LS TR
BIEHRE RS ELBMAHRR
RENERME - AR EI12%
flgt

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

As certain business units recorded a net loss for
the past few years, management considered that
indicators of potential impairment of property, plant
and equipment attributable to these business units
existed and performed an assessment to determine
the recoverable amounts of the related property, plant

and equipment as at 31 December 2023.

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units
were estimated based on the present value of the
future cash flows expected to be derived from the
cash-generating units, using a discount rate of 12%.
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® o
@

13 P& - s Besttts - LHpEA 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,

HE D), B 3% 6 1k 5 b s (4 LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)
(b) fHEAIRERE (b) Right-of-use assets
ZEEEERMNE S HNERES The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use
ERIFEINTET : assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:

—E-=F —E-F

+=A +=A

=t+—H =+—H

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

ARBFT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

s Land use rights 108,688 113,883
HELH Leasehold land 10,763 11,616
BF Buildings 6,785 7,658
E Motor vehicles 1,391 759
127,627 133,916
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

13 P& - Wl Besttts - LHbpEA 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,

RE DL B 3% 1k I b s (48) LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)
(b)  fHEIRER E (4]) (b) Right-of-use assets (continued)
FHAMEENRZIERERNERH R The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
REDITAT recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

—E-=F —E-F

2023 2022
AR¥ETT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000

FREEERBEEEERR Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

TEZL - by class of underlying asset:

b PR Land use rights 2,711 4,229
HE T Leasehold land 852 861
BF Buildings 1,304 1,357
RE Motor vehicles 1,010 2,241
5,877 8,688
HEBENE Interest on lease liabilities 1,504 1,562

BRERIGTEHEN —ZF = =F Expense relating to short-term leases and

M-_ZE——H+=-H=+—H other leases with remaining lease term

S REWEEEENEM  ending on or before 31 December 2023

HEMFIZ and 2022 8,248 8,690
HAEREEEEFBRFY © Expense relating to leases of low-value

TEREREEEENGHTEE assets, excluding short-term leases of

low-value assets 4 11
HEReRnHABLESEAEY Details of total cash outflow for leases and the
FEA DT EFE 5 BIE R T 5E20(d) maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
24 o notes 20(d) and 24 respectively.

196  xmes (M) B2 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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13 P& - s Besttts - LHpEA 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,

RE DL B $& 1: B vb e (%) LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)
(o) REMETHWIE - WK (¢) Property, plant and equipment Leased out under

operating lease

Bl £E
&L
[ R #se Furniture, RE
Plantand fittings and Motor @5t
machinery  equipment vehicles Total

ARBTE  ARBTT ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

B Cost:

RZE-_—_%F—H—H At 1 January 2022 25,611 1,253 166 27,030
A Addition = = = =
EEE ] Transfers (25,158) 415 (166) (24,909)
& Disposals = = - -

RZZ-—F+-A=+—H  At31 December 2022 and

k—Z-=%—fA—H at 1 January 2023 453 1,668 = 2,121
NE Addition 8,069 580 - 8,649
E2YN Transfers = = = =
HE Disposals = = = =
RZZEZ=F+-A=+—H  At31 December 2023 8,522 2,248 = 10,770
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

13 P& - Wl Besttts - LHbpEA 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,

RE DL B 4 1 I Ml e () LAND USE RIGHTS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTY (continued)

(o) REMETHWIE - WG K&M (c) Property, plant and equipment Leased out under
() operating lease (continued)

B £E
ET
BER#EE  Furniture, RE
Plantand fittings and Motor @5t
machinery  equipment vehicles Total
ARETT ARETT ARETR AR%®TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Z5HTE - BHERAE Accumulated depreciation,
amortisation and impairment:
R-Z-—%—F—H At 1 January 2022 13,734 128 114 13,976
FRR Charge for the year 2,046 68 10 2,124
[EE Transfers (15,499) 1,298 (124) (14,325)
& Disposals = = = =
RZZZ—F+-FA=+—HK At31 December 2022 and
“T-=F#—H—H at 1 January 2023 281 1,494 = 1,775
ERMeR Charge for the year 8,785 529 = 9,314
A Transfers (2,042) (58) - (2,100)
HE Disposals = = = =
RZZZ=F+=A=+—H At 31 December 2023 7,024 1,965 - 8,989
REfE Carrying values:
RZZZ=F+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2023 1,498 283 - 1,781
RZFZZFFZA=1+—H  At31 December 2022 172 174 - 346

AEBRECERE L HE R
BARIKFTEME  RERAE
T P T B A R A9 B o i Ak - 7R
E—RVFPEPREATF - HE
TEERATEAEMNK - RRER
Hy - REBERKRRB B ERAAT
BEEEMEBTHRITRMA
EXRBBARARPBEFT AR
6,250,000 (ZE-—F : AR
#5,220,0007T) °

The Group leased out all machinery, equipment and motor
vehicles of one subsidiary and part of the Machinery of
two subsidiaries under operating lease. The lease typically
runs for an initial period of 5 to 6 years. The lease does
not include variable lease payments. Undiscounted lease
payments under non-cancellable operating lease in place
at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group in
the future periods are RMB6.25 million per annum (2022:
RMB5.22 million).
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I B B 2 ] i 1 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
TREFIRERNEEESE EEXEE The following list contains only the particulars of
BREZEZENMBRARNER - ATiF subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or
Mefn e BAR liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary:
ML, BRTR
RYREERERBH BHERA/
Place and date HZMER
of incorporation/ Issued and FEfk R
AR AE establishment fully paid up/  Attributable FTEEK
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
HE ik
Direct Indirect
% %
Great Wall Northeast Asia Corporation HEEHS 216,521,383%C 100 = RAEER
("NAC") Cayman Islands USD216,521,383 Investment holding
—WAETZA=H
3 December 1996
Impreza Investments Ltd. (“IIL") EBRRHE 14,700,000 7T - 100 BEER
BVI USD14,700,000 Investment holding
—WNARET—A+AR
7 November 1996
Great Wall Dalian Investment Co., Ltd. RBRTRS 24,500,000 - 60 REER
("GWDL") BVI USD24,500,000 Investment holding
—hnRE-A=+=8
23 February 1995
AR R (K2E) BR A ([GWF-DLI) w 26,600,0003 70 - 60 HEREZRSMEL -
GEIRVIVT) PRC USD26,600,000 BENBEERS LR
Great Wall Food (Dalian) Co., Limited —WAAEEFTZARA E NIKEERER
(“GWF-DL") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 6 December 1995 NERRERMNT

Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products and foods
processing
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(BE=EEBH - UARKETTZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 AR JE 2wl B3 E ()

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
ML, BETR
RIREEMER A BHERA/
Place and date HMER
of incorporation/ Issued and FEfh IR AE
AR HE establishment fully paid up/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
B i
Direct Indirect
% %
EEARBRERERAA] e 19,080,000 7 - 100 4EREEHNEH
(FEZARL) () - 2%(3) PRC USD19,080,000 BEREERB LK
Liaoning Great Wall Agri-Industrial —WNEFtATRA B NIREERE
Co., Ltd. ("LGW") (notes (1), (2) 19 July 1990 RAER
and (3)) Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
Great Wall Agritech (Liaoning) Co., RBRUHS 21,594,944 T - 100 REER
Limited (“GWALN-BVI") BVI USD21,594,944 Investment holding
—WNEFNAT=AH
13 September 1990
AREHER (BE) BRAF 0 168,440,000 7T - 100 RERK
([GWALN-HK]) Hong Kong HKD168,440,000 Investment holding
Great Wall Agritech (Liaoning) Co., —ANEELAZ+HEA
Limited (“GWALN-HK") 24 July 1990
AR (BRT) BRAR h 6,562,000 T - 100 EEREEZWHL
(TRETARK) (PEH(1)  (2%3) PRC USD6,562,000 Manufacturing and
Great Wall Agri (Heilongjiang) Co., Ltd. —ZEZRFHA-+HH trading of animal feeds
("GWAHLJ") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 25 May 2005

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(BRBHEHBI - RARKETFITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

I B B 2 ) R 38 (4 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BETR
RAIREEMER A BHERA/
Place and date TMER
of incorporation/ Issued and FEfE IR
ARHE establishment fully paid up/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital  equity interest Principal activities
B ik
Direct Indirect
% %
Dongbei Agri Corporation (“DBC”) HBRETHE 81,744,203% T - 100 AR
BVI USD81,744,203 Investment holding
—AARET—AZ1+tR
27 November 1996
ARKES(B0)ERAT FE 17,700,000 ¢ - 100 HEREEDWEL -
(r&RRm) (M) - 2 RE3) PRC USD17,700,000 MIKBEERE
Great Wall Agri (Yingkou) Co., Ltd. —ANEERA—H R AER
("GWAYK") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 1 April 1997 Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
ARKER (B8 ERAR ([EEAK]) HE 14,089,379 7T - 100 HEREEIWEL -
(BtEE() ~ (2RB) PRC USD14,089,379 BEEREERERK
Great Wall Agri (Tieling) Co., Ltd. —NWNEFERATRE T MIREEAS
("GWATL") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 16 May 1997 RAER
Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
FILEH(RE) ARAT HE 1,093,000% 7 - 100 4EREEHNEK
(IRIEH(EHR))) BE0) - 2%E) PRC USD1,093,000 Manufacturing and
Dongbei Agri (Changchun) Co., Ltd. “EERENAZTNH trading of animal feeds
("DBC-CC") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 28 August 2006
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 AR JE 2wl B3 E ()

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
ML BHRITR
BIREEMER BH BERRE/
Place and date HER
of incorporation/ Issued and FEfh IR AE
AR HE establishment fully paid up/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
EiE i
Direct Indirect
% %
B AR BRI AR AR (IDHFT]) HE 2,200,000% 7T - 100  £EREEINEH
(fE0) ~ (2 (3) PRC USD2,200,000 Manufacturing and
Hunan Greatwall Technologies & Feeds ZETRETANA trading of animal feeds
Co., Ltd. ("DHFT") (notes (1), (2) 8 October 2006
and (3))
Hwabei Agri Corporation ("HAC") RERLRE 69,013,436 T - 100 REER
BVI USD69,013,436 Investment holding
—AWN\FTZRA=+=H
23 December 1998
AR EE (B BERAF ((BEAK]) B 64,273,930 T - 100 REER
DaChan Wanda (HK) Limited Hong Kong USD64,273,930 Investment holding
("DWHK") —N\EERAZ+7<H
26 June 1984
ARKEE (R BRAR (TRRAK) HE AR H#:579,060,0007T - 100 4EREEIN@AH
(Fit5E01) ~ (20 R(3) PRC RMB579,060,000 EENEEFBRK
DaChan Wanda (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. —ANZFE+AZT—R B NIREENER
("TWD") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 21 October 1992 AER

Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products

202
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7 BB 2 W] R 3 (48 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BETR
RAIREEMER A BHERA/
Place and date TMER
of incorporation/ Issued and FEfE IR
ARHE establishment fully paid up/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital  equity interest Principal activities
B ik
Direct Indirect
% %
Union Manufacturing Limited (“UML") HBRETHE 7,700,0005 7T - 100 AR
BVI USD7,700,000 Investment holding
—NWAAREZALH
7 February 1996
REGER (&) BRAR ([ EEAK]) FE 6,940,000 7T - 100 RmiT
(BitEE(1) ~ (2 (3) PRC USD#6,940,000 Foods processing
Greatwall Gourmet (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. —MNAENAER
("GWGS") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 5 September 1996
Great Wall Kuang-Ming Investment RERUHEE 7,615,000 7T = 100 REER
(BVI) Co., Ltd. ("GWKM") BVI USD7,615,000 Investment holding
—ANREE=R+LH
17 March 1995
PIIRR =R BR AR HE AR 20,000,000 - 100 HEREEDWELK
(M) 1IRRE) (01 R(3)) PRC RMB20,000,000 TR A BEHE
DaChan Agricultural Technologies “TZ\FNAZTHA P&

(Sichuan) Co., Ltd. ("DAS")
(notes (1) and (3))

25 August 2008

Manufacturing and
trading of animal
feeds and related
additives, research
and consultation on
husbandry
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14 JAFRHE 2 Bl B BEE () 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

204

(continued)
ML BHRITR
BIREEMER BH BERRE/
Place and date HER
of incorporation/ Issued and FEfh IR AE
AR HE establishment fully paid up/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
EiE i
Direct Indirect
% %
AR (L) BRAF (DAL AR ) HE 54,080,000% T - 100 AERBEINEH -
GEIRVE) PRC USD54.080,000 NIREERE
DaChan Food (Hebei) Co., Ltd. (“DFH") —ZT\$=A+H RAER
(notes (1), (2) and (3)) 10 March 2008 Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
ERRIEEABRAT HE 500,000%7C = 100 EERS
(Memsdban]) (REE) ~ (2RE) PRC USD500,000 Management services
Dongbei (Beijing) Consultant Co., Ltd. “EEN\F+A=1+A
("DBC-BJ") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 30 October 2008
BNREESRMERAR HhE AR#50,000,0007C - 100 BEINEH BER
(I zE RS () - 2RE) PRC RMB50,000,000 BERERZE  MI
Yanzhou S&F Farm Co., Ltd. ("YDF") —EEN\F=A=1H REERERAER
(notes (1), (2) and (3)) 20 March 2008 Trading of animal feeds,

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(BRBHEHBI - RARKETFITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

I B B 2 ) R 38 (4 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BETR
RAIREEMER A BHERA/
Place and date TMER
of incorporation/ Issued and FEfE IR
ARHE establishment fully paid up/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital  equity interest Principal activities
B ik
Direct Indirect
% %

IR A RMARA A H AR 366,860,007 - 100 EZBZNEH - FEK
(M RR R M) () RE) PRC RMB366,860,000 BERBNZE ML

Bengbu DaChan Food Co., Ltd. (‘BDF")  —ZFZ\&+-F=H REERERAER
(notes (1) and (3)) 3 December 2008 Trading of animal feeds,

husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products

Miyasun-Great Wall (BVI) Co., Ltd. RERUHS 5,015,000% T - 100 e
("Miyasun-Great Wall") BVI USD5,015,000 Investment holding

—WAAE=A++H
17 March 1995

AKBERm(KE) BRAF HE 9,880,000%7T = 100 RminT
(IEERMm]) () - 2&E3) PRC USD9,880,000 Foods processing

Miyasun - Great Wall Foods (Dalian) —NWNAFREAZ+H
Co., Ltd. ("Miyasun Foods") 20 May 1995
(notes (1), (2) and (3))

AKERHRESBR AR HE 3,800,000% 7T - 100  £EREEHDSR
(TR EEHES]) (FiEE) - PRC USD3,800,000 Manufacturing and
2)%(3) “ETNFLA+ARA trading of animal feeds

Great Wall Agritech Huludao Co., Ltd. 15 July 2009

("GWAHLD") (notes (1), (2) and (3))
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14 JAKHE 2w A () 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML, BETR
BIREEMER BH BHERA/
Place and date HMER
of incorporation/ Issued and FEfh IR AE
AR HE establishment fully paid up/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
B i
Direct Indirect
% %
REABK AR MR EARAA] FE ARH100,0007 = 100 LS
(ITDPRJ) (B&E(1) R(3) PRC RMB100,000 Research and
Tianjin DaChan Prospect Research And “EENET—ANA development
Development Co., Ltd. (“TDPR") 9 November 2009
(notes (1) and (3))
FEERR ARG AR AR f AR100,0007C - 100  EHRS - BYEE
(TR (R0 R(3) PRC RMB100,000 Rit&
Zhenglangi DaChan Eco-ranch Co., Ltd. —Z——%—-H%AH Food service, animal
("ZLQ") (notes (1) and (3)) 5 January 2011 husbandry and selling
AEAKRMERBRAF (ITDFH]) EBRRHEE 5,850,00%7T - 6154 REER
Taixu & DaChan Foods Holdings Co., BVI USD5,850,000 Investment holding
Limited (“TDFH") —Z--%=R+H
7 March 2012
SEAKRMAERAR ([TDF]) BE 9,000,000% 7T - 40 RERKR
Taixu & DaChan Foods Co., Limited Hong Kong USD9,000,000 Investment holding
(“TDF") B S s P N =
29 November 2012
SEAKRR(KE)BRAR HE AR #55,500,0007T - 40 HENERRAER
(ITDF-DLI) (BZE(1) ~ (2K(3) PRC RMB55,500,000 Trading of meat and
Taixu & DaChan Foods (Dalian) Co., —S-—#hA=+HA meat products
Limited (“TDF-DL") (notes (1), (2) 25 May 2012

and (3))
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I B B 2 ) R 38 (4 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BETR
RAIREEMER A BHERA/
Place and date TMER
of incorporation/ Issued and FEfE IR
ARHE establishment fully paid up/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital  equity interest Principal activities
B ik
Direct Indirect
% %
China S&F Farm Holdings Co., Limited ERRUHE 7,000,000 T - 100 BAER
("S&F") BVI USD7,000,000 Investment holding
—E—%+HAZ+H
20 October 2011
WA AENMRHRER AR FE 3,000,000% 7T - 100 EEREEDER
(MUEAR) (B ~ (20 K%(3) PRC USD3,000,000 Manufacturing and
Shandong DaChan Biotechnology “Z-——%-A+ZH trading of animal feeds
Co., Limited ("SDB") (notes (1), (2) 12 January 2012
and (3))
ANERERGAREHREERAT HE AR #1,000,0007C - 40 FEEESREANEE
(IpLDC) (FizE(1) R (3) PRC RMB 1,000,000 Poultry farms
DaChan Livestock Development —E-—FA1+HEA construction & lease
Co., Ltd. (“DLDC") (notes (1) and (3)) 14 June 2012
AEAKRM (HR)BRAR HE ARH#40,000,0007 - 40 MIREENER
(ITDF-BBJ) (B (1) R(3) PRC RMB40,000,000 Bt
Taixu & DaChan Foods (Bengbu) —E—"&t+—A=tAA Processing and trading
Co., Limited ("TDF-BB") (notes (1) 25 November 2016 of meat and meat
and (3)) products
REDLRMESHERAR ([TCC-TDI) hE ARH1,000,0007T - 55 EENER
(PfEE(1) ~ (3)1(5)) PRC RMB1,000,000 RARSR
Tianjin Chao Cheng Food TradeCo., Ltd. ~ —Z—+F+A+—-H Trading of meat and
("TCC-TD") (notes (1), (3) and (5)) 12 October 2017 meat products
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14 RAKEA W HEE (5) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
MR/ BERTR
BRI R EE IR HH BEERA/
Place and date HMER
of incorporation/ Issued and FEfh IR AE
AR HE establishment fully paid up/  Attributable TEEY
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
B ik
Direct Indirect
% %
REFEERBARAR (TISP]) HE AR®100,0007T - 100 AERLERE
(FIE(1) ~ (3) e (4) PRC RMB100,000 Swine raising
TIAN JIN SUPER PIG AST Co., Ltd. —Z-N\FZA=-tH and selling
("TJSP") (notes (1), (3) and (4)) 26 February 2018
AB B () BRAR HE AR#22,000,0007T - 100 £EREEIWSH
(fHE() - 2R(E3) PRC RMB22,000,000 Manufacturing and
Great Wall Agri (Hebei) Co., Ltd. “E-=&XA-+H trading of animal feeds
(notes (1),(2) and (3)) 20 June 2023

Bt e - Notes:

(1) ARZBORNEREHSE - ZFR (1) The English translation of the company names is for reference only.
FEFEARZNE BN BEARRE The official names of these entities established in the PRC are in
JEERTE © Chinese.

2  ZERPEEAKZNERYRINGE (2)  These entities established in the PRC are wholly foreign-owned
B o enterprises.

@  HERTFERARINEEABFRE (3)  These entities established in the PRC are limited liability companies.
FRA] -

(4) TR EEENNBARIER - ) The above mentioned subsidiary operated in PRC had been
— =+ AREEES deregistered in December 2023.

(6 EFRRPREEBORBARBER-E (5)  The above mentioned subsidiary operated in PRC had been
—=Ft+—A#EE- transferred in November 2023.
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14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to the
subsidiaries of the Group which has material non-controlling
interests. The summarised financial information presented

below represents the amounts before any inter-company

elimination.
- Skt - i
223 2022
AEETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
GWWDL TOF TDFH DLDC GWoL TOF TDFH DLDC
FERERANY Non-controling nterests percentage 40.00% 35.00% 38.46% 60.00% 40.00% 35.00% 3846% 60.00%
THEE Curent assefs 424,921 166,967 109,126 B 415,888 146,571 95,854 20470
FrBAE Noncurent assets 146,380 71,639 46,565 a1m 152675 69,110 497 5,265
TEEE Current liabites (109,464) (96,957) (63522) (M4 (117.988) 92819 (60,763) (71,510)
Frgat Norcurrent iabltes (8.490) - - - (7.936) s - -
2EE[E Net assets 453,347 141,649 92,169 (1111) 42,659 122,86 80,013 1225
FERERSER Canying amount of nonontoling
inerests 181,339 49577 35,451 (668) 177,066 43,000 30,773 734
WA Revenue 1,164,922 547,063 547,063 - 1220931 445,540 445,540 -
BHREENEEE  Pofitand total comprehensive income 28,068 31,12 20,178 (2,335) 34,747 29830 19315 (365)
PREFERES 28T Pofitalocated to
nor-controllng interests 1221 10,769 1,761 (1401) 13899 10,440 7428 (219
WIEERERIRN RS Dividend pad to noncontroling interests (6,97) (4,445) 3,175) - (44,597) (4.257) (3041 -
AREHERERN  Exchange reservealocated to
EREE noncontoling nterests %9 461 36 - 249 461 3% -
RETHAEESRS  Cash flow from operating actites 88,045 20,047 ) 198 343 62,907 (33 (1,163
REEHE2RERE  Cash fow flominvesting actites um (10,416) 8261 12 101,089 (6,437) 7908 (26)
REEHE RS Cash flow from fiancing actites (40,953) 2347 (8,255) - (207,516) (61,195) (7906) -

GWDLZ B % & # 25|GWDL & GWF-
DLZ A %M - TDFZHMBER 27
TDF R TDF-DLZ 4R & 34 » TDFH .2 81
AR 2FITDFH « TDF % TDF-DL 247
B EE (T EIETDF 2 JEHEp ) -

The financial information for GWDL shows the consolidated
results of GWDL and GWF-DL. The financial information for
TDF shows the consolidated results of TDF and TDF-DL.
The financial information for TDFH shows the consolidated
results of TDFH, TDF and TDF-DL excluding non-controlling
interests of TDF.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 JAHESE ABR 2 B2 W] B RE 15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

INVESTEES
gz —E-=F e S—
Note 2023 2022
AR¥ET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
i YNCIPA - o Interests in associates (a) 70,906 68,786

(a)

210

Wk 24w

TRINFAEEBERR2E
B MBEBERRERRLETE

BAR WEMERE :

(a)

Associates

The following list contains the particulars of the

Group's associates, all of which are unlisted corporate

entities whose quoted market price is not available:

g
Proportion of ownership interest

HERAR

R R ALEH BRDFRE

(RERE Btk ERER  ANELAA Held by
Form of Place of HER Group's #E equity- TTEK
NS business  incorporation Registered effective Held by accounted Principal
Name of associates structure  and operation capital interest subsidiaries investees activities
TianJin Hai Rei Food Limited (HRF-TJ) il ] AR 5,000,00070 40% 40% - FEREE
RESRARARAR Incorporated PRC RMB5,000,000 RERR
(K2R Manufactory &
trading of Frozen
Foods
Advent Prosperity Real Estate i mE AR™423500,0007 10% 10% - FiERE
Development Co, Ltd. (“APRD"| * Incorporated PRC RMB423,500,000 RIEBRE
REEKEEEHERERRAA Real estate
([REEmEE]) development &
related services

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited



® 6 6 0 ¢
e 60 00

FARE SRR M

Notes to the Financial Statements
(BB HHIBIN - UARETT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 A REfE AR 2 BB 2 W) BY BE 4 15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

(%) INVESTEES (continued)
(a) BEAT () (a) Associates (continued)
Tt
Proportion of ownership interest
HERAE
SRR AEEH SRS
(RERES ey ] ERER  EMELT Held by
Form of Place of AR Group's ®E equity- EE
BENAAR business  incorporation Registered effective Held by accounted Principal
Name of associates structure  and operation capital interest subsidiaries investees activities
Rupp & DaChan Foods (Tianjin] a4 HE ARE50,000,0007 40% 40% - FEREE
Co., Lid. ["RDF-TJ) Incorporated PRC RMBE0,000,000 H5m
BEAHRR(RZ)BRARA Manufactory &
([K2@EE) trading of dairy
products
* HRERREEZBRAGES e The Group has determined that it has significant influence because
@ AEBERAEEEEATE it has representation on the board of the investee, so APRD are
7 A RBEXNEES A classified as associates.
BEAF -
LR AR S A RIEBEEZREA All of the above associates are accounted for using the
BRAZ A BITEIRK - equity method in the consolidated financial statements.
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15 A RE & AR 2 BB W) i BE 4 15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

(%) INVESTEES (continued)
(a) BEAT () (a) Associates (continued)
TREBBENR2HEER - Summarised financial information of associates,
WEHiARE M B HRERAZREE reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated
HEITHER financial statements, are disclosed below:
ZECZE
2023
REEHEE ;33 REEE @t
APRD HRF-TJ RDF-TJ Total
BeNRALH Gross amounts of the associates’
¥RBEE Non-current assets 107,222 553 8,352 116,127
TOEE Current assets 503,477 4,534 25,927 533,938
FnBaE Non-current liabilities - - (2,500) (2,500)
HEEE Current liabiities (6,976 (3,900) 6,631) (17,507)
3 Equity 603,723 1181 25,148 630,058
WA Revenue 17,2712 2,247 66,462 85,981
REEET/ (B8R Profit/loss) and total comprehensive
FEYESE income for the year 26,168 (549) (694) 24,925

HAEEREENAREZHE  Reconciled to the Group's

interest in the associates

BENfEEFE BT Gross amounts of net assets
of the associate 603,723 1187 25,148 630,058
HBAREE Held by subsidiaries 10% 40% 40% -
FEEREBEDRL Group's share of net
BESE assets of the associates 60,372 475 10,059 70,906
GANMERRMAREE Carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements 60,372 475 10,059 70,906

212  x®as (TM) BRAT DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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15 A REfE AR 2 BB 2 W) BY BE 4 15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

(%) INVESTEES (continued)
(a) BEAT () (a) Associates (continued)
“E-CF
2022
REEREE K ReEL &t
APRD HRF-TJ RDF-TJ Total
NG Gross amounts of the associates’
EREEE Non-current assets 127,140 ni 9,995 137,852
REEE Current assets 475,014 5,460 26,437 506,911
ErBAE Non-current liabilties = = (4,500) (4,500)
el Current liabilities (24,600) (4,443) (6,091) (35,134)
i Equity 577,554 1734 25,841 605,129
WA Revenue 7,886 3,616 66,847 78,349
REE(BR) /aflR {Loss)profit and total comprehensive
rEYRER income for the year (3616) 140 (1,836) (5312)

HAEEREENAREZHE  Reconciled to the Group's

interest in the associates

BENfEEFE BT Gross amounts of net
assets of the associate 577,554 1,734 25,842 605,130
B AR Held by subsidiaries 10% 40% 40% =
FEEREHEDRL Group's share of net
BERE assets of the associates 57,755 694 10,337 68,786
CRANBHRRMIRDE Carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements 57,755 694 10,337 68,786
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16 #H& 16 INVENTORIES

(a) HEMBRAERPIHERAR (a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

—E-=F —E-F

2023 2022
AR¥ETT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
kg Animal feeds 142,833 251,630
RBRREA Poultry and chilled meats 70,457 98,698
MIEHm Processed food 256,754 261,659
JHFEm Consumables 56,805 59,032
526,849 671,019
(b) W 2y B X B & A (b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as
T an expense is as follows:
—EC-=F B
2023 2022
AR¥ETT AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BEHEFERAE Carrying amount of inventories sold 5,735,329 5,450,970
TFEMR Write-down of inventories 8,124 1,306
B e FE MR Reversal of write-down of inventories (67) (6,144)
5,743,386 5,446,132
RZZE_=F+=-A=+—Bz On the consolidated statement of financial position as
RAMBIRNE BRI #IRF at 31 December 2023, a provision of RMB19,885,000
BERERECFEEELEEA (2022: RMB11,828,000) was made against those
R#19,885,000C (=T = — 4 : inventories with net realisable value lower than the
AR#11,828,0007T) ° BRIt EEE carrying values. Other than this provision, none of the
Gy RZEZ=FR-_FT__ inventories as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were
+—A=+—8  ¥EFEKA carried at net realisable value.
FIRFEEYIE -
BE E—FE2FEMRTIBER The reversal of write-down of inventories made
TR =S EERRETFERM in prior year was the result of sales of impaired

B o inventories in 2023.

214  xmas (TM) BRA DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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W E 17 BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
EE AEE
Breeder s Broiler &t
poultry Broilers breeder eggs Total
ARETTT ARETTT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
IRENFE Net carrying amount
RZZE=——F At 1 January 2022
—H—H 16,873 116,977 9,797 143,647
B BB Increase due to
0 purchases/raising 3,390 1,825,729 172,573 2,001,692
FRITERE Depreciation provided
during the year (12,312) - - (12,312)
H=EH R4  Decrease due to
culling/hatching - (1,811,222) (171,793) (1,983,015)
EZEA KT Decrease due to
retirement and deaths (935) - - (935)
P, —— At 31 December 2022
+ZA=+—8H 7,016 131,484 10,577 149,077
BREEFAEFTE Increase due to
H#n purchases/raising 14,915 1,737,891 143,589 1,896,395
FATERE Depreciation provided
during the year (8,192) = = (8,192)
E=%#iF)  Decrease due to
culling/hatching = (1,753,041) (150,099) (1,903,140)
EZEAKRETREY Decrease due to
retirement and deaths (4,183) = = (4,183)
R-ZTE—=F At 31 December 2023
+=-A=1+—8 9,556 116,334 4,067 129,957
EMEEBIEER AERAEE - Biological assets comprise breeder poultry, broilers and

A - ERABERAKAREFRE
BN HEAABEYESAE
Ho

broiler breeder eggs.

Broilers, breeder poultry and broiler breeder eggs are stated

at cost less any impairment losses, which are not materially

different from their fair value.
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18 MEWHE 5 iRk 18 TRADE RECEIVABLES
—Eo=F B F
2023 2022
ARMTT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
YR F R Trade receivables 282,816 248,502
B REREAE Less: allowance of doubtful debts (7,247) (9,392)
275,569 239,110
FEWE 5 8RS 5 AR B AR D A 2A As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
s € trade receivables is as follows:
—EC-=F T
2023 2022
ARETT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BNHA Current 263,074 228,312
BHEI1 = 180K 1-180 days past due 14,598 11,767
#1HA1812365K 181-365 days past due 306 2,841
61 BAER B 365K More than 365 days past due 4,838 5,582
mMe® ... Amountspastdue ... . 1142 20,190
282,816 248,502
REE—RATFEESAE0RAE60AH] The Group normally allows a credit period ranging from 30
EEH - BEAASEEEBENFER days to 60 days to its customers. Further details on the
HAHIEE29(a) © Group's credit policy are set out in note 29(a).

216  Xx®as (TM) BRAT DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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19 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS
—E-=F —E-F
2023 2022
ARET T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AT B E () VAT recoverable (i) 259,039 269,948
e RIBR ) Deposits and prepayments (i) 94,318 140,830
BAHRTFET Advances to staff 4,174 5,327
EAth Others 7,265 6,954
364,796 423,059
W AT E FE R BN IE(ERL() Less: non-current VAT recoverable (i) 88,149 112,497
ED Current 276,647 310,562

() FIUg I (E R HE AT S R AR S 1R
(AR R B TR E R o &
B) TS ER E ZRENHIE
HEBRTIENEHEZORFRE
BB RS ERMES - &
AREFRE  BE-F-=7F
+=—A=+—8 " REAEEH
BTEE AR — F &8 AR A Ik
HER A ARYESS, 149,000
(CBZ=F+ZA=t—HA: A
R#112,497,0007T) °

(i

The VAT recoverable represents the unutilised input
VAT eligible for offsetting against future output
VAT. The unutilised input VAT arose mainly due
to the insufficient output VAT on sales of chicken
meat to offset the input VAT on purchases of live
chickens from contract farmers. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the VAT recoverable
as at 31 December 2023 which will be utilised after
one year is RMB88,149,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB112,497,000) based on the Group’s budget.
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19 - fth ek I B 78 A5 5k I (4 19 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(i) e KREMNRBEREE RE M (i) Deposits and prepayments consist of advance
[ 14 8 P2 44E HH A T8 58 1 R R Eo At payments made to suppliers for purchases of raw
TERZH o materials and other prepaid expenses.

Fir 75 H fth & W R I8 (8145 FE Uk R Bk 05 3K All of other receivables (including amounts due from related

I8) FEEIR —F R E o parties) are expected to be recovered within one year.

20 BeRBIEHEYRHAEHEE 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

B OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) BERBEFHEDEE : (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

—E-=F —E-F

2023 2022
ARET T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BITFERERFHERSE Cash at bank and on hand 529,389 532,274
B BREIMETERR Less: Restricted deposits 2,449 =
RE TR R P RERE Cash and cash equivalents in the
RERERTHRE R consolidated statement of financial
BEEEY position and in the consolidated
cash flow statement 526,940 532,274

218 kK& (M) B2 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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20 BleRBIEFEYRHABEE 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

mE R () OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)
(b) BB i v A BRLAK 45 B) P 74 B (b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash
HRE generated from operations:
PsE —E=F T F
Note 2023 2022
ARMET T AREETIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
FREF Profit for the year 75,380 122,480
BT B IEFE - Adjustments for:
—FEhEE AR — Share of (gains)/losses of

INEIC eV St equity-accounted investees (2,120) 1,010
— M EWA — Interest income 5 (10,709) (13,723)
—HEWE - BEN&FZ - Net loss on disposal of property,

B BEFE plant and machinery 5 6,577 5,996
—W%E - BE KRR - Impairment reversed on property,

RER O] plant and machinery 13 (3,308) (6,831)
—FERZ — Interest expense 6 17,738 11,278
—rE — Depreciation 13 130,260 134,823
— YA — Amortization of biological assets 17 8,192 12,312
—TFEHUR — Write-down of inventories 16(b) 8,124 1,306
— B B T E U — Reversal of write-down of

inventories 16(b) (67) (6,144)
—ERE ZERZ — (Reversal of impairment losses)/
CR{EEERR) losses of impairment on trade
DERIEY receivables 29(a) (1,252) 2,638
—[ERE=EFE — Net foreign exchange difference (3,143) (28,130)
—MIEX — Tax expense 7 10,670 14,792
EEESE ! Changes in working capital:
FERL, (L) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 136,113 (58,028)
HYEERD, (H#1)  Decrease/(increase) in biological assets 10,928 (17,742)
ARalEmd Decrease in contract liabilities (10,471) (5,439)
JEUE SRR N E MBI Decrease in trade and other receivables

FRIER 23,056 76,003
BT E SRR R EMESR Increase in trade and other payables

FIFIE N 23,546 106,600
RETHHERE Cash generated from operations 419,514 353,201

— &= = F 53R Annual Report 2023 2 1 9
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20 BeRBIEFEY RS 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

B B (5D

() BHEWBEENAREZ B :

(continued)

(¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities:

BERREMSFE
Loans and HEEE
interest Lease
payables liabilities
ARBTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
W=—ZE=-=F—-H—H At 1 January 2023 377,240 31,717
MERERELE Changes from financing cash flows:
ISR TE RS RA Proceeds from new bank loans 1,431,788 -
BERITER Repayment of bank loans (1,278,949) -
ERFE Interest paid (15,375) -
BENHAS2F B Interest element of lease rentals paid - (1,504)
ENHE 2 ELRES Capital element of lease rentals paid - (2,765)
MERSRELEEE Total changes from financing cash flows 137,464 (4,269)
Hit# 5 Other changes
FEFT Interest expenses 15,375 1,504
FRERI A E ML A Increase in lease liabilities from entering
HEAE into new leases during the year - 2,073
AfeRmes Totalotherchanges 18375 . 3577
WZZE-=F+-A=+—H At31December 2023 530,079 31,025

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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20 BleRBIEFEYRHABEE 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
T B (5D

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)
MEGHHELEMARZ BHIR : (¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
(#8) activities: (continued)
B RERFE
Loans and HEAE
interest Lease
payables liabilities
AREFIT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R-ZE-_—_%—F—H At 1 January 2022 407,492 33,966
MERSRELE Changes from financing cash flows:
IS RITE RS Proceeds from new bank loans 698,776 =
BEBITER Repayment of bank loans (719,423) =
SXREESE Interest paid (9,716) =
BN ZF B Interest element of lease rentals paid = (1,562)
BENES 2 ERS D Capital element of lease rentals paid = (3,901)
BMERSRELH BT Total changes from financing cash flows (30,363) (5,463)
BB R Exchange adjustments (9,605) -
Hih2 g Other changes
78R (fiE6(a) Interest expenses (note 6(a)) 9,716 1,562
HINE R SR & g hnag Increase in lease liabilities from entering
HEARE into new leases during the period = 1,652
ReRmem  Totalotherchanges . 0718 . 3214,
W-Z-__F+-A=+—H At31December 2022 377,240 31,717
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20 BeRBIEFEY RS 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

WmE R () OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)
(d) FHEEBIS R - (d) Total cash outflow for Leases:
HEMRERERPEEUANTS Amounts included in the cash flow statement for
| leases comprise the following:

—E-=F —E-F

2023 2022
ARMT T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RIEERETEN Within operating cash flows 8,252 8,701
REERESREA Within financing cash flows 4,268 5,463
12,520 14,164
ZEETHETYHRE These amounts relate to the following:
—EC-=F —Eo—F
2023 2022
ARETT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ENEERS Lease rentals paid 12,520 14,164

222  kK&® (TM) BR2AF DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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JEE AT B 5 Wk 21 TRADE PAYABLES
—EC-=F =T —F
2023 2022
ARET T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB SRR Trade payables 506,995 472,025
FrE B S RKIEHR —F R - The trade payables are expected to be settled within one
year.
HERERR - BNEHEFORERD As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
MTEATR trade payables is as follows:
—E-=F —E-F
2023 2022
AR¥ETTT ARKETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BNEH Current 221,009 275,325
A H30K 58 HA Less than 30 days past due 169,074 146,867
31E60KEH 31 - 60 days past due 46,042 28,525
61290 AR H 61 — 90 days past due 34,738 8,700
90K LA _E 1 Hf More than 90 days past due 36,132 12,608
wee® ... Amountspastdue ... 285,986 196,700
506,995 472,025
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22 b BB Aok K S B2 I A BRI B 5k 22 OTHER PAYABLES AND AMOUNTS DUE
H TO RELATED PARTIES

—E-=F —E-F

2023 2022
ARMT T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
$HE @A) Sales rebate (i) 22,554 23,353
e IE #RBek Salaries, wages, bonuses and
H A & 15 48 other benefits payable 102,689 108,912
FEETE Accrued expenses 60,810 61,174
ERRS Contract performance deposits 57,450 53,110
BEMHE  BMFERZMEENFIE  Payables for purchase of property,
plant and equipment 5,276 14,535
JE1 BaES: I 70E (i 5E28(e) Amounts due to related parties (note 28(e)) 42,600 43,500
Hity Others 17,365 23,984
308,744 328,568
i) AEKEERMHEE  AEEHE (i)  In order to promote the sales of livestock feeds, the
HERENETE] - R - BRI Group launched an incentive scheme where a rebate
ENAEEMES THRE - Ale as a percentage of sales amount is payable to the
MEZREEREE TH D LLET sales agents if they can achieve certain criteria as set
H2E - REIENEK ] EN by the Group. The incentive rebate resulted in variable
B - AEEFAEHEEBRER consideration. The Group estimated the amount of
SEBEFTIERESE - variable consideration including in the transaction
price using the expected value.
Fi 78 H P& < 5118 K FE < Bt 75 SR 1B 78 All of other payables and amounts due to related parties are
HR—FRI - expected to be settled within one year.
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23 GHEMfER 23 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

(a) HAMEMERWT : (a) Loans were repayable as follows:
—E-=F T CF
2023 2022
ARET T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
RITER Bank loans
—BR—FRNEE — repayable within 1 year 276,269 82,648
—BR—FRENMFREE - repayable after 1 year but within 2 years 123,789 6,965
—BRMEERERTEFENERE - repayable after 2 years but within 5 years 130,021 262,827
530,079 352,440
REBFOITEZFER Loans of industry support from government
ZARCHERfEE  crepaysblewithiniyear - 24,800
BERaes Total loans 530,079 377,240
o pEARBEEAZAER Less: Loans repayable within 1 year
—FREENER classified as current liabilities 276,269 107,448
PEAFERBEBENER Loans classified as non-current liabilities 253,810 269,792

—& = = F %R Annual Report 2023
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23 GFHEfEE () 23 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
(continued)
b) B (b) Terms
—EB-=F T —F
2023 2022
ARMT T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
EIMPIRITE R Unsecured bank loans:
—EEFENFEZF3.45% - Fixed interest rate ranging from 3.45%
F480% (=4 : 10 4.80% per annum (2022: 3.85% to
HF3.856%%E4.80%) 4.80% per annum) 314,326 150,035
—F BN FHFE6.00% - Floating interest rate ranging from 6.00%
£6.28% (T - —4F : t0 6.28% per annum (2022: 5.32%to
H4F5.32%%5.58%) 5.58%per annum) 215,753 202,405
530,079 352,440
MBI ER Unsecured government loans
- N 1R . . .. .. - - 24,800
BB Total loans 530,079 377,240

226  KR&& (M) BRAF DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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HE A 24 LEASE LIABILITIES
RNZZE_=F+=A=+—01 " HE&¢ At 31 December 2023, the lease liabilities were repayable as
EAR N AAREEE follows:
—EBD=F — T —4F
2023 2022
ARMET T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
—FN Within 1 year 1,687 2,001
—FREMFR After 1 year but within 2 years 1,261 1,049
MEEBRERN After 2 years but within 5 years 2,982 2,766
hFE After 5 years 25,095 25,901
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 29338 D
31,025 31,717
EEMBOR N FE PR IE 25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) HEAMBRIE DI EHBE (a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of
financial position:
—EB-=F k=St =
2023 2022
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
REH] At the beginning of the year 9,928 10,215
FRFTS TR Provision for income tax for the year 9,653 11,750
FREMFASH Income tax paid in the year (12,262) (12,037)
RER At the end of the year 7,319 9,928
& - Represented by:
FERETIS B Income tax payable 7,319 9,928
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25 HRAIAEHIR DL b B IE ()

25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)
(b) AENEREBIIEEE A (AK) %8 (b) Movement of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the
year
FREREGE BN KT R The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
BIRERIEE E (A E) AKX recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
HE REZsNT : position and the movements during the year are as
follows:
i
BiEETE
Depreciation HEFE-  HEENR
allowance BiE  RfEs5E
inexcessof  FAEEE il BEBE  Impaiment  Salesrebate
therelated  Right-of-use Lease  Provision for loss-  and other it
depreciation assets liabilities ~inventories receivables accruals Total
ARETT  ARETR ARETR ARBTR AR \RETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WE-=F-5-A At 1 January 2023 (7.936) (7.481) 1929 1338 159 2692 (1,865)
PMFABREEIA/(MB)  Credited{cherged) to consolcated
(710 income statement (note 7(a) (554) 336 (173) 3 (607) (350) (101)
RZE-ZFFA=+-H  At31 December 2023 (8,490) (7,145) 1756 1,669 986 2342 (2,882)
RZE-F-F-A At 1 January 2022 (5,737) (7.459) 8491 1512 1173 3197 1177
IGABERIA/(MB)  Credted/charged to consoldated
(F370) income statement note 7l (2,199] bl (562 (174 0 (505) (3042
WE-EL-AZ-B  At31December 2022 (7,936 (7.481) 199 1338 1593 269 (1,865

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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25 HRAEABOIRILER b BLE () 25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)
(¢) HREMBHRILFBIR (¢) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position

—E-=F —E-F

2023 2022
ARMET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RERE AR R Deferred tax assets recognised in
BRAIECETIEE E the consolidated statement of
financial position 5,608 6,071
RERE SRR R Deferred tax liabilities recognised in
HERRIELERIBAE the consolidated statement of
financial position (8,490) (7,936)
(2,882) (1,865)
(d)  ARMERIEAEFIE (d) Deferred tax assets not recognised
RIEM 3 () FTE B & 5T IBUR - In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
HREBEHREEREREETA note 3(q), the Group has not recognised deferred
B = A ] HE 0 B IR B 18 A R 2R tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
JERTETR  WAEBARAH®R RMB322,227,000 (2022: losses of RMB376,110,000)
THIEEEARKES322,227,000 as it is not probable that future taxable profits against
T(ZEZZF : FEBEARY which the losses can be utilised will be available in
376,110,0007T) BB LR 1 E the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses
E - BIEEBENEERE - can be carried forward for 5 years.
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25 HRAIAEHIR DL b B IE ()

(e)

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

oA i 22 M A2E 58 I £ £

RIEREERE - RIMEEE B
HEAMINELEMESHREA
XIT10%TEHHE - BRIFEEZH
EERE o RIBPEFBIENHT
BATRIERIE - AEBEREEH
BEfEARE_ST+tF+ A
=T+ —BAIRD KRG T 2 W AR
BEREZHMBENG - KEERK
BEPEMBRARIE-ZZN\F
—A— BTz ERRERIZA
SASTTERE - At - $RER A
RARREITD IR ZEF] - H 5L+
B B BB A Bl Y R 9 Ik B8 17 &8 ) 1
RIEEFIE -

T _=F+=-A=+—8"
Yy pNCIE il =Nl 0k 21
FlEERE A AR698,498,000
(ZZE=Z=F: AR%
672,367,0007T) ° AR ZEH B
D AARBBRZ AN BIES &
BEREEAIERERRETE DR
A BN D IR S BT
BARE 2 BT IBERIELER 18
BEAREE69,850,0000T (=&
ZZ=%F : AR¥54,013,0007T) °

%MM

ol

25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(e)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the new PRC tax law, dividends received by
foreign investors from their investment in foreign-
invested enterprises are subject to withholding tax
at a rate of 10 percent unless reduced by treaty.
Pursuant to the grandfathering treatments of the new
PRC tax law, dividends receivable by the Group from
its PRC subsidiaries in respect of its undistributed
profits prior to 31 December 2007 are exempted
from the withholding tax. Dividends receivable by
the Group from its PRC subsidiaries in respect of its
profits earned since 1 January 2008 will be subject to
the withholding tax. Accordingly, deferred tax would
be recognised for undistributed retained earnings of
the PRC subsidiaries to the extent that the earnings
would be distributed in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2023, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted
to RMB698,498,000 (2022: RMB672,367,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of RMB69,850,000 (2022:
RMB54,013,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these retained profits as the Company controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that these profits will
not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

RE 4 45 P8 43 1 52 (a) Movements in components of equity
AEBGEERTEEAKSLD The reconciliation between the opening and
BB B B R AS BR T AR - EER closing balances of each component of the Group's
HEEREHR - A AERE consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
RIA R EE o BV ) B R B =F statement of changes in equity. Details of the
BEEIIAT changes in the individual components of equity of the
Company between the beginning and the end of the
year are set out below:
e RitRE SRR ERfGME gHEH
Share Share  Contributed  Translation Retained &t
capital premium surplus reserve profit Total
ARBTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Eaeie)  (Waoeld) (st (PsE26(aliv)
(note 26(c)  (note 26(d)(l)  (note 26(a)l}  (note 26(d))iiv))
R=B-=%-A—-H At 1 January 2023 97,920 583,596 741,215 (61,595) 546,847 1,907,983
FRER Loss for the year - - - - (9,062) (9,062)
At 2ENE Other comprehensive income - - - 32319 - 32,319
RZFZZFFZA=F-H  At31December 2023 97,920 583,596 4,215 (29,276) 537,185 1,931,240
RZEZ—E-f-H At1 January 2022 97,920 583,596 741,215 (220,268) 499,763 1,702,226
EngH Profit for the year - - - - 47,084 47,084
Htr2EkE Other comprehensive income - - - 158,673 - 168,673
RZZE-ZF+-B=F-H  At31December 2022 97,920 583,596 .25 (61,595) 546,847 1,907,983

() REHBHNACHEEEE
E=3E (R K EE26(d)(i) &t
B BARSBRENACKH
MR EBEERBARRIER
AR 1T A EE Y B

5

(i) Contributed surplus represents the excess of the

fair value of the shares of NAC determined based

on the basis of the consolidated net assets of

NAC at the date of the reorganisation (see note

26(d)(ii)) over the nominal value of the shares

issued by the Company in exchange thereof.
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26 EA - MR E (4F) 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)
3= (b) Dividends
() JENTRL AR SR G %4 (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
JENIIRE Company attributable to the year.
RIEZ=FR-_FT__F No final dividends were proposed after the end
E BRI R R AR HARR of reporting periods of 2023 and 2022.
=l
(i) 2 HTRI B B R AE I L i ] (ii)  Profit distributions to minority shareholders of its
8 2 F] DR A i 7 subsidiaries attributable to the previous financial
H5 I year, approved during the year:

—E-=F T F

2023 2022
ARETT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BENENSIES (i Profit distributions to minority
EE BT E R shareholders of subsidiaries 14,591 46,862
F AR R B A7) 8L Profit distributions to minority shareholders of
REIEHAFIED IR : its subsidiaries paid during the year:
—E-=F —E-F
2023 2022
ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BENENSES T Profit distributions to minority
YEH B FE 5 Ik shareholders of subsidiaries 14,591 46,862

232  Kme® (M) BRAT DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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26 B - filfl RS (4) 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)
(c) A (¢) Share capital
i) HEEREETRAE (i)  Authorised and issued share capital
—E-= —T--F
2023 2022
ROEE GEE
Number of S8 Number of &8
shares Amount shares Amount
TR ARETR T ARETET
‘000 RMB'000 '000 RMB'000
EE Authorised:
R+ZA=1+—H Ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each
BREBECIETNERR  at31 December 10,000,000 964,358 10,000,000 964,358
BETRAEEEK - Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:
W=A—Ak+=A=1+—H At1January and 31 December 1,016,189 97920 1,016,189 97,920
TRBRFEARZAAQA The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
TEHEIRZRE REARRAT dividends as declared from time to time and
RERE LBERERIE— are entitled to one vote per share at general
F o IBEEERRUAATZ meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares
FpEEMS =6 REE rank equally with regard to the Company's
Ao residual assets.
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26 EA - il RIS () 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

234

(continued)
@ Gl RS (d) Nature and purpose of reserves
() RO R B T (i)  Share premium and redemption reserve
A mEHEA R R EE The share premium represents the difference
KRR R AT FTURER B between the par value of the shares of the
"Rz ENERE - BEHS Company and proceeds received from the
BERRNE  ARAkmiE issuance of the shares of the Company. Under
BIRB A9 IR T AR RIR the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, the
R REANEERIERES share premium account of the Company
HIRREEBE - BENE is distributable to the shareholders of the
EER—AREBRIE 5 Company provided that immediately following
&7 o the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company would be in a
position to pay off its debt as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.
B R EEXZEAER R Redemption reserve represents the historical
BEZRHOBAEE  BH value of shares repurchased and held by the
MR AR REFFR G © trustee which are treated as treasury shares.
i) A OHHER (ii)  Merger reserve

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

BRERBEARRNE B
BRGAARARERER
MEAE (A - A2
A2 MNACHE i IR R 21T
1,999,999/ F AR EI1H0.178
THERR - FRERE
PR NACRHER (B © X
RIANACIE AR 458 82
ARRBWE RGBT TN
HENZERE  SRERER

Pursuant to the reorganisation plan of the
Group in preparation of the Company’s listing
in the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Reorganisation”), the
Company issued 1,999,999 ordinary shares
of HKDO.1 each to the then shareholders of
NAC in consideration of acquiring their equity
interests held in NAC. The difference between
the then shareholders’ total capital contributions

to NAC over the nominal value of the shares

ERBIREUBRERTNE issued by the Company in exchange thereof
B - was transferred to the merger reserve in the

consolidated financial statements as at the date
of Reorganisation.
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26 EA - il RIS () 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(continued)
@) G PR R & (4) (d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i) PEEE

(iii)  PRC statutory reserves

7 BNEREREDAE
R TRIEB P ERAI R
FERARAE R B R BIKZ
MBARMESERE
7 WEEHRESFSE -

— R

FEMBAREREREE
FTHR B R A HR T T I ELBR AR
BHEMI0%DRE—MEH
HES  BEERBEBES
M EREBB0% A LE o 8
B E N AE RS
BBADIRRBRIED °

AT EREE

ezl alETl = UNSIDYYF eV
CEERES - BEZ M
MEBARESERBRE
ZESATTAREMNBER
BESRE E%Jﬁf‘ﬁ%ﬁ’]§$lﬁ
BEWmEZEES R
K EAts

Transfers from retained earnings to PRC
statutory reserves are made in accordance with
the relevant PRC rules and regulations and
the articles of association of the Company's
subsidiaries established in the PRC and were

approved by the respective boards of directors.

General reserve fund

The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10 percent of their after-tax profit,
as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to general
reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches
50 percent of the registered capital. The transfer
to this reserve must be made before distribution
of a dividend to shareholders.

Enterprise develooment fund

Certain subsidiaries in the PRC are required
to set up an enterprise development fund.
Transfers to this fund are made at the discretion
of the board of directors of the subsidiaries.
This fund can only be utilised on capital items

for the collective benefit of the subsidiaries’

fth 8 TRRAERHE) © & employees such as the construction of
ESRIERINEEDEL o M) dormitories, canteens and other staff welfare
ZE SRR VAT AR facilities. This fund is non-distributable other
DIRARBAIEL o than on liquidation. The transfer to this fund

must be made before distribution of a dividend
to shareholders.
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26 HEA - filfl RS (4)

(@)

(e)

®

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

i 2 BT B R 9 (A1)

(iv) FESL

LR EERREIBINE
T B 2~ B B3Rk R E
DEERTEMBLRRE
FRENEBARRRERE

ERMAENER
T % 53 Uk ol 5

R-F_=Ft+-_A=+—8"
AE DR F AR R IR RS R E
wEs B AR®1,833,320,000
T(ZEBE=ZF : AR
1,810,063,0007T) °

EAE T

R £ B Y BUER T 38 58 4 R R g A
EREENKAREETERR
RGBS - MR TR ER
i NBBEERARTSEDL
PAR TSR R

AEESERIEHBRNRER
HEARRE  AESEERER
SR E R AT RS R &S & &K
FERBRESKAABZEE R
RIEME 2 HBSFE - AREZ
REBRECHERNRBIELH

2 o

AEBERBBEERER L RHE
MEEREEARERE - Bt B
AEERBEDAE - REFLH
B R AEEREERHEEMNK
RO E 28 - BITHREKAK
RIRIEBA -

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(continued)

(d)

(e)

(®

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(iv)  Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign subsidiaries outside of the PRC, and the
translation of intra-Group loans classified as net
investment in PRC subsidiaries.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company was approximately RMB1,833,320,000
(2022: approximately RMB1,810,063,000).

Capital management

The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base
S0 as to maintain creditor and market confidence and
to sustain future development of the business, by
pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of a total liabilities-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
capital is defined as total equity. In order to maintain
or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends payable to shareholders, issue new
shares or return capital to shareholders.
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26 HEA - fiffh RS (B) 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

O EAREH ) (f)  Capital management (continued)
REZZEZ=FR=ZZT==_F+= Total liabilities-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2023
A=t—RAzBaBRERLX and 2022 was as follows:

R
—EC-=F =T —F
2023 2022
ARET T AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
mEAE Current liabilities 1,111,299 940,726
JERBAGE Non-current liabilities 291,638 307,444
EEHE Total liabilities 1,402,937 1,248,170
ERAE Total equity 2,381,013 2,323,107
BEBHEERERE Total liabilities-to-capital ratio 0.59 0.54
RN T 3 E M B A T3 £ T FR A Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
EBHEANE B AT K o subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
27 R 27 COMMITMENTS
KRB =ZF+-A=+—BUERREZ Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2023
SRR ELBENERNAELDT ¢ not provided for in the consolidated financial statements

were as follows:

—EB-=F kSt =

2023 2022
AR¥ETTT AREBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BEETAY Contracted for
— WY - B RERE — acquisition of property, machinery and
equipment 70,827 531,809
BB EERETA Authorised but not contracted for
— B - AR R — acquisition of property, machinery and
equipment 227,107 98,555
297,934 630,364
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28 M TT R 5 28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BREITE IR 5B KB AR T BRI
REEETNTIERAR TR °

In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group entered
into the following material related party transactions.

(a) BT 4515 B2 BEPR W5k 5 i BR 4% (a) Name and relationship with related parties
FA - BTRIZE TR TR
MRS

During the year, transactions with the following

parties are considered as related party transactions:

238

RS A EHRARE 5 B R
Name of party Relationships
Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. (“GWE") S S NG

REKERBEBRDERAE*

Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. (“GWIH")

Great Wall Yung Huo Food (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
("GWYHB") IE AR A FIBERBR AR

Total Nutrition Technologies Co., Ltd. (“TNT")
FREEBRIMRGO AR AT

Tai Ji Food Co., Ltd. (“TJF")
BILRERMBRAR*

Beijing Universal Chain Food Co., Ltd. ("BUCF")
I RBHEFHRERBR AR

Great Wall Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“GWF-TJ")
AR R (CRE) BRAR *

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Ultimate holding company

AR A A

Intermediate holding company

KBRS (AR RV RAIE A B HIHTE R R
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

KBRS (AR RV RAIER A B HIHT B R R
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

KBRS (AR R RAIER A 7)) HIHTE R R
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

KBRS (AR R RAIERR A 7)) HIMTE R R
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

RBCEIRR (AR RIEV R N R A &) BIHTE R R
Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company
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28 BN A 5 (4E) 28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(a) BTy 44 W6 % BRI O O it B 4R (a) Name and relationship with related parties (continued)
(%)
BN & EHEARE 5 B
Name of party Relationships
DaChan Showa Foods (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“DSF") REKBIER (R QBRI RN R A R) 8B A A
RERBFIR M (K2 GR AR Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

Great Wall FeedTech (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“GWFT-BJ") AAKEIFR (R A B R ERR A B BT A 7
AECKEEBRMN G ARAR* Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

Great Wall FeedTech (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“GWFT-TJ") AR (N2 R R MMEAR A ) BUKT B A7)
AR E BRI (R ARAR* Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

DaChan Liangyou Foods (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“DLF-TJ”)  AREMME (KA BMRKIER A R) HE & A7)
AKRREm(KE)BRAR* Associate of GWE, ultimate holding company of

the Company

DaChan Liangyou Foods (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. AR (RN A R REIER A R) A8 & A R)
("DLF-SH") REK R R & (E8) BRAR* Associate of GWE, ultimate holding company of

the Company

Marubeni Corporation (“MAR") DEPT R

Minority shareholder

Marubeni (Dalian) Co., Ltd. (“MAR-DL") Marubeni (88 ER) BB E A A

Subsidiary of Marubeni, minority shareholder

Marubeni (Qingdao) Co., Ltd. (“MAR-QD") Marubeni (A% ER) BB B A A

Subsidiary of Marubeni, minority shareholder
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28 AT A5 (4) 28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(a) BRI Ty 44 W % BRI O i B 1R (a) Name and relationship with related parties (continued)
(%10
BN £ EHRARE 5 B R
Name of party Relationships
Hansen Inc. HEBERRELEE  BRELE  BRFRERER

REEXEREZEHEENAE]
Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr. Han Chia-Yin, Mr. Han
Chia-Yau and Mr. Harn Jia-Chen jointly own

100% interest of Hansen Inc.

Dacheng Land Development Limited (“DLD") Hansen Inc. ()&= &K B A A
NHMEZRAER AR Wholly-owned subsidiary of Hansen Inc.

Advent Prosperity Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. [ SPESANGIL ) WNE]
(“APRD") RiFEKFEFHERBEFR AT Associate of a subsidiary

Beijing Weixi Agriculture Development Co., Ltd. (BJWX) & A FlHE: & A 7

TR EEXBERARAT Associate of a subsidiary
Rupp & DaChan Foods (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“RDF-TJ) [ SPESNGILE o) NE]

BFLAKR MR BRAR* Associate of a subsidiary
Mengcun Hui Autonomous County Construction MEBATIMKES

Investment Co., Ltd. (“MCCI") Investor of a subsidiary

BN ERER M TERIKEERAF*

Better Me Food Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“BMFT") FRZRE A HEEE A A

ERARRmEH G R) ARA T Associate of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Beijing Beimi Food Technology Co., Ltd. BRESLENEE AR
IERERREEEERAT Associate of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

TNT BIOTECHNOLOGY (TIANJIN) CO., LTD. KRB ZE (KA BB RKIERR A ) B A F
("TBCL-TJ") ZREAEMBIE (RE) BR AR Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of

the Company

240  km&® (T#M) BFR2A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(a) Name and relationship with related parties (continued)

SRR T AR

Relationships

BEIJING FOOD CHINA ONLINE INFORMATION & AR (RNA R RAIER A A BB & A7)

TECHNOLOGY LTD (“BJFC")
S RERERE B R ATERA T

Associate of GWE, ultimate holding company of

the Company

Great Wall FeedTech (Ningxia) Co., Ltd. (“GWFT-NX")  ABEER (KRA TR NIER A F) B A 7

BEARKFEERBRMBRAR]

* REEWMNEXBZERSE - %
EREHNEEBIEARXETR ©

b))  EXREBEHTRS

FRAERBEBRITXZNFBED

Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

* The English translation of the company names is for reference

only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

(b) Significant related party transactions

Particulars of significant related party transactions

T during the year are as follows:
—EBD=F k=St =
2023 2022
ARMETTT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
HEEMR Sales of goods 82,012 99,847
R RE R Purchases of material and goods 82,322 83,885
BEER Management services 163 223
2iREHESRE Rental services provided 1,438 1,491
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

28

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(¢) Key management personnel remuneration

Key management personnel are those persons having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group. The total
remuneration of the key management personnel is

shown below:

—E-=F T

2023 2022

AR¥ETT AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

EEEEET Short term employee benefits 4,744 5,740
RIRETBI LR Retirement scheme contributions 72 62
4,816 5,802

et ATE TRA] (RH
#té(b) °

(d) R I W s ik I

R E R - ARE A A TR

Total remuneration was included in “staff costs” (see
note 6(b)).

(d) Amounts due from related parties

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had

RS the following balances with related parties:
BiaE —EC=F T F
Note 2023 2022
ARET T AREETIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FEUE ZERER Trade receivables (i) 3,501 6,234
HAtb el GRIE Other receivables 5,800 5,800
9,301 12,034

()  BAET MR E SRR E
i - B ERFBAR—FR
IrE e RZZE=_=F+_F7
=+—B  YEHZSHE
EE BB EEE

242
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(i)  Trade receivables from related parties are
unsecured, interest free and are expected to
be recovered within one year. There was no
significant impairment loss made against these

amounts at 31 December 2023.
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28 BN A 5 (4E) 28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(e)  MEAT BRI 3k IH (¢) Amounts due to related parties
REEER - NEEE AT As at the end of reporting period, the Group had the
TR following balances with related parties:

BT —EB=F —EC

Note 2023 2022

AREFT ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

JEITB SRR Trade payables (i) 7,987 9,326

HAD e 5RIE Other payables 42,600 43,500

50,587 52,826
() B ARENESERIE (i)  Trade payables to related parties are unsecured,
T - RERFBHR—FA interest free and are expected to be paid or

Bt - settled within one year.
) A BPREZ S R iR R A (f)  Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected
transactions

EXHINETAERRHEK L Certain related party transactions listed above
MRAEIAAZERATENBAER constitute connected transactions or continuing
SUFHBHERS - EWRAIE connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
1AAEHENEZEHNEST SR the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter
HlAERS]—fi e 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section

headed “Connected transactions” of the Report of
the Directors.
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29 <o B B R A SLfEAE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

244

AEENFZoRTAPERSRES
FEY - EWE P IR H WK
B A EEERENESRRERME
NRIE - EASEIEREBBIZPESE
FERR MXER  BEER X5
R RBESKERERRER - A&
B AR AR S R EZ B M o A AE
[\

o

AREFAENEARREAEBEREE
RS ETR AN SRR EERR RS
REFNAT

(a) faFEHBR

EERREXZHFRETES
MEBEEMERAKEELMBE
BrRER  AEEZEERRE
EREBKBSHER - AR S
HFREEERREERREMN
RIT > BAKBABAWRITF
FTEFAGERIFORT - Bt
AEEAEXRERSMREEE
W2 EERRER -

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

FAIR VALUES

The Group’'s principal financial instruments comprise
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other
receivables, interest-bearing borrowings and trade payables
and other payables. Exposure to credit, interest rate,
currency, business, liquidity, and commodity price risks
arise in the normal course of the Group's business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from

movements in its own equity share price.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below:

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit
risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables.
The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and substantially all of the
Group's cash at bank are deposited in the reputable
banks which management assessed the credit risk to
be insignificant.



29 <ol B A BE I 4 e RAE (A)

(a)

fr B JEl B ()

TEW AR

AEEEUNEERREERS
BEEFPRENFEMTE - M
XEEPEEMETERBRA
FERERE AREAFEES
HEBRFEREASEEERE
FHRTERZE HERBEL - 1
AR - BUE SRR AATEF
REAEEZEARFRAARF
WD BIEI% (T == : 11%)
B17%(ZZE==%F : 21%) ©

CERBEHBENAR YA
BEXEAGEENE - ZFHmE
20 AR P BT R RIE R EEF 2
sk R E RTTRREE D - WAEE
EEPEENREEMARERP
EEMTELERRHNEBER -
FEUE S8R B IR E B AIE30E
60BNEIHR - REE—RTAE
PUEIE IR o
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 9%
(2022: 11%) and 17% (2022: 21 %) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group's largest

customer and the five largest customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 30-60 days
from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

— &= = F 53R Annual Report 2023
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29 b B A B K A e fE AR () 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a) faB)EkE () (a) Credit risk (continued)

T Z I (#4) Trade receivables (continued)

REB B RN E 5 BR T B R R The Group measures loss allowances for trade
HLEE R EEFERONTESRE receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
BEBENESETE - EREE which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
EEAE AEENELEEE Group's historical credit loss experience indicates
BEBRHETARFPHHEREKN significantly different loss patterns for different
TRBEER - ERa it customer segments, the loss allowance based on
EBEEBEERASEETAERPE past due status is further distinguished between the
REE—FRH - Group's different customer bases.

REBERER RS AR EELE The Group distinguished the customers into 2 bases:

[\

- B—#: ERIEBLEMRE Group 1: the clients in a normal operation
B o status.

- BZH: BEAMBEEN Group 2: the clients with significant financial
EEAREREHRS - difficulties or have entered bankruptcy.

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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29 b E A B K O A fE AR () 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a) o B)EkE () (a) Credit risk (continued)
TN B IR (#) Trade receivables (continued)
TREIAEE L EWE F RN The following table provides information about the
WEERBREHREEEEZE Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
#} o receivables.
—EC=HF
2023
HBERMEE
FEHEART IR =R Gross EERE
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% ARETT ARETT
% RMB’000 RMB’000
£—# Group 1
B (REHER) Current (not past due) 0.5% 263,074 (1,423)
#HI1E180H 1-180 days past due 4.7% 14,598 (690)
#mHR1812E365H 181-365 days past due 80.0% 51 (41)
B HARE365H More than 365 days past due 100.0% 4,838 (4,838)
282,561 (6,992)
R BrouR2 255 ......1255)
282,816 (7,247)
TEHEEXERNBE=FHNER Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
EEERERTE  WREEL experience over the past 3 years. These rates are
R W E BRI A EAR S © B AT adjusted to reflect differences between economic
o N SE RS Y & S conditions during the period over which the historic
BT FRALBER R =E 2 H data has been collected, current conditions and
HIZREITHE the Group's view of economic conditions over the

expected lives of the receivables.
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29 b B A B K A e fE AR () 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a) faB)EkE () (a) Credit risk (continued)
TN B Z R (48) Trade receivables (continued)
—E-fF
2022
REREE
TEHREs 1B R Gross E RS
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% AREFT AREFT
% RMB’000 RMB'000
£—4 Group 1
B R El) Current (not past due) 0.3% 228,312 (696)
#HI1E180H 1-180 days past due 2.9% 10,516 (309)
#HR1812E365H 181-365 days past due 48.0% 2,475 (1,188)
11 Bf#238365 H More than 365 days past due 100.0% 5,582 (5,582)
246,885 (7,775)
FoM . Grouwp2 MBI (617,
248,502 (9,392)

248 K& (M) BRAF DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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29 b E A B K O A fE AR () 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a) o B)EkE () (a) Credit risk (continued)
TN B IR (#) Trade receivables (continued)
FR - REKE S EREERE Movement in the loss allowance account in respect
BRZEEHT - of trade receivables during the year is as follows:
—Eo=5 —Eo—F
2023 2022
ARBTT ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
R—A—Br&EH Balance at 1 January 9,392 7,308
FAEMIETIEA Amounts written off during the year (893) (554)
FANDHER CREEIERE), (Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment
REEIE losses recognised during the year (1,252) 2,638
R+=ZA=+—B0&H Balance at 31 December 7,247 9,392
(b) WEE &R (b) Liquidity risk
EEERBESRRFE @ AE In the management of liquidity risk, the Group
BERTAZEEEIATEN monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
B4 RELEGYIKE - LA equivalents deemed adequate by management to
EEERLIRMES  TRIES finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
HELRENSMTE - AEF effects of short-term fluctuations in cash flows.
Bt TS S A B EBEARITEE The Group's treasury department is responsible
PIREES FEEREERAE for maintaining a balance between continuity and
BETE - LT AN EE SR flexibility of funding through the use of banking
BLHESL o facilities in order to meet the Group's liquidity

requirements.
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29 <l E R A B K 4 S (B (A

(b)

i B ¥ < e (%)

TRADLNHERRAEERA
RNEIER T ARBEIRE W R
RenBstEZFTEERAE
(BREZEAKAMEFTEBHE K
B MBEFEAE - AERRE
HIRMEGE) - RAKERAR

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of reporting period of the
Group's and the Company’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based

RIERHRFHE : on rates current at the end of reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group and the Company can be
required to pay:

—E-=

2023

BRMER

HRES —FUE MEULE
MERH —FR5 BORWE BOREE
Total  HRER{EE  Morethan  More than
SREE  contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or but less but less
amount cashflow ondemand than2years thanb years
ARETRT AR¥TRT AR¥TR ARETRT AR¥Tn
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

EX Loans 530,079 575,709 292,804 135,628 147,277

BB ZER Trade payables 506,995 506,995 506,995 - -

Rt MR Other payables 308,744 308,744 308,744 - -

HEaE Lease Liabilities 31,025 54,696 3,120 2,623 48,953

1,376,843 1,446,144 1,111,663 138,251 196,230

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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29 b E A B K O A fE AR () 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(b)  WEE S (4F) (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
“To—F
2022

BHRR
HERE —FNRE GE3Y
mERE —FA%  BLRMmE BIRRF
Total  RER(EE More than More than
fREE  contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or but less but less
amount cash flow ondemand  than2years  than5years

ARETT  ARBTL AREBTT ARBTR  ARETE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ER Loans 377,240 423,637 121,475 20,270 281,892
EHEZER Trade payables 472,025 472,025 472,025 = =
HAb R 5RIE Other payables 328,568 328,568 328,568 = =
HERE Lease Liabilities 31,717 56,728 3,432 2,437 50,859
1,209,550 1,280,958 925,500 22,707 332,751
(c) MR BE (¢c) Interest rate risk
AEEFNERBREZRBFEME The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
B o DUEBFI = R EE R G S interest-bearing borrowings. Borrowings issued at
MNEEDAFEAEEmBIIRS variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to
2R KRR AR EBERER cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate
% o risk respectively.
AEEFEEENFEREEK The interest rates and terms of repayment of
TIRBERWE23 - AEER)FE the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group are
FREERERF RS EHEHIA disclosed in note 23. The Group's floating interest
SRELBHER rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in

cash flows due to changes in interest rates.
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29 b B A B K A e fE AR () 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(0 PR (%)

RZBZ=F+=—A=+—8
EFREREIEINI00EEZ KA
BHRFTENEET - A&
| 9 BR B8 1% 055 A S BB 1 B AR
HAR¥1,801,638L (===
4 AR#¥1,690,0837T) * A
b BRAEENBIFRAN - H
IR A R K E A 3B M0 TS AR R
gﬁ o

il SRR D AT Th R R F R B
ERBEMRREELBARNE B
FENTERETESRMITH
FrgEe R =R mIEL o #in
100AESAEEEHEET —
B3RS HAF R/ & R AT RE B ED A
il o AMEEE T = —F4f
ﬁ °

(d) FHERBR

AEBEKREDEERANELHR
NARKETRS - MARED
BEERRBRAINEG - IBELRA
REHINERZEBETEAR
RITHERBEEEINEE D
BT ©

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

(c)

(@)

Interest rate risk (continued)

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would have decreased
the Group's profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately RMB1,801,538 (2022: RMB1,690,083),
and there is no impact on other components of the
consolidated equity, except for retained profits of the

Group.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of reporting period and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for both
derivative and non-derivative financial instruments
in existence at that date. The 100-basis point
increase represents management’'s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rates over
the period until the next annual reporting period. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022.

Currency risk

Majority of the revenue-generating operations of
the Group are transacted in RMB, which is not
freely convertible into foreign currencies. All foreign
exchange transactions involving RMB must take
place through the People’'s Bank of China or other
institutions authorised to buy and sell foreign
currencies.
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29 b E A B K O A fE AR () 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

d) B )RR () (d) Currency risk (continued)
i) EE GRS (i)  Exposure to currency risk

TERFFMAS BN E R The following table details the Group's exposure
HEwREESBERFER at the end of reporting period to currency risk
HERQ R AN E arising from recognised assets or liabilities
W& B T 2= A A 1 3L denominated in a currency other than the
o BABEER  AXRR functional currency of the entity to which they
SREUAARKIIE - FRK% relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts
HERQFELHAE BENHIE of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated
KIRE o using the spot rate at the year end date.

SNEETE H RIS (AARBTFT25)
Exposure to foreign currencies

(expressed in thousands of Renminbi)

—EC=HF
2023

ESpI ARHE BT

USsD RMB HKD

R MIREEEY)  Cashand cash equivalents 94 898 1,225
EHWREENAE  Netexposure arising from

EEZFRRAE  recognised assets and
liabilities 94 898 1,225
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29 <l E R A B K 4 S (B (A

d) BWEkE ()

G)  HEmE AR ()

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)

(d)

Currency risk (continued)

@)

Exposure to currency risk (continued)

SMNEEEE H BB AR AARE T T2
Exposure to foreign currencies

(expressed in thousands of Renminbi)

T F
2022

EW AR BT
usD RMB HKD
RERIRESEMEY  Cash and cash equivalents 84 2,529 1,574

EHMREENAM[E  Netexposure arising from

EA 7 FRBEAE  recognised assets and
liabilities 84 2,529 1,574
(i) T (ii)  Sensitivity analysis

TR BRERABEBER
HREAEEEREANRR
MERNZ A LRES - &
EAKERBILEE S G
) (82 B2 T B 7)) 2 A BB 2
B - RN B EE
NAIFEHAEER - TAEEREIA
B REETDEEEB AN
MEHEHE -

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's loss or profit after
tax (and retained profits) that would arise if
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. The
sensitivity analysis includes balances between
Group entities where the denomination of
the balances is in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the

borrower.
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29 <o e B A B % O SRR (B 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)

(@ BRI (%) (d)

Currency risk (continued)

i) IRV (FE)

(ii) ~ Sensitivity analysis (continued)

—E-=F —E-F
2023 2022
HpRFLE HRTiE
ExR AR e i A&
EFHCFEE) BiFEEF EF(TF%) BIEER
Increase/ 0% Increase/ R 2
(decrease) Effect on profit (decrease) Effect on profit

in foreign

exchange rate

after tax and

retained profits

in foreign

exchange rate

after tax and

retained profits

E usD 5% 5 5% 4
(5)% (5) (5)% (4)
AR RMB 5% 40 5% 108
(5)% (40) (5)% (108)
BT HKD 5% 61 5% 70
(5)% (61) (5)% (70)

ERZINNDHRAERR
AlRZE B YIRE R E A
BRI NI 18 i e -
RITBEFNMIZNREHR
EEMEMERBE/AR
BTEENARERYE -

BRMEAHTHRREREE
ERBERREELBEAR

Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of
the instantaneous effects on each of the
Group entities’ profit or loss after tax and
equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
change in foreign exchange rates had occurred

AEESNFE AEELNIE at the end of reporting period and had been
$T4 T AWE R AE - applied to each of the Group entities’ exposure
% B A5 H At 5 8 (e E 2 F to currency risk for non-derivative financial

)R TEMIEL - ST
HEER T — —FHHF -

instruments in existence at that date, and that
all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for 2022.
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31 18 Bl (L R R RO = 4K AR - PA
SRR AR 2 P = 2 RF R E
RIREN T SR AR o

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)

(e)

Business risk

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising
from changes in prices of livestock and livestock's
agricultural produce and the change in cost and supply
of feed ingredients, all of which are determined by
constantly changing market forces of supply and
demand, and other factors. The other factors include
environmental regulations, weather conditions and
livestock diseases. The Group has little or no control

over these conditions and factors.

The Group is subject to risks relating to its ability
to maintain animal health status. Livestock health
problems could adversely impact production and
consumer confidence. The Group monitors the health
of its livestock on a regular basis and has procedures
in place to reduce potential exposure to infectious
diseases. Although policies and procedures have
been put into place, there is no guarantee that the
Group will not be affected by epidemic diseases.

The Group manages its exposure to fluctuation in the
price of the key raw materials used in the operations
by maintaining a large number of suppliers so as to

limit high concentration in a particular supplier.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

®

(€9)

Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from
any unexpected increase in the prices of corn and
soybean meal commodities before committing to
purchase of raw materials and any unexpected
decreases in the prices of corn and soybean mea
commodities following completion of purchases.
To protect the Group from the impact of price
fluctuations in corn and soybean meal commodities,
commodity derivative contracts are entered into
with independent futures trading agents. Changes
in the fair value of commodity derivative contracts
that economically hedge the price fluctuations in
corn and soybean meal commodities and for which
no hedge accounting is applied are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Fair value measurement

(1)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

In accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement, the Group defines the three
levels of fair value hierarchy. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the

valuation technique as follows:
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)
(g) Fair value measurement (continued)

(1)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(continued)

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the

measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which

market data are not available

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured

using significant unobservable inputs

The Group's financial asset and liability
measured at fair value is commodity derivative
contracts.

The fair value of commodity derivative contracts
are measured using quoted prices from
independent trading agents without adjustments
and therefore fall into level 1. The commodity
derivative contracts were all closed as at 31
December 2023, thus no derivative financial
instruments was recognised on balance sheet as
at 31 December 2023.
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29 b E A B K O A fE AR () 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(g ARG ) (g) Fair value measurement (continued)
() WIEAAREBEARNSR (i) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
BERBENAREE &K carried at other than fair value. The carrying
B RARNTILAK Ak i amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s
AN SRIEE R AR financial assets and liabilities carried at cost or
WEREEEEN T =4 amortised cost are not materially different from
ZE - F+ZRA=1— their fair values as at 31 December 2023 and
HOARBEITESKE 2022.
R
30 Rk E A B 30 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS
P RS WY B R 3 A U Key sources of estimation uncertainty
fhEt T AR RN FZRIRAT The key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:
(i) FFEZ A& 8] F (i) Net realisable value of inventories
FEZAI#BFE/ETEBLR Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
BARE M EEER - BAET T selling price in the ordinary course of business,
BBV AR R SRS o s EfhET less estimated costs of completion and distribution
TIRIBHR R R E AU E expenses. These estimates are based on the current
EmfBRTLERMmMEL - BRE market condition and historical experience of selling
PR AT B R 3R EY T R PR R products of similar nature. It could change significantly
RIFTSE B F M ERERATTE) - & A] as a result of changes in customer preference and
BYYEEABREEANE - F competitor actions in response to severe industry
BENBREAREHTEZER cycles. Management reassesses these estimations
BT BRTFERK AN KA #I5)% at the end of reporting period to ensure inventory is
BEZBIRETR ° shown at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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30 Eratfliah B REr (4)

il A W B PR 3 2 A R ()

(1)

(i)

KB (32M) AFE2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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30 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts resulting from inability of the
customers to make the required payments. The
estimate is based on the ageing of the trade
receivable balance, customer creditworthiness,
and historical write-off experience. If the financial
conditions of the customers were to deteriorate,

actual write-offs would be higher than estimated.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the
property, plant and equipment at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. When indication
of impairment is identified, management prepares
discounted future cashflow to assess the differences
between the carrying amount and value in use and
provided for impairment loss. Any change in the
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts
would increase or decrease in the provision of the
impairment loss and affect the Group’s net asset
value.
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30 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(iv) Income tax

Determining income tax provisions involves
judgement on the future tax treatment of certain
transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions
are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislations. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for tax losses not yet used and
temporary deductible differences. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the unused tax credits can be utilised,
management’s judgement is required to assess the
probability of future taxable profits. Management's
assessment is constantly reviewed, and additional
deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes
probable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

(v)  Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 3(c), the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term. In determining
the lease term at the commencement date for
leases that include renewal options exercisable by
the Group, the Group evaluates the likelihood of
exercising the renewal options taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances that create
an economic incentive for the Group to exercise
the option, including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of that
underlying asset to the Group's operation. The lease
term is reassessed when there is a significant event
or significant change in circumstance that is within
the Group’s control. Any increase or decrease in the
lease term would affect the amount of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets recognised in future years.
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31 2] IR D 31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
gz —E-=F —ECfF
Note 2023 2022
ARET T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
IEREBEE Non-current assets
AT B A R B E Investments in subsidiaries 1,818,620 1,788,295
UL BT B A B FRIA Amounts due from subsidiaries 471,000 463,146
2,289,620 2,251,441
mEEE Current assets
Hth eI RIE Other receivables 317 385
JE U BB 5 3R IE Amounts due from related parties 9,368 6,928
ReERRSEEY Cash and cash equivalents 5,029 6,544
14,714 13,857
RBARG Current liabilities
E b T RRIE Other payables 5,937 6,031
ATEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 190,964 81,848
JiE 1< A 5 5R0E Amounts due to related parties 8,274 8,275
205,175 96,154
RBEERE  Netcurrentliabilites =~ (190461)  (82,297)
AEREARBAE  Total assets less current liabilities =~ 2,099,159 2,169,144
E15 kD h=F Non-current liabilities
FFEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 24,789 120,557
FEASTHT B A )38 Amount due to subsidiaries 143,130 140,604
__________________________________________________________________ 167,919 261,161
BEFE Net assets 1,931,240 1,907,983
ERR G Capital and reserves 26(a)
%N Share capital 97,920 97,920
& Reserves 1,295,535 1,263,216
BIF & Retained profits 537,785 546,847
ST Total equity 1,931,240 1,907,983

262 A& (M) B2 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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32 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE HOLDING

33

COMPANY

At 31 December 2023, the immediate parent and ultimate
controlling party of the Group are Waverley Star Limited
and GWE respectively, which are incorporated in BVI and

the Republic of China respectively.

GWE, which is listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange,
produces consolidated financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the
Republic of China, which are available for public use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2023 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following

which may be relevant to the Group.

ETHE#HHEE
FIRHE AR
Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

BFR &S ERIE 15 (BRTA)

BB EHRKEZS
BREDBER B Z NG ([~ F=—FFEETE))

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:

—ZT-mFE-HF—H

1 January 2024

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (“2020 amendments”)

BB S EHERIE 15 (BRI A)

B H#ER 2

WERE B R A ([ —F = —FEE72))

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:

—ET-NF—F—H

1 January 2024

Non-current liabilities with covenants (2022 amendments”)
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33 CHEfHARRERE =4 33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

T A=t HIEEEARR NEW STANDARDS AND
CHIRE THE S (W 2=k ¥ INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
W8 () YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2023 (continued)

ETIRHAHEE
FBNEHHEER
Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

BB B S RIS 658 (IEFTA) » HE - BERMEEFHHERE —ZE-FE—-HA—H

Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024

REFHERIETIR (BRI - HemEX KRB BHEERIETR  £HTA : —EMNE—-HA—H
wE - RERHE L

Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: 1 January 2024

Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements

BIRR @ st ERIE 2155 (BRTA) - BEXEFB)ayZ & - hS Af R —ZE-HF—A—H

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates: Lack of 1 January 2025
exchangeability

AEEFFHZEEREERYIZER The Group is in the process of making an assessment of

HRBEHEKNTE - ESASEE R what the impact of these developments is expected to be

1SER A SR N A Pl g 47 5 B 75 in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded

MTENERNFENLER - that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

264 K& (M) BSRAF DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Five Years Financial Summary

BE+-A=1+-RALEE

For the year ended 31 December

—EC-= —E_C 2% CZE-TF —THE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

BERANRRKBET) Turnover (RMB million) 6,419 6,195 9,350 9,279 8,035

ERAREEER) Gross profit (RMVB million) 663 681 819 1,026 982

(%) Gross profit margin (%) 103 11.0 8.8 111 12.2
FERA/ (1) Profit/(loss) for the year

(AR¥BET) (RMB million) 75 122 200 304 206

R/ (5) 2 (%) Net profit/(loss) margin (%) 117 1.98 2.14 3.27 256

ADTEE AEEER,/ (B518) Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of

(ARBERET) the Company (RMB million) 47 92 155 203 134
SREMN/ (E#) Earnings/(loss) per share

—ER(ARET) - basic (RMB) 0.05 0.09 0.15 0.20 0.13

S ION o - diluted (RMB) 0.05 0.09 0.15 0.20 0.13

W+=ZA=+-8
At 31 December

ZEC=fF —T--fF —Z--F C—Z-TF —T-HE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

AREEER AREBET AREBEERT ARKBET AREKBER

RMB million RMB million RMB million  RMB million  RMB million

BEFE Net assets 2,381 2,323 2,270 2,272 2,012

BERE Total assets 3,784 3,571 3,441 4,329 4,048

s Non-controlling interest 266 252 272 431 377

BfE%E Total liabilities 1,403 1,248 1,172 2,057 2,035

268  Am&® (M) B2 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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